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THE COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT
| - SEP 12 2004,

-IN RE: JUDGE ERNEST B. MURPHY

COMPLAINT NOS. 2006-9 & 2006-30

NOTICE OF ANTICIPATE_D EVIDENCE AND
PROPOSED STANDARDS OF LAW

1. Now comes the Commission on Judicial Conduct, in the above-captioned matter,
and respectfully states that it has issued formal charges against Judge Emest B.
Murphy that allege that he violated the following Canons of the Code of Judicial

Conduct:

a.

-

CANON 1A: FAILURE TO MAINTAIN AND OBSERVE HIGH |
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

CANON2: FAILURE TO AVOID IMPROPRIETY AND THE
APPEARANCE OF IMPROPRIETY

CANON 2A: FAILURE TO ACT IN A MANNER THAT PROMOTES
PUBLIC CONFIDENCE IN THE INTEGRITY AND
IMPARTIALITY OF THE JUDICIARY

‘CANON 2B: LENDING THE PRESTIGE OF JUDICIAL OFFICE TO

ADVANCE HIS OWN PRIVATE INTERESTS

" CANON 4A(1): FAILURE TO CONDUCT EXTRA-JUDICIAL

ACTIVITIES SO THAT THEY DO NOT CAST
DOUBT ON THE JUDGE’S CAPACITY TO ACT
IMPARTIALLY AS A JUDGE

CANON 4D(1): FAILURE TO REFRAIN FROM FINANCIAL
. AND BUSINESS DEALINGS THAT TEND TO
REFLECT ADVERSELY ON HIS
IMPARTIALITY, INTERFERE WITH HIS
JUDICIAL POSITION OR THAT MAY BE
REASONABLE PERCEIVED TO EXPLOIT HIS
JUDICIAL POSITION

2. The Commission anticipates that it will present the following evidence in support
of the Formal Charges:

a.

On June 3, 2002, Judge Murphy filed a libel suit against the Boston



~ Herald and its erhployees David Wedge, Jules Crittenden, Margery Eagan
and David Weber in Suffolk-Superior Court. :

. Sometime between September, 2003 and Spring, 2004, Judge Murphy and
. Patrick Purcell had a “principal to principal” meeting to discuss settlement
" of the libel suit. This meeting took place with the knowledge of the
parties’ attorneys (Howard Cooper and M. Robert Dushman) and was
orchestrated through email correspondence between the attorneys before it
took place. ’ '

. This meeting did not progress into active settlement discussions. Patrick
Purcell is expected to testify that Judge Murphy did most of the talking
during this meeting and said that “the Herald would not prevail in the
lawsuit and the case was going to take down the paper.” Patrick Purcell is
expected to testify that there was no agreement after this meeting that he
and Judge Murphy would continue to have ongoing direct contacts without
the authorization of counsel. ‘ ' -

. There was a secorid meeting between Judge Murphy and Patrick Purcell
- “sornetime before trial” of the libel suit. The meeting took place between
‘August, 2004 and January, 2005. This meeting was also orchestrated with -
the knowledge and participation of the parties’ lawyers. Patrick Purcell is
expected to testify that Judge Murphy, once again, did most of the talking

- during this meeting. Patrick Purcell is also expected to testify that there
was no agreement after this meeting that he and Judge Murphy would
continue to have ongoing direct contacts without the authorization of -
counsel. ' ' '

. The libel suit filed by Judge Mﬁrphy went to trial and, on February 18,
2005, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Judge Murphy against the
Boston Herald and David Wedge for $2,090,000. ' '

Judge Murphy used official Superior Court letterhead to handwrite a letter
addressed to Patrick J. Purcell, Publisher of the Boston Herald, dated
February 20, 2005 (two days after the jury verdict), regarding his personal
litigation. '

. Judge Murphy used official Supeﬁor Court letterhead to handwrite a post-
script to the letter dated February 19, 2005, regarding his personal
litigation. -

. Judge Murphy enclosed the letter dated February 20, 2005 and its post-
script, dated February 19, 2005, in a Superior Court envelope on which he
handwrote “Murphy, J.” above the printed return address. Judge Murphy
mailed this envelope to Patrick Purcell at the Boston Herald. :



i. Patrick Purcell is expected to testify that he did not respond to this letter
from Judge Murphy and that there was no authorization from counsel for
- this communication.

i On March 18, 2005, an article appeared in the Boston Globe that
referenced Judge Murphy’s libel judgment and connected it to efforts to
cut costs at the Boston Herald.

k. Judge Murphy wrote another letter to Patrick J. Purcell regarding his

' personal litigation, dated March 18, 2005. This letter was written on plain
stationiery but was enclosed in an official court stationery envelope. On
this envelope,; Judge Murphy crossed out “Walter F. Timilty, Clerk of
Courts” and handwrote “Murphy, J. Superior Court” above the Norfolk
County Court return address.. Judge Murphy mailed this letter directly to
Patrick Purcell at the Boston Herald. This letter appeared to reference the
March 18, 2005 article in the Boston Globe.

1. On December 20, 2005, copies of Judge Murphy’s letter dated, February
20, 2005, postscript dated February 19, 2005, and letter dated, March 18, -
2005, were filed in Suffolk Superior Court in support of a motion by the
defendants in Ernest J. Murphy v. Boston Herald, Inc. and David Wedge
et al. to vacate the judgment and dismiss the complaint.

m. On December 21, 2005, the Boston Herald published excerpts from these
letters in the print edition of the Boston Herald and published the entire
letters on their website.

3. In order to properly address the respondent’s request for specificity, the
Commission proposes that the hearing officer adopt the following legal standards
in determining what evidence is relevant to the question of whether Judge Ernest
B. Murphy has violated the Massachusetts Code of Judicial Conduct: -

o It is not relevant to the question of whether Judge Murphy violated any of
the Canons of the Massachusetts Code of Judicial Conduct that Patrick
Purcell knew Ernest B. Murphy was a judge at the time Judge Murphy
sent the letters at issue.

In the case, In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, the Nevada Supreme
Court relied heavily on a decision of the Alaska Supreme Court' for

! Canon 2 of the Alaska Code of Judicial Conduct is very similar to the Massachusetts Code and reads, in
part, “Canon 2. A Judge Shall Avoid Impropriety and the Appearance of Impropriety in All of the Judge's
Activities. 2A. In all activities, a judge shall exhibit respect for the rule of law, comply with the law, avoid
impropriety and the appearance of impropriety, and act in a manner that promotes public confidence in the
integrity and the impartiality of the judiciary. 2B. A judge shall not allow family, social, political, or other
relationships to influence the judge's judicial conduct or judgment. A judge shall not use or lend the
prestige of judicial office to advance the private interests of the judge or others. A judge shall not
knowingly convey or permit others to convey the impression that anyone is in a special position to



) _gﬁidanqe in deciding if é judge violated Canon 2B of the Nevadé Code of
Judicial Conduct (NCJC) by sending letters on judicial stationery to
persons who already knew he was a judge. The Nevada Supreme Court .
wrote: '

“An Alaska Supreme Court justice sent three letters on judicial
chambers stationery to opposing counsel regarding a personal
matter. The court held that it was irrelevant that the ‘intended
recipients of the letters were not influenced in facts by the
chambers stationery.” The court noted that using judicial
stationery for personal reasons would likely cause the publicto =
believe that the justice is ‘unable to distinguish his judicial
activities from his personal ones. This failure to maintain separate
interests could lead a reasonable person to believe that petitioner’s
judicial decision- making ability similarly might be flawed.”

In interpreting the judicial canons, we adopt the objective
_ reasonable person standard. In applying that standard, we
- conclude that there was clear and convincing evidence produced at
the evidentiary hearing that an objective reasonable person could
conclude Judge Mosley wrote letters on his judicial letterhead to
his son’s school in an attempt to gain personal advantage in
- violation of NCJC Canon 2B.” |

The California Commission on Judicial Conduct (CCIC) has, similarly,
ruled that it is irrelevant whether the recipient of a letter on judicial
stationery already knew that the person sending it was a judge. In the
Matter Concerning Judge Joseph E. Dil.oreto, California Commission on
. Judicial Performance, June 13,2006 The CCJC wrote, “The propriety of
using judicial stationery in personal disputes does not turn on whether or
not the recipient already knows the author is a judge. Rather, the use of
judicial stationery is prohibited under the canons in question because, in
such circumstances, such use involved lending the prestige of office or the

judicial title to advance personal or pecuniary interests.”

b. To the extent it can be argued that the letters at issue in this case were
" communications sent as part of confidential settlement discussions
between litigants, such an argument is irrelevant to the question of

influence the judge. A judge shall not testify voluntarily as a character witness, except that a judge may
testify as a character witness in a criminal proceeding if the judge or a member of the judge's family is a
victim of the offense or if the defendant is a member of the judge's family.” ’

2 Canon 2B of the NCJC provides, in part, “A judge shall not allow family, social, political or other
relationships to influence the judge’s judicial conduct or judgment. A judge shall not lend the prestige of
judicial office to advance the private interests of the judge or others; nor shall a judge convey or permit
others to convey the impression that they are in a special position to influence the judge.”

3 In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, 102 P.3d 555, Nevada Supreme Court (May 17, 2001), quoting
Inquiry Concering a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1336 (Alaska 1991).




* whether Judge Murphy violated any of the Canons of the Massachusetts
Code of Judicial Conduct.

It is not an element of any of the Canons with which Judge Murphy is
charged that his conduct become known to the public or become subject to
media scrutiny or attention. Rather, Judge Murphy’s actions must be
evaluated from the perspective of the “hypothetical reasonable objective
person.”

In the Alaska case, Inquiry Concerning a Judge, the Alaska Supreme
Court addressed to what extent the judge’s intent matters when evaluating
whether he or she has committed misconduct, “We decide whether the
[judge] failed to use reasonable care to prevent a [hypothetical] reasonably
objective individual from believing that an impropriety was afoot.” '

“The United States Supreme Court, in interpreting a section of the federal
judicial code, has held that a judge is not to be evaluated by a subjective
standard, but by the standard of an objective reasonable person, because
‘people who have not served on the bench are often all too willing to
indulge suspicions and doubts concerning the integrity of judges.””

" ¢. Though it is not a threshold requirement, it is relevant for the hearing
off jcer to consider evidence that Judge Murphy failed to exercise
“reasonable precautions” when he chose to send the letters at issue to the
Publisher of the Boston Herald and that this conduct contributed to and
aggravated his violations of the Canons with which he is charged.

The Commentary to Rule 2A of the Massachusetts Code of Judicial
Conduct states, “A judge must expect to be the subject of constant public
scrutiny. A judge must therefore accept restrictions on the judge’s
conduct that might be v1ewed as burdensome by the ordinary citizen.”

In Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 532 P.2d 716 (1990), the Alaska Supreme
Court cited a decision of the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court (SJC)
and held, “The duty to avoid creating the appearance of impropriety is one
of taking ‘reasonable precautions’ to avoid having a negative effect on the
confidence of the thinking public in the administration of justice. b '

In the Massachusetts case, In the Matter of Morrissey, 366 Mass. 11
(1974), the SIC held that a “careless disregard of the requirement that a
judge’s conduct be such as to avoid even the appearance of impropriety”

4 Inquiry Concering a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1340 (Alaska 1991).
'S In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, 102 P.3d 555, Nevada Supreme Court (May 17, 2001), quoting
Llheberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp., 486 U.S. 847, 864-65 (1988).

Inquiry Concernmg a Judge, 532 P.2d 716 (1990}, quoting In the Matter of Bonin, 375 Mass. 680 (1978).




. was sufficient to support a finding of misconduct. In the Matter of
Morrissey, 366 Mass. 11, 16 (1974). .

4. The Commission will present evidence that the above conduct was, in light of the
above legal standards, a violation of Canons 1, 2, 2A, 2B, 4A(1) and 4D(1)
because of the overall content of the February 20, 2005 letter and postscript,
because it was sent by Judge Murphy to the opposing side in a legal dispute in
which Judge Murphy was personally involved, because the letter and post-script
were on official Supenor Court letterhead, and because the envelope the letter and
post-script were sent in'was a Superior Court envelope.

5. The Commlssmn will present evidence that Judge Murphy s March 18, 2005
letter further violates Canons 1, 2, 2A, 2B, 4A(1) and 4D(1) becatise of the overall
content of the letter, because it was sent by Judge Murphy to the opposing side in
~ a legal dispute in which Judge Murphy was personally involved, and because it
was mailed to Patrick Purcell using an official Superior Court envelope on Wthh
Judge Murphy handwrote “Murphy, J.” above the printed return address

6. The Commission anticipates that-it will present evidence and make arguments that
the following portions of the letters at issue, in context of events taking place at
that time, and in light of the applicable standards of law, constltuted violations of
the above indicated Canons:

‘ a.  With respect to the February 20, 2005 letter:
1. Judge Murphy wrote, “I frust you continue (as do I) to honor the
privacy of our personal communications in the nature of what is

generically referred to as ‘settlement discussions’ in my business.”

1. Judge Murphy wrote, “As you no doubt clearly recollect, ole Mike

Ditka here warned you against playing ‘the Team from Chicago’ in o

 this particular SuperBowl.”

it Judge Murphy wrote, “The reason I write now is that I think you a
smart and honorable guy. And since every single thing I told you
about what was going to happen in this case thusfar, has-happened,
maybe, just maybe, I have some credibility with you at this point.”

iv. Judge Murphy then wrote, “I’d like to meet you at the Union Club
on Monday, March 7. (No magic to the date.) (But it needs to be
early in that week.) Here’s what will be the price of that meeting.
You will have one person with you at the meeting. I suggest, but
do not insist, that such a person be a highly honorable and
sophisticated lawyer from your insurer. Under NO circumstances
should you involve Brown, Rudnick in this meeting. Or notify that
firm that such a meetmg is to take place. Iwill have my attorney



V1.

Vii.

Vil

ix.

X1.

(either Owen Todd or Howard Cooper) at the meeting. The
meeting will be AB-SO-LUTE-LY confidential and ‘off the
record,” between four honorable men. You will bring to that
meeting a cashier’s check, payable to me, in the sum of
$3,260,000. No check, no meeting. You will give me that check
and I shall put it in niy pocket.” :

In the conclusion to his post-script, Judge Murphy wrote, “I am _
simply trying to exit this matter NOW, to my maximum advantage,
and what I believe, Pat, is yours as well. It would be a mistake,
Pat, to show this letter to anyone other than the gentleman whose
authorized signature will be affixed to the check in question. In
fact, a BIG mistake. Please do not make that mistake.”

This letter and post-3cript were sent by Judge Murphy directly to
Patrick Purcell two days after the jury in his libel suit returned a

verdict in his favor against the Boston Herald and Dav1d Wedge

for $2,090,000.

Judge Murphy’s request that Patrick Purcell bring a check for
$3,260,000 was made at the same time one of Judge Murphy’s
own lawyers, David Rich, was reporting, as quoted in a February

~ 20, 2005 Boston Globe article, that the value of the jury verdict,

with interest (accrumg at an annual rate of 12%), was $2,700,000.

One of Judge Murphy’s lawyers in his libel suit, Attorney Howard
Cooper wrote a letter, dated October 19, 2005, which stated that
the judgment stood at $2.9 million and “interest continues to
accumulate at approximately $27,000 per month.”

When the Boston Herald lost its appeal and paid the judgment on
the jury verdict, they paid Judge Murphy $3.4 million. Judge
Murphy’s lawyer, David Rich, was quoted in an article in the
Boston Globe on June 12, 2007. He said that the $3.4 million
reflected the $2.01 verdict, plus $1.4 million in interest.

“Brown Rudnick” was the law firm that defended the Boston
Herald in the libel suit brought by Judge Murphy.

As of February 20, 2005, all communication or discussion of

“settlement” between Patrick Purcell and Judge Murphy had been

orchestrated by, and with the knowledge of, the Boston Herald’s

lawyers at Brown Rudnick.



b. CANON 1

i. The commentary to Canon 1 reads, “[Judges] must comply with
the law, including the provisions of this Code. Public confidence
in the impartiality of the judiciary is maintained by adherence of

. each judge to this responsibility. ..violation of this Code diminishes

- public confidence in the judiciary and thereby does i 1n]ury to the
system of government under law.”

ii. In context of events at the time, the above portions of Judge
Murphy’s February 20, 2005 letter, which encourage Patrick
Purcell not to appeal the jury verdict in a civil lawsuit in which
Judge Murphy was personally involved as the Plaintiff, which
appear to give an opinion regarding the Boston Herald’s charices of
success on appeal, and which appear to demand a premium on the
jury verdict served to diminish public confidence in the
impartiality of the judiciary in violation of Canon 1.

iii. The above excerpts also constitute violations of other Canons of
the Code of Judicial Conduct, which necessarily implicates a
further violation of Canon 1 of the Massachusetts Code of Judicial
Conduct. '

c. CANON2, 2A.2B

i. The commentary to Canon 2A states, “A judge must avoid all
impropriety or the appearance of impropriety.” (emphasis added).
The Commentary further states, “The test for imposition of
sanction for violation of this Canon is whether the conduct would
create in reasonable minds a perception that the judge’s ability to
carry out judicial responsibilities with integrity, 1mpart1a11ty and
competence is impaired.”

ii. The use of judicial letterhead in a judge’s personal business is
specifically proscribed in the Commentary to Canon 2B: “Judicial
letterhead and the judicial title must not be used in conducting a
judge’ s personal business.”

iii. The above portions of Judge Murphy’s February 20 letter created
an “appearance of impropriety” in violation of Canon 2A.

iv. This conduct also constituted a “failure to act in a manner that
promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the
judiciary” in violation of Canon 2A and “len[t] the prestige of
judicial office for the advancement of the private interests of the
judge” in violation of Canon 2B..




v. The tenor of the above-cited portions of Judge Murphy’s February
20 letter is an effort to persuade Mr. Purcell that it is in “[his]
distinct business interest” to pay Judge Murphy $3.26 million
rather than appeal the jury verdict. Judge Murphy’s use of official
judicial stationery to express a legal opinion and apply pressure to
drop an appeal in the context of his own personal civil suit against

_the Boston Herald “len[t] the prestige of judicial office for the
advancement of the private interests of the judge.”

vi. Judge Murphy’s demand on Superior Court Judicial letterhead for
approximately $1.2 million dollars more than the jury in his libel
suit had awarded just two days prior would create “in reasonable
minds a perception that the judge’s ability to carry out judicial
responsibilities with integrity; impartiality and competence is -
impaired” in violation of Canon 2A)

vii. Judge Murphy’s statement, “As you no doubt clearly recollect, ole
Mike Ditka here warned you against playing ‘the Team from
Chicago’ in this particular SuperBowl,” would violate Canon 2A
by creating “in reasonable minds a perception that the judge’s
ability to carry out judicial responsibilities with integrity,
impartiality and competence is impaired.” This statement, in
context, suggests that Judge Murphy has a special insight into the
court system and a special influence over it. This statement would
also violate Canon 2B as this statement, written on judicial
stationery, “len[t] the prestige of judicial office for the
advancement of the private interests of the judge” in violation of
Canon 2B.

viti. Judge Murphy’s written demand: “Under NO circumstances
should you involve Brown, Rudnick in this meeting. Or notify that
firm that such a meeting is to take place” would further violate
Canon 2A, by creating “in reasonable minds a perception that the
judge’s ability to carry out judicial responsibilities with integrity,
impartiality and competence is impaired.”

ix. Judge Murphy’s written statement in his post-script, “It would be a
mistake, Pat, to show this letter to anyone other than the gentleman
whose authorized signature will be affixed to the check in

7 Where a Judge “is ‘unable to distinguish his judicial activities from his personal ones. This failure to
maintain separate interests could lead a reasonable person to believe that petitioner’s judicial decision-
making ability similarly might be flawed.”” In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, 102 P.3d 555, Nevada
Supreme Court (May 17, 2001), quoting Inquiry Concering a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1336 (Alaska 1991).




. question. In fact, a BIG mistake. Please do not make that
mistake” would also further violate Canon 2A.

This statement had an argnably threatening tone and, on official
judicial stationery, “lend[s] the prestige of judicial office for the
advancement of the private interests of the judge,” suggesting the
possibility that the Emnest Murphy might use his role as a judge to
harm the Boston Herald in further violation of Canon 2B.

x. Judge Murphy’s own statements in this letter suggest that there
was not an explicit agreement for continuing confidential
settlement discussions. Judge Murphy’s opening statement would -
be unnecessary in the presence of an explicit agreement for

- continuing confidential settlement discussions, “I trust you
= continue {as do I) to honor the privacy of our personal
communications in the nature of what is generally referred to as
‘settlement discussions’ in' my business.”- o

As such, Judge Murphy’s decision to send a letter containing the
above statements to the publisher of a major newspaper constituted
a “careless disregard of the requirement that a judge’s conduct be
such as to avoid even the appearance of impropriety” in violation
of Canon 2. Judge Murphy failed in his duty to “[take] ‘reasonable
precautions to avoid having a negative effect on the confidence of
the thinking public in the administration of justice.””®

d. CANON 4A(1),4D(1)

1. The content of this letter strongly and very colorfully expresses
Judge Murphy’s opinion regarding the Boston Herald’s chances on
appeal in a case in which Judge Muiphy was personally involved
as the plaintiff. As such this letter involved Judge Murphy’s
“extrajudicial activities.” _

Judge Murphy used official court stationery to write and send the
letter containing the above statements to Patrick Purcell. These
statements express 2 legal opinion and appear to be an attempt to
convince Mr. Purcell that his appeal cannot succeed. This letter
advised Mr. Purcell, “I am simply trying to exit this matter NOW,
to my maximum advantage, and what I believe, Pat, is yours as
well.” '

As such, by sending this letter, Judge Murphy failed fo conduct his
“extrajudicial activities so that they do not . . .cast doubt on [his]
capacity to act impartially as a judge” in violation of Canon 4A(1).

® Inquiry Cbncerning a Judge, 532 P.2d 716 (1990), quoting In the Matter of Bonin, 375 Mass. 680 (1978).
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ii. The content of this letter strongly expresses Judge Murphy’s legal
opinion regarding the Boston Herald’s chances on appeal in a case
in which Judge Murphy was personally involved as the plaintiff.

" As such, this letter involved Judge Murphy’s “extrajudicial
activities.” - '

Judge Murphy used official court stationery to write and send the
letter containing the above statements to Patrick Purcell. These
statements express.a legal opinion and appear to be an attempt to
convince Mr. Purcell that his appeal cannot succeed.

As such, by sending this letter on official judicial stationery, Judge
Murphy failed to “refrain from™financial and business dealings that
tend to reflect adversely on the judge’s impartiality . . .[and] that
may reasonably be perceived to exploit the the judge’s judicial
position” in violation of Canon 4D(1).

e. With respect to the March 18, 2005 letter:
1. Judge Mmphy wrote,

“Read the article in the Globe today. Believe me, I take no joy
from your troubles.

I’'m going to, once again, principal to principal, as “settlement

negotiations” — off the record — just between you and me — tell

you something for nothinig which may help you in your decision-
. making. Something for nothing.

And that is . . . you have ZERO chance of reversing my jury
verdict on appeal. Anyone who is counseling you to the contrary .
. .18 WRONG. Not 5% ... ZERO.

AND ... Iwill NEVER, that is as in NEVER, shave a dime from
- what you owe me. ‘

You and/or your insurer want to pay me $331,056 /yr for the next
two or three years while you spend another 500 large tilting at
windmills in the appellate courts . . . be my guest.

You are lucky, Mr. Purcell, that the jury came back at 2 million. I
- was bettingon 5.”

11



f CANON1

i.

il

i,

The commentary to Canon 1 reads, “[Judges] must comply with
the law, including the provisions of this Code. Public confidence
in the impartiality. of the judiciary is maintained by adherence of

- each judge to this responsibility...violation of this Code diminishes

public confidence in the judiciary and thereby does injury to the
system of government under law.”

In context of events at the time, the above portion of Judge
Murphy’s March 18, 2005 letter, which encourages Patrick Purcell
not to appeal the jury verdict in a civil lawsuit in which Judge
Murphy was personally involved as the Plaintiff, and which
appears to strongly and colorfillly communicate J udge Murphy’s.

= opinion regarding the Bostoxn Herald’s chances of success on
“appeal served to diminish public conﬁdence in the impartiality of
the Jud1c1ary in violation of Canon 1.

The above excerpt also'constitutes a violation of other Canons of
the Code of Judicial Conduct, which necessarily implicates a
further violation of Canon 1 of the Massachusetts Code of Judicial
Conduct

g CANON?2,2A,2B

i.

1i.

i,

iv.

Judge Murphy’s use of an official judicial envelope to send this
March 18, 2005 letter is specifically proscribed in the Commentary

- to Canon 2B: “Judicial letterhead and the judicial title must not be

used in conducting a judge’s personal business.”

Moreover the content of this letter, which strongly and very
colorfully expresses Judge Murphy’s opinion regarding the Boston
Herald’s chances on appeal, would create “in reasonable minds a
perception that the judge’s ability to carry out judicial
responsibilities with integrity, impartiality and competence is
impaired” in violation of Canon 2A. This is particularly so given

‘that it was sent in an official judicial envelope.

Judge Murphy’s use of an ofﬁc1a1 Superior Court envelope to send
this letter, which strongly expressed a legal opinion and
encouraged Patrick Purcell to drop his appeal, “len[t] the prestige
of judicial office for the advancement of the private interests of the
judge.”

Judge Murphy’s own statements in \ this letter suggest that there
was not an explicit agreement for continuing confidential

12



settlement discussions. Judge Murphy’s opening statement would
be unnecessary in the presence of an explicit agreement for
continuing confidential settlement discussions, “I’m going to, once

~ again, principal to principal, as ‘settlement negotiations’ — off the
record — just between you and me — tell you something.”

Judge Murphy sent this letter to Patrick Purcell after received no
response from Patrick Purcell to his prior letter of February 20. '

Judge Murphy’s statement, “I will NEVER, that is as in NEVER,
shave a-dime from what you owe me” suggests that,
notwithstanding his attempt to characterize this letter as
“settlement negotiations,” his intent was not to communicate an
“offer to compromise” but to put pressure on Patrick Purcell not to
pursue an appeal at a cost of “$331,056 /yr for the next two or
three years.” o : '

As such, Judge Murphy’s decision to send a letter containing the
above statements to the publisher of a major newspaper constituted
a “careless disregard of the requirement that a judge’s conduct be
such as to avoid even the appearance of impropriety.” Judge
Murphy failed in his duty to “[take] ‘reasonable precautions’ to
avoid having a negative effect on the confidence of the thinking
public in the administration of justice.”’9

h. CANON 4A(1), 4D(1)

i The content of this letter strongly and very colorfully expresses
Judge Murphy’s opinion regarding the Boston Herald’s chances on
appeal in a case in which Judge Murphy was personally involved
as the plaintiff. As such this letter involved Judge Murphy’s
“extrajudicial activities.”

Judge Murphy used official court stationery to send the letter
containing the above statements to Patrick Purcell. These
statements express a legal opinion and appear to be an attempt to
convince Mr. Purcell that his appeal cannot succeed.

As such, by sending this letter, Judge Murphy failed to conduct his
“extrajudicial activities so that they do not . . .cast doubt on [his}
capacity to act impartially as a judge” in violation of Canon 4A(1).

ii. The content of this letter strongly and very colorfully expresses
Judge Murphy’s opinion regarding the Boston Herald’s chances on
appeal in a case in which Judge Murphy was personally involved

? Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 532 P.2d 716 (1990), quoting In the Matter of Bonin, 375 Mass. 680 (1978).
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as the plaintiff. As such this letter 1nvolved J udge Murphy’s
“extrajudicial activities.”

Judge Murphy used official court stationery to send the letter
containing the above statements to Patrick Purcell. These
statements express a legal opinion and appear to be an attempt to
convince Mr. Purcell that his appeal cannot succeed.

As such, by sending this letter in an official judicial envelope,
Judge Murphy failed to “refrain from financial and business
dealings that tend to reflect adversely on the judge’s impartiality . .

.[and] that may reasonably be percéived to exploit the judge’s
judicial position” in violation of Canon 4D(1).

T

7. CONCLUSION .

a. The Commission respectfully requests that the Hearing Officer adopt the
' proposed standards of law. ,

" b. The Commission submits that, if the Hearing Officer does accept the
proposed standards of law for evaluating whether respondent has violated
~ the Canons with which he is charged, this Notice will provide sufficient
specificity to the respondent. -

c. This notice is intended to provide the respondent with a general
framework of the evidence and arguments the Cominission intends to’
present at the formal hearing of this matter.

d. The Commission anticipates, but cannot guarantee, that the evidence and
arguments described in this notice will be presented at the formal hearing
of this matter. This notice is not intended to be an exhaustive description
of all evidence and arguments the Commission will present. -

e. The Commission reserves the right to present additional evidence and
" arguments based on new evidence that comes into its possession and based
on the discovery materials provided by the respondent.

Respectfully Submitted
For the Commission on Judicial Conduct

L ———=

Howard V. Neff, Il
Staff Attorney 9 /17// o1

by:
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Judge, m of Cla:k, Sme of
Nwada Ccmmsnon on Jmhmal Disciplm,
o Nepen
Dec 2, 2004.

o Ba:kgrnnndz ]n a8 Jndmal dnsmphne pmceedmg-,
agafnst a sits distriet colut judge, the Commission - -
on Judjelal Discipline imposed -8 public reptimand -

and & 85,000 fins, and reqmml Judga's attendance

E a!atblcsewm. )

Hnidings: 'I‘be Supremc Cmm. Shearlng, CJ, -
© htld that: -

C- 1 (1) judge "“Pwpéﬂ)' used - His judigial letterhpa_d
-~ for two letters to princlpals at his child's school;

~{2) judge's  conguct in. issuing;” without notice fo

district attomey, own yecognizance (OR) releass of

former employee ‘of ]\lﬂgﬂi friend d:d not violate '
* judicial conduct roles;
(). judge improperly sondicted. * ox " parte

communication with criminal defendant’s sttorney;

(4) judge should have recused himself immediately
_ upon. learning  ‘that - crimina} - dafendant - hag . -
information - relévant to - judge's - child - cuswdyr-
) disputethhhlsfotmcrguimcnd,and s

(5). stitements ‘thar: Conwnission's - Bxecnﬁve

Pirector made i Newspaper srticle were proper.

‘ Aﬁinned in part and reversed inpart

-Maupin, J.,.ﬁled an optmon concurming in part and

dissenting in part, in which - Becker, J, and

Puceinelli, Dlstnct Judge, gitting - by dmigmmon. :

concurred.

JUDICIAL COMMISSION » 916172489508, . £ 202470

T [l] Juilgu &511(2)

Pagel

Rosa.! ﬁledanommonmmﬁngmpmand-.

dissanﬁngmpan.

. Gibbuna,l ﬁled a drsaenung opmmn.

Wcst demm

227%1 1{2) Most Cited Cases

.. Siao_ distriet cowrt -judgd's mndua in nslng his

-Judmallenorheadformlmmtopnmtpalsatm o

child's school, stating that judgs had been swarded - - .
© custody of his and bis former girifdend's child and - -

- asking schoo) o prohibiy former girlfriend from =~ -

- wmtmgchitdatsnhool.v:olamdjuﬁclal eonduet ..
“nils pmh‘bﬂmgawdgofmmlencﬁng the prestigs of

judicial offics to” advanca the, judge's . privats

interesis; - objective . reasomable® persom  could
concludcthe;udgewuwmgtogma -

" personal advantags; éven if piincipals hiad already
‘-hxowmajndgamaﬂlstﬂmmmjudgemdcvm, o
if thi principals did not provides . special. tréatment to

judge. Code of hld.Conduct, Canon 2, subi B. .

) wdges €N

227k11(4) Most Cited Casés

‘Requiring the state distdet conit jndge to attend &

. general ethics couese *for judges, at -his own .
- EXpEnse, Wab Warranied 2 drscnplmﬁrysancnonfor e

judge’s conduct in wsing his. judicial letterhead for

wo letiers to principals. ab his child's school stting
that judge had been awarded custody of his and his’

former gaifriend’s child aad asking school W .
prohibit former girifriend from visiting’ child at

school, n. violation of judicial - conduct - pule
prohbihng 3 judge from lending the prestige .of
indicial office’ 10 "advance the - judge's’ pnvm.

. interests. Cods of Jnd.Conduct, Canon 2, subd. B,

1) Judges e=i1)
227%11(2) Most Cited Cases

- 'When derermining whether 8 judge has violated the
judicial conduct le pmlubmng 8 judge from

B 2005 Thomison/West. No Clalmto Ong U S Govt. Works.
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tmmmmgeorjnmorﬁmmw‘

~ judpe’s privats interests, the fudas is- mot fo bs

evaluated by a sublective standard, but by the

mndarﬂofl»wanobjecnvemsombhpm

would” the- judge's - sonduct.: Code- of -

MCMQMZWB.

‘HW*‘-’"@) L :
227):11(2}thcmdmes -

Suts dishict cowt judpe's conduot in issnmg.
‘without* notics o dishict- - attomey, own
R) r¢leass of - former - enmploycs of - -

ok o -

warrant  for  fhili Wtb" conmply: - With
requirements of plea “in case i which
former émployes was awaiting. sumncing from
another hudgs, ﬂldnotmlmjudmal conducs riles -
Judges to majnisin bigh standands of

- requiring
, mmma mgumcmuplywnhﬁwhw
gublm eclnmtegntymd

. %uggc:s uﬂ.(gvhohadbeenmmdp:mm

}udmary mdprolnhhngmmmmmmmm. - :w Mgmwmj%ghwﬁzg
W etege:dln 'S an
" - gitlend's child, was . reqn%md, undgy judicial

whers it was common practies for distdet jidges'so -
w»mmmpummonnm
mmyshadacqlﬁmedmm

-of issuing OR releases #x’ parte. - of.

. Jud.Cnmhm,Ganon l,2.subd A,3.snbd.Bf7).

. {8]du ‘n“-'ll(fl)
g?klllt(ggMustthdes .

State distict court judge’s condhiet in meeﬁng in]m

- ‘chambers with _sitoimey rcpmsenhng ctiminal
defendant whose sententing: foljowing plea bargain,
had besn assigned to judge and whio was living with
jndge's-former girlfviend, with whom judgs was in

. bitter custody dispute vegarding judge's and former -
ginfriends child, violated judicis) .conduet mle

prohibiting  ex -.parts communications; neither
-sitomiey nor judge notified districy auomney, judgs
and * attorney -disoussed. ments of criminal
* defendatit’s case, is., erminal dofendons’s alleged
cooperation with polics, which would be relevent to
criminal  defendant's semtencing, and . atioimey
intended to gain procedural advantage by cansing -
- judge 10 recuse himself from sentencing if criming}
defendant and his wife testified in child custody .
matter. Codeiof Jud Conduct, CanonB,Subd. 3(7)-

S BT Vew AR BIBAIICRY T FRTE § EIQTIID

- memu
. '.%kll(ﬁchghgde
- Poblic censure  was warmued

-fo!)amgpleabmnhadbeenmwdhpdga BT

‘mmwhomjndgowssinblm -

fomergu]ﬁmﬂ's __-. L
-,Codaof.fud.t:ondwt,eanm S

U hamestgy
- gﬁ??ﬁma‘gﬁm o

custody - disputs
regarding - judge’s- mml

[71Jlldgu,e='49{l) .
. 227%45(1) Mosi Cited Cascs -~

-Smdisuictcom)ndgu,towhmsenuncmgm'.-
;plubmludbmmmgnedwnhrwpea ‘

who ‘was living with

comhmtmlcsmpﬁringjndgestomaiminhigh

~ -*standards of conduet; equiring jodges to,um.-,‘: o

pubhc ‘confidence in intogrity .and impartislity of -

. Judiciary, apd . ~prohibiting judges ‘from. allowing

relationships to_influence judicial judgment, to -

“yeonss himself - immediatély upon learning that
- grimingl“ dofndont and his wifs hed informstion .
. nlcvanttoﬂnamtodycaso,mhn&mwmn for .

iy of child cugisdy hesting st Which crioloa)

defendant and defeniaat's wife would tstfy. m s

ofJ’nd.Conduct, Canons 1, 2,subds. A,B

1] Jndgu Wll@)
227k11(4) Most Cited Cascs

Fine of $5,000 was warranted as.dxsmplmmy“.

ssnction for -judge's fallwe to rvecuse. himself

. immediately, in violation ‘of judicial conduct nules
: "mcmiring udges to maintaln high standards of

rcqumng judges to promote- public

. conﬁdence in integrity and fmpartiality of Jndmary o

and prohibiting judges from allowing rclatlonﬂnps
1o influence judigial jndgment, as soon as judge .

) leamcd that criminal -defendant, whose semcncing

@ 2005 'l’homsonlWest No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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" following plea bargaip had beén assipaed in Jodgs, -
hadg:fngmﬁon relevant ‘1o judge’s ¢hild eustody -

102P34 555 -
 (Citeas: 102 PISE)

.- dispate with judge's former gidfriend, with whom
criminal

defonddamt " was livisg. -~Code of - - - . SR
1 |7 - Befora the Cowt EnBanc: [FN1) . . . .

' Jud.Conduct, Canons 1,2, subds. A, B. . -

9] dudges €137
Izzlmﬂ(%'uwcs&cacm .

State disirict court judge did not bave dvo procéss - .
Tight 10 present:expert testimony, at Corimissionon . -

" Judicial- Disclpline’s ‘disciplinary: hearing; voganding

- helher jidgshod, violsted Judical condus rley <

| even .'ifmtgso hiearing - prosented ~lisues of first

* iropression; Commission detuendined it did not need |
eXpert assistance,. and sxpert's. testimony: could well

| ‘have been cimmlative becanse” both--afdes hed

" elicited from winesses opinions ‘on judicial ethles. -
USCA. Const.Amend. 14; Wests NRSA: Const.” -

At 1, & Wests NRBA 50275, -

0 Evidense €508

- "The goal of expert testimony s to provide 6 ter

‘157508 Most Cited Cases
of fatt & resource for ssceitaining truth iy rslovant

‘areas ‘ontside the ken of -ordinary lalty. Wes's
'NRSAS0275." . - . o

(1]l ESRED -

227k1)(5.1) Most Cited Cases -

Statements that Executive Director of Commission
on sudicial Discipline made in newspaper article,
that evory state has a judicial discipline:
-commission, that constitutionality of Neveds's
“commission-had been upheld by the court, and that
- Executive Director did ot know. of sny judicial
discipline . commission ~ that -had - been held -
nconstivutional, were  pennissible  statements
- clarifying  procedural  aspetts of  disciplinary

proceedings. . L
*557 Domini¢ P. Gentile, Ltd,, and Donvnic P.

Gentile, Las Vegas; ‘Neil G. Galaz & As_soq(ates o
and Neil G. Galatz, Las Vegas; Thomas F. Pitaro,

Las Vegas, for Appellant.

David F. Samowski, Executive Director, Nevgda
Commission on Judicial Discipline, Carson City;

Sinai Schroeder Mooney Boetsch Bradley & Pace. -

and Mary E. Boetsch, Reno, for Respondont.

~ JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 916172485938

'-'r‘:Hoiioraﬁlo;;Michsa‘l L. Doighs~ Justice,” -

- N0.3%8. po4
Paged of 16

Pagsd .

Georgesow Thompson. & Angavin, Chid, md
Harold B.. Thompson, Reno, for Amicos Curias -
m. - T

FNL. The Honorable: AndrewJ, Puctinelli; -
Yudgo of the Fourth Judicial Distict Court,
Was desigrated. by the Governor o sit in -
- plice of the Honorable- Myron' E. Léavit,
Justios: Nev. Const. arh.. 6, -§ -4, ‘The

", - dift ot participata:in the decision of this

.. oemiow -
SHRARING,€J. - &

© 08 May 22, 2000, & épects] rosesisor. for the -
~ ‘Nevads™ Cominission "on - Judicial - Diseiplinia (tha :
" Commission) filed chearges’ against %558 the

Honorable Donald-M. Mosley, Distrie Jadgs for -
tho. Eighth Judicial District. Court, The ‘complaint . . -

- contained thie following allegations:: - o
' Count’), ithat Judge Mosley violated Nevada Cods . -

of Judicial Conduet (NCIC) Canon 2B fn August -
1999 by writing o letter on offieisl -judicial

. letterhead to tha prineipal at his son's sehool; - .-

- -Count I, thst fudge Moaley violated NGIC Conon' -
- 2B i’ Pebmary 1998 by writing a lefter on official

judicial. Ietterhead to the principal at bis. son's

 school;: . _
- Cowt I, that -Judge Modley viokted NCIC -

Canons 1, 2 2A, 28 and 3B(7) In August 1908 by

-tngaging in an ex parte conversation with his friend,

Barbars- Orcutt, regarding the arrest and reiéase of
Robert D'Amore; ’ :

‘Count IV, thar Judge Mosley violated NOJC

Canons 1,2, 2A and 2B in August 1999 by ordering
the release of Robert D'Amore on his own
tecognizance (OR), without notifying the distics

’ ‘sttorney’s -office,. after the police amested D'Amore

on a2 bench ‘warrant issved by a different district”

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim 1o Orig. ULS. Govt Works.
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" MoLanghiin had - ostifiod in - Jodgs Modley's - .

. Coit

. Ganons 1, 2, 2A and
from i

Bt R rdandit o B FT L L 2 T R

 102P3d355
T 102P335ss

(Cite ss: 12 P35S . -

 Comt'V, that Judgs Maaley viokeed NCIC Cimon
~ 3B(7) by engaging “ip' an’ oX.-pants felephone- -
.* conversation With" Cathering Woolf, an " altomey -
fepresenting’ Joseph MELaughlin- in & criminal case
.. thak-was assigned o' Judge Mosley's chambrs for. -

Count X.I' that Jndg’ Mosley violsied NCIC Canon
i eyl
VIL lat. Jodgo Mésley viohted NCIC

) = inm“ .
e oy % P

(14

Canon 3B(7) in August 1997 by part ing i 8
tx: pasis conversation with Woolf, MeLanphlin and -
Mclanghlin'swife; "-:, - -~ ...

MeLaughlin's -criminal case unti)-éfter Mis. .

Connt IX, ﬂm;fndga' Moneywomnmo
Canons 1, 2° and -2B Dby communicating with

- MecLaughlin's  wife . regarding  MeLaughlin's: . -

Comt’ X; ‘thar Jodge Mosey viohied NCIC

. Canons 1,2 and 2B by aisisting McLaughlin's wife
-iﬁpbmining-thbfemofbervehiole;md' :

Coutt XI, that “Judge Mosley 'viblamd.fnch

Canoms 1,.2, 2A and- 2B by continuing -fo " -

- communicats with -McLaughlin -and his. wife. sfter

October 10, 1997, the date: of ‘Judge Monlsy's

- reenal_n the MiLaughln ase, 0. coninoed

commumication creating an appearance that Judge -
. Muosley was'. rewanding the ‘MoLaoghling e
. acsigting bim in his custody dispute. . - -

From Februdry .25, 2002, through February 28,
2002, .the Commission conducied a formal.

evidentisry hearing. “The “Commission -conchuded
that .Judge Mosley had committed the violations
alleged in Counts 1, I, ll, IV, VL VIL,-and VI, -

- and dismissed Counts V, IX, X, and X). The
- © 2005 Thomsow/West. No Chim to Orig. LLS. Govt. Worls.
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.. Count that Judge Mosley violated NCIC . - - :

e by failing'to recise himsolf . f 00 4 -

- . Conomisgion on Judicial Diseipling (CPR) pravides - s
appointed: By. the commission to- " ¢ -

_ that " "[eJonrise) . mgson |
m sém} the ovidence: against the respondent have ths -

- NLJB

- Paged

oot wns 1 e Tidgs Moy

fosley to attend the
athics course at the National Juijeial ...

--coﬂogatuhismw.mmass,ﬁooﬁné, :
. ad 10" veceive . shrorigly . worded for

violaﬂngeth_lqam!es. T e

Rula: 25 of the. Procedumal Riles for the Nevads

of proving,. by eloer wad convincing Jogal .
vt e Sk, o logal .

- conformity with avermms-oftha.fd‘tma Statement

of charges.” In Gelddman v. Nevada Commissiorn on
Jusdicial Discipiing, this court held that *555Adicle
6, Seotion 21 of the Nevada Constitution "does not
zonte] ato .this. cour's de hovo or !
vaview of fatmal determinations’ of the esmmission.

" onappesl.” [¥N2) Thia courtwenk om o say:” -

. FN2. 108 Nev. 251; 267, 330 P2d 107,
- 1718 - (1992), - overnided- on - oiher
grinnds. by Matier of Fins, 116 Nev, 1001,

1022 n. 17, 13'23d 400, 414 - 17 (2000%;

- Se€alsoNov.Const. st 6,§ 21. -

" To ths contrary, the constihxﬂon conﬁnes the
-~ scopo. of sppellate .seview of the comumission’s

- ficwal findings 1o a_determination of whether the -
evidence iy the record as 8 whols provides clear
and convineing support. for the commission’s
findings. The commission’s factyal findings’ may
vot be disregarded on appeal merely becsuss the
gireumstances invelved might also be reasonably
recensiled with contrary findings of face. [FN3)

. Papsoris

. . -
- , .
O Saes ot 40 epe ¢ ¢ OV I s e

—ws coumuer ape,”
. .

.
e o aes s

o s ateas o LY )
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- [12) The -evidense adduced st ibe - heating
- established that Judge Mosley and his ex-ginfriend,

Temy Mosley, who is also referred to 23 Teny

Fighuzz, bave » child named' Michael. Judge
Masley and Figliuzi have been involved in'a bitter
.o -child enstody dispute; In-Juns 1998, Judge Mosley .
co swas awarded enstody of Michaol After that
"+ custody onder was-issued; Judge Mosley bent two = -
-+ Jetters <o Michael's school. Both of those Tetters

wers ‘wiititn on Bighth Judicia) District Coust

- Jotterkead. The letters explained. thar Fadge Mosley - -
* had been awarded eustody of his son, end asked that -
~the sehool prohibit Fiplhuzzl from visiting Michael

_The Jetters were -oddressed to the. principals of .
. Michaels school, Diane Reitz and Frmk Cooper. -
.~ Reitz testified that it -was pan. of the . school's

" procedurs o have a- letter along with a custody
‘order placed i the student’s ‘fils. Reitz and Cooper

01242007 © 11:5  JDICIAL COMMISSION.» 916172485938 .
‘ o T Page6of16
o wePass Pages
N l02P3dsEs |
(Cito as: 10230 565)
- N3 10BNev.at267, B30P2dm118. . specifically address tha use of judicial letrerhead for.
: Sl - personal purposcs, the commentary to NCIC Canon
Counts I & IT: Use of judlicial Ieterhead - 2B provides some guidapee: . . .
o Tndges shonld distinguish .between proper and

fnproper nse of the prestige of office in al of .
© their- activities,” -For cxampls, it would be -

improper for-a judge to alluds to his. or her

judgaship to pain 8 personal advaniage such as

doferential trestment when stopped by a polfes -

- officer for 'z wnaffic offense. Similarly, judicia)
*. leterhead must niot be wsed for conductn

*}”dgg“pm] business.—  -ociomdl s

A judps: must avoid ‘lending the prestigs of
Judicial office for she advancement of thie private - -
" interesls of othiers, For example; a judgo must not -

vse thé judge's judicial position 0 gain advanitags
m _l;ivn sult involving a wember of the judge’s

Jodgo. Moaley assers that he'did ot violate NGJQ

Canon 2B becanse both school pringipals knew thas

be was-8 district court judge before he sent letters o, -

thom 4n judical letterhead. -Judge Mosley also
contends thit because principals Cooper and ‘Rettz
- did oot provide special trestment 10 Judge’ Masley,

_* testified that they wera not influenced by the fact :
- that Judge Mosley was a-diswict court judgs and - he was not. advancing his. position by. using his
. that they knew, befors receiving: the letters; that hs - Judicial letrerhead, - L _
wagajudgs, . - X 4 . I : S :
S C T *5£0° [3). The Utiited States Supreme Comt. in
- The Cornmission found thas Judge Mosley violated Interpreting. a section of the federal judicial code, - -
NGJC Comon 2B. For Counts I and II; the hos-held that 2 judge is not fo be. evaluated by a
- Commission ordered Judge Mosley to attend the subjective . standerd, but by tha. standard of an
- first avallable general ethics course st ths National objectiva reasonable person, because - "people who
Judicial College at his.ovin expense. v have not served on the bench are often all too
e S willing to indulge suspicions and doubts conetTning
NCIC Canon 2B provides, in pertinentpart: - the inegrity. of judges” - [FN4] In- Inguiry.
A judge shall not allow family, sodig, political or - Loncerning- a Judge an Alaska. Supréme - Court-
other - relationships < to infhacnce the judge’s  justics sent thres letters . on judicial chambers -
© judicial conduct or judgment,. A judge shall not stationery Yo. opposing counsél regarding a personal
lend the prestigs of judicial office to advance the matter. [FN5] The.court held that it was jmelevant
" private imterests of the judge or others; nor shall that the "intended recipients of the letters were not
8. judge -convey or -permit others to convey the influenced in. fact by the chambers stationery.”
impression that they are in a special posifion to - [FN6) The court noted thar using judicial stationery
influence the judge. SRR ' for porsonal reasons would Mkely cause the public
; S to believe that the- justice s "unable to distingyich -
Whether judicial Jetterhead may .b¢- used for his judicial activities from his personal omes, This
personal reasons is an issue of first iinpression for foflure to- maintain separats- interests could lead a
this court,” Whils NCJC Canon 2B dots not reasonable person to believe that petitioner's
© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig, U.8. Govt. Works.
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 avved.” [FNT) . Lo
PV Llfberg- v, Heallf Services
: '-w%,m US. 847, 86465,

- W8S.Cx2104, 10D LBA2ABSS (1988). -

NS, 822 201333, 1336 (Alaika o).
NG 1341, L
SRR e

' ':A‘ m'mwwmg"f et th;nwmm, we adopt
 objective reasonable perton standard, In. app)
thas standard, we concluds: thap thers was clear

aw

ind |

l ! o .i bty !.. I~ﬂtmb. lii ﬁuy..

“hearing that an objective reasonsble person- conld

. .concluds- fliat -Judge Moslsy wrots Jetters on his .

judiclal leiteshead to. his son’s school i an attempt

10 pain & personal advantage in violation of NCIC-

Robert D'Amore. According to Judge MoGroamy,
the ease priginally Involved a byrglary and-a theft,

" which was eventaally nogatiafed 16 sfempied fheft. -
Judge McOroarty - stated " thit the: plea bargsin’ |

required D'Amore to make rostitution. payments of

- 810,000 a month. -Additiprially, Judgs' MeGroarty

. testified that because D'Amrs fafled to smténd soms ~ -
hearings or make payments, he isSusd a° bench . -

wamant for $10,000. At the time Judge McGroatly,” .
‘issued the bench warrant, D'Amore had entered 3

plea but had not been sémtanced. D'Amote was
eventually arrested on the bench Wartant. -

* Barbara Oroutt testfied ther i August 1999, she-

" learned thiat D'Amore, a former employes, had been
arrested on 8 bench warrmt Oreutt stated that shie
called her friend, Judge Mosley, to see if he would

Jssue an OR release bacanse D'Amore’s mother was

concemed about D'Amore's health, and be would . -

notbe a flightrisk, .

o 'bupwprinuwéaaw.corhzdeﬁver‘ymm?désmtp&fonﬁammmmma\oo'sssomoo.f. Mis

' ©2005 Thomson/West. No Claim

-Judge - Mosley

Pt

* hudgs MeGroanty teaified .that' Judgs Mosdey - ..
" contacted him and asked if he would mind if udps
Mosley issued an OR. release for D'Amore, Judge. *

McGroarty testified that be would not have issued

tm OR-eeleass becausd of the presxisting bench |

warant Additionally, however, -Judge

“siated that be did ot Tind Nls comversaion wity .
“upethical. Judps MceGrodrty slsa - ..

testified that Judge Mosley had the poiver to-issus

- . an OR releass without consulting him and thot the. © -
" samo-typo of situatibn had happened onea of twics
- bofore, When Judgs MeGroasty wat"asked whether' -
© 3 judge with equal jurisdicion had ovenidden:ome
" -of his bench warants, he'answered *fnjot of equal.
Péter Dustis, dn iﬁvgt)iigaﬁ\g’ alds- for %Lg .
Veogas Metropolitan Police™ Depaitment, . testified. .
-'.tha!hahadsuvemlcommwithl?;mmbnsﬁn.:

siated that-he recsived a call from Judg

© Mosley in Augiat 199 asking him whist ho kiew
oo ab_qu!Ainme.l&cootdbngwﬁn,bcmldMgc
= o LT . - Moaley fhat D'Amare ™as 4 con man and that .. if
;. Commes- JIF & IV: Ex parte communication and © _ .
© owisreognizance (OR) release ] : :
- [4) Pistrict Jodge John MoGroarty testified that. in
‘1999 he:was assigned 8 cminal case conceming

he was ont he'd probably db{‘t again”

 Todge Masloy stated that in s tentysthres yisrs
- experience ns a district court judge, he never called

4 dwet atomey reparding .an. OR reledse,

- Alexandrs . Chrysanthis, the distres attomey  in
.. DYAmore's *561 case; testificd that she would have ~

.. objected:to issuing D’Amors ‘un OR-release had she
 been contacted. Judge Mosley testifiéd that he had

already miade

. the desision to N?mm the OR releass

- -before fie spoka with Judge MeGroarty, but cafled ‘
“Judge McGroarty a3 a. matter of eomtesy and .
policy. Further; Judge Mosley stated that Judgs -

MpGroarty responded 1o his ~mery about an"OR

roloase, "Mos, its your cill Judge Mosley
- Wtimately called the jall and pranted D'Amore an

OR release,
The Commission found that Judge Mosley violated

NCIC Canons 1, [FN8) 2, [FN9) 2A snd 3B(7) -

(FN10} by ‘engaging in an ex paite cormmmmication -

* “with Orcutt regarding D'Amore’s arrest and release
-and: violgted NCIC Canons 1, 2, 2A sad 2B by

- ordering the release of D'Amore on hiz OR at

Orcutt’s request, withowt notifying the distrier
1o Orig. U.S, Govi. Works. '
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- anomey’s oﬁce. Ths dismplino ﬁm the
~Cum.'.danordmdﬁ)rd)evwhhmm00nntsm
' ..andlvwas'amglywordsdconme" .

. FN8. NCJCCanonlpmvides.mpmnem -
‘pas A Judga should: aﬁﬁﬁm in
. tstablishing, mainkining cnforeing .
- high: stapdards of- conduct, snd shall .
s pmoml)y observe those standsrds so that

- the Integrity . end . independence. of thc
.Mmuymﬂbawmmd." ‘

o . NCIC Canon 2provides, in relevant. ;
- Jurt.
A, Ajudgs sha)l respm and comply vmb'. _

the. Iaw and shall act 3¢ all times in a

: mnwtbatpomomspublfc confidence in - -
~the infegrity and impartiality -of tha'

- judiclary.

- . B A judgs shall not allow family, somal,'. :
-~ political of other ralstionships. to influence .
. "this judge's judicial conduet or judgment, -

. A judge-shdl) not lend the prestige of
" odicisl office. to advanca ths . privats

“interests of the judge or others; nor shall'a.
_ judgs convey or pemnlt ofhiers to convey

.tlmwmpressmnﬂmttheymm aspemal
position to influence the judge.

FNIO. NC.IC Canon 3B(7) pmvme&

A judge shall. accord to every person who' ’
‘has a legal interest in a proceeding, or that -

. person’s lawyer, the right to be heard
-according o Jaw. A judge shall not
initiate, penmt. ‘or consider ex’ parte

" communications, or . consider other.
" ehmmunications mads o the judge outside

~the presonce of the perties concerning 3

pending or impending . procccdmg except .
that

~ (a) Whers c)rcmnstances requlre. ex parte
communications for - scheduling,
administrative purpbses or emergencies
- that do not deal with substantive maters or
ssues on the ments are authorized;
.provided;
() the judge reasonably believes that 1o
party will gain a procedural or -tactical

- JUDICIAL CO'MISSIm > 916172489568 .

Page?’

: (ii)thejudgomakupmmmpm ﬂyto
notify all other parties of the snbstm of

: thcmpmwmmunimﬁonandaﬂmsan _

‘opportumity fo respond.

{b)AJndgpmuyobtmthcadwuofa
- disinterested expert on the kaw applicable
_-'mnmceedﬁ:gbefomthemﬂge f. the
- judge gives_motice to the of the
- person conslred and the subs oftho

. advics, and affords ‘the- partm mmblg‘ .

opportunity o respond-.
(c)AJudsbmymnltwnhm
pmmndwhosoﬁmﬁm!smaidtho

judge - in  camying. out the  judgas N
 adfadicaive m;ponsibnliﬂes or with othor -

“jndges, -

- (d) A Judgs wiay, with the consent of the

parties, confor tely “with- the
_ and theie lawyers’ tnﬁ
seitle mistters pending before the juige: (o)
- A Judge may initiate or consider any ex

parts  communications wh_en express]y _'

mnhmzedbylawtodoso

-> Jndge Mnsley comends that the speclal pmsecntor‘ 4

did ‘not provide clear and convincing evidence that

- ho engagéd in an’ improper ex parte cmnmnnicanon:
. with Orcott, Instead, hc asserts that his ox pats.
* . communications wora &xpressly authorized by law.
According to Judge Mosley, it was commeon ©
practics in the Eiphth Judicial District for o district:
S Judgs o wespond o calls from the publio, police, -
districs attormieys, and dofonse attomoys rogarding
OR relegses. Judge Moslay alto asserts that ymder .
~ the totality of the cucumstances, [FN ll] including
. the common pmchcc in the distriet and the fact that
his conduct -in speakmg to Orentt was nog
considered uneiliical by the other district judges, he
- should not bs found to have violated the coda of
conduct. ’

" FNH, Ses In re Greanberg, 457 Pa. 33
318 A.2d 740, 741 (1974) (noting that it is
the court'’s “duty to consider the totality of

all the circumstances -when determining

questions pertnining to profess)ona) and

© 2005 Thomson/West, No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt, Works.
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'-ofD'Amorc was within the.

7 102P3a38
LRSS
---(Ciuas:lbzP,SdSSS)

Wlﬁsﬁfpﬁm”)

~'Tmyﬁmammb~nofdistridmutpdgas-' :
MRMMfumyymﬁemmm :

- practice ofsomejndm inClark County  was
consistent -
mmmmmw

’ would-get calls from officers, deferise- ~
i Bt jvate dmmmshngon.-

Fomeys ad
relmes,bailrggmonsorballmfor

- defendans in custody:

h'ﬂ%ﬁmdww&mmm- .

’ mrtlmtym -
mmmmmmmm

.mmmwmwmm._

-mmmuhrmmrﬁalappamca,and{tm

. endérstood that such relisf wonld be raviewed st the: .
- first - appearance befors the judge: assigned to tho
‘cass, Sincs all-of ihe. districs attomeys during the .
entire. period acquiesced 40 the policy, it cannot bs -

saldﬂmmeupmgconvcrsmonsmm

the judges. who had been in private pract
cipated in the enstom of etting OR ieleases for

m and others. Also, poli

, ﬂxemmﬂnmlawenforcemmmmﬁcs .

E Tndgs Moslcy’s contact with Orcmt a0d his roloase

Itistmathanbelocalpmhcemlmd

" the Canons 0 the-extent.that the peneral public may -
0ot have kmown.about the ‘procedures.available and -

~OR velpases. wers frequently grauted upen the

tequests of°a judge's family or friends, thus creating .

* an appearance of special fayors, But, becsuse-of the -
custom and pracdes in Clark. Counly, however
’ ﬁawed, with the .aconiescence of “the dismict -

attorneys, we reverse the Commission's finding that

Tudge MosJey violated NCIC Canons 1, 2, 2A and

~ 3B(T)as alleged in Counts mandIV [sz]

- FN12, Although we reverse the ﬁndmgs oi '

.~ the Commission in this instance, nothing in
. our decision should be read 1o suggest the

. Judges in Clark County may continue the

JUVIVITEe WEFIITDIUTY 7 P304 IE909300

Judge Mosley's nxpartc :

. ‘This piactice continued with

-+ .ppproved ‘by_ the opposing panty.  The dishrics.
aﬂomayatﬂmhmoﬂndchaﬂey'shcannagﬁ N
te

frequently - selied
*upon -geiting an. OR releass &z:najndggym hzlp' '; .

tofﬂwloeax-"

P

Mmﬂmdonotoomply

Comt.

c:omnmmrm &:mcommicauo»

Mﬂelayéd.rmal

[5][6117][8] Joseph Mewtgbﬁn was ﬁbm with
ﬁm—dc with use.of 2 deadly.

mbbuywiﬁxmofadudlywupon,

w»»ohdnmymw%g s

wal represented”

MeLanghlin :
- charges by sitomey Catbesine Wooll, Pursuant-to
Plea negotiations, -McLaighfin. pleaded” guilty to -

mbberyandh:rglarywrﬂmtmuseohdemy

wezpon, opd agreed fo ‘against  his
co-defendant. In J ,.1997,Md.mghlin's
m&uﬁhmdgemgioney.w casowa:

_ Woolf: tstified  that - around  August . 1997,
m.angmmmmmmamyimzmasuvingam. L

~ honse, and that hs was with the way. sha
~was taking care oandml,m%m with Judge
Mosley.  Wooli testified that ‘McLaughlin was

'mwmazthismmwsmchadbeen'

reassigned-to Judge Mosley, Woolf also testified

- that she told McLanghlin that if he cooporated with -

_“Judgs Moxley in the child custody case; Judge

Maogley -would have 1o .recuse himself in | .
i's ctiminal case. She testified that sho

- NS bW

Page9of16 :

whb ﬂto ’
enacted Rulp 3.80 of the Rules of -
 Practics of tlw Exghth Jmhdal Dzstmt -

wias' uthappy ‘that MeLaughlin's case -had -been .

tmt&mrlw.lndga Mosleybecausehcwashnom L

asalmhsexmcer

Wooifwbaeqwnﬂymetmﬂxlndgommqinhu .
chembers, Only. Woolf and Judge Mosley. wers

present, and neither Woolf mor Judge Mosley

notified the district atiomey, Woolf testified that - -

“shesiated 4t the beginning of the miseting that

McLaughlin had been assigned to his chambers for -

gentoncing. ‘Woolf testiffed that she finformed Judge

Mosley that Disirict Judgs Gene Porter had-taken

MeLeuphlin's plea end. that McLaughlin “was -
cooperating With the-authorities on fhis.case™ and on
another  case.  Woolf - also  testified _ that -

McI.tmghlins sentencing date had been. contimued
duetohumoperanon mtheothermmmalcase.

£9 2005 Tbomsm/Wesr. No Clamm 011!!. U.S. Govt. Works.
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- Woolf “tetified thet- they: then discussed the -
~ information that McLaughlin -and his.wife had " _
- concerning  Michael. Woolf' testified that Judgs
Mosley asked Woolf to meet with Judge Moaley's

_ahtomey, Carl Lovéll. Woolf: stated thet Judge
- Mosley never indicated ab this meoting that be was

- 8 to himgelf from  McLanghlin's

~ A second'meeting took plac at Lovell’s.office with- -

- Judge MDW;M Woolf,, McLaughlin, and-

" - McLaughlin's: wife.- Woolf tstified thet as-.the.-....
mesting, fudgs Maoaley disgussed:his sop.and the-
custody - bald; asking -4 sories of questions
regarding Fighuzzl and Michas). Woolf stated that
4t some point in the conversation, Woolf again. *563

" mentioned thet Judps Mosley was assigned to_

McLaughlin's eass, Lovel) festified that he first
becamo aware ot this. meeting that McLaughbin's
crglgnalmmo had betn assigned to- Judge Mosley,
After - the i

affidavits for Judgs Mosley to use In his enstody

According to WoolPs wefimony, the McLaughling - -
testified in Judge Mosley's custody cass on October .-

10, 1997. At that poink, Woolf stated that she had
- not received notification that Judge Mosley had
- recused himself from McLaughlin's ciiminal. case,
- Lois Bazar, Judge Mosley’s judicial assistang,

testified that on. the moming of October. 10, 1997,

the first day of the child .custody hearing, Judgs

a Mosley told Bazar  recuse -him from
~ MeLanghlin's case. The district court entesed the

actual -recusal order into ‘the minutes om ‘the
afternoon of Qctober - 10, 1997, Judgs ‘Mosley
admitted that the recpsal order was entersd after
‘MeLanghlin's wife testified i his costody case.
Bazar testified that hudge Mosley's normal practice
- was to wait until the next seheduled cowrt date
 before he would recuss himself, and that recusing
bimself before the date for MeLaughlin's court

pactice. |
The Commission held thet Judge Mosley violatod
NCIC Canon 3B(7) for engaging in an ex parte

meeting with Woolf in ‘his chambers as alleged in

meeting, the McLaughling - signed =~

appearance deviated from Judge Mosley's norms)

Coust VI, that he viglated NCIC. Ganon 3B(7) by
cagaging in am ex parte megting with Woolf snd-the

- MeLaughlins at Lovell's offics as alleged in Count -
) VH,mdthathoviolpdeCJCCanbns'l,zz,ZA'and-- .
2B by filling 1o vecude bimself from the
O h, ooy M ey e o e
. f, 28 Al m vom Vi
The. discipline. that the -Commission imposed for-
~-Coupt VI-was 2 stiongly. worded censure,® for
- Count VI auendance at the ‘National Jndicia)
gzkgo ethics conrse, and for Count Vil.a 55,000 -

- Tudge Méslpy atgues that his cbnvar;aﬂm'-'wm_ -
the Mo aughi 288 et ot S s of
- - the McLanghlin ‘cass were not discussed '

. meetings. However, Woalf testifled that they did. -
~ . discuss the merits of MoLaghiti's case, Woolf -
told him about McLaughlin's plea and alleged that

ha was cooperating with the pollce. This is the vety

infrmation  that & senwencing judge  wonld
consider-the fact that MeLanghtin: wag cogperating

with authorities and festifying in another case, It js -
‘information that ‘is not appropriate - for ax pais

conversations gnd should cnly be communieated

“with the district attomiey present. The' Commission

could Q_hv.)‘oka o believe Woolf's testimony,

Judge Mosley also argues that this simation

concemed Bn - emergency involving his son's
welfare. Even if an emergency . was. Involved, the

conditions under - whith ox parte mettings - are. -
allowed - were not.. followed, as. NCJC Canon . -
* IB(7)(0) provides; in pertinentparty . . - - :

. cireumstances * requirs,  ex parte

“communications -for .. emergencies that do mot
- deal -with ‘substantive matters: or ‘issues on the

. merits are authorized; provided:

D) the juidge  reasonably believes. that no- party

- will gain a° procedural or-tactica) advintage a3 3

" resultofthe ex parte communication, and -

(i0)- the judge makes. provision promptly to notify
all other parties of the substance of the ex parns
copununication and allows an opportinity to
mspond.. .

- Substantive matters in McLanghlin's. case were
discussed at the ex parte meeting, and Judge Mosley

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. LS. Govt. Works.
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-did not notify the district sitimey's office-after b |
meeting took place. Pinthermors, there Is also
Evidencs that Woolf intended to gain & procedural

" .advantags 25 a -mesult- of thesa ex pars

- ._ Count VI adidresses the. timing of Jodge Mosley's
T reeusal from the Me .caso, Judge Mosley-
i o
; 7, - of. I ¢

- Sints MeLanghlin's -attoroey had not bezn niotified

- of any Y554.10usal by Jadge Mosley by the tms'of

- the héaring, it can be inferred thar the McLanghlins
‘did not know.. Mrs. -McLanghlin had. already. -
testified on bebalf of Judge. Mosley by.the tims of .-

-0, Since Judes Mosiny hed mot vecused himself) tho
/.. Mcbaghlins may ressoniably havo belloved that i
ey ﬂwyt&sﬁﬁeﬂ,ﬁvonb!waudge.Mosleyinhi&Qbﬂd .
. -custody case, McLanghlin would havs an advantage
at sentencing. Judgo Mosley's delay in recusing -~
himezlf also raises the ImpHoation that he wanted.to
make sure Mo testimony was in his favor; not that .
+.he vanted to ste if the testiniony was "genning,* ag- . -
healleges, -~ - : o

* Judge Mosley-asterts that a reensal s not required. -
at any particvlar fime sp long 18 it is accomplished.
Tudge Mosley alsb argues that judges do not have s

~ “duty to recuse themselves unless . olear and valid.
resson exists for. doing .80. [FN13) Therefors,
Judge Mogley arpuies- that he wes not unmeasonabla

in waiting to detesmyine. whether-the ‘McLaughling'

. wshmonywas gennine hiofors ho récused himself.

EN13. See Ham v. Digirict Court, 93 Nev.’
-409, 414, 566 -P.2d 420, 423 (197 .

(noting that * '[a) judge Aas a -discretion to
disqualify himself a3 a judgs jn 8 case if he -
- feels he eannor propesly hear the case
beeause his integrity has been impugned *

T IR AR TISIIILY 7 JL0L (RSTIIS

Page 11 0f16°

quccanml_;z,mgaamwz B

C- o ENWA 192 Wis2d 136, 530 Nw.ad 62,
- o). T
[ Judge Mosley assarts that the Commission
violated the Due Process Clauses of tha Nevada and-. -
Unitsd States Constitwtions. by exchding ths . -

- testimony. of his expert witnéss, Professor Stermpel,.

Steinpel had. been warching the procesdings from
ﬂaabeghniingandwsdmicgasammmgimms,

. " smating his opinion as 1o whether Judgo Mosley had
~ violeted the rules of ¢ o ‘

[10) Under he Commission ryles, the Nevada rulés i
of evidence. apply. NRS 50.275 provides that ap

expert-may tostify "(iJf scientific, toechnical or other -
specialized

! : ledge will assist the Irier of factto .
undarstand the evidence or ‘to deferming a fact in

. imue™ We have- held b "[wihether expin
testimony will be admitted, a3 well as whether a .

witness is qualified to be an expert, is within the
distiict ‘court’s discretion, and’ this court will not .
disob. that decision absemt 2 clear sbuse of -
diseretion.” [FN15] The goal of expent testimony

© 2003 Thomson/Wesz. No Claim 1o Orig. 8. Gost. Works
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“That )nmottant job shonld not be delegated
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’ssmmmm‘of&aammi}eo'fw_

_ asceriaining truth in.relevang areas outside the ken

- of “ordinary - Taity * [FN16] Tho Coromission

detenmnedtha!mmembmdidnmmqnimmpen

assistanco ‘10 decida wheiher Judge Modley's -
~Conduet vielated the canong. - The- Commission. had -
- fhat .discretion. " As an: arhc_la ‘i ma Jwa‘xdal

Cm:dnakepmwm

'PN]S. Mulder v, Stata, 16 Nev. l, 12-13,‘ :

992 P.Zd 845, 853 (2000)

" ENI6. Probiu . Zevine, 112 Neov, 1538,

1347, 930 P24 103, 100 (199) iooting

 Townsend v. Staa, 103 Nev. n3, 117, 724, ’

P2d 705, 708 (1987)).

' ikl comduct orpanizations ofien hm the

K ..thﬁculnob of determining othiesl Jssues of fivst . .

wnprewonmtbmrmm,orpmhaps,mﬂmany
o an

cxpert witngas m.a procteding, No-lega) scholae

- or judge fymiliar with the customs of a judicisl --

compmimity - podseases ' umique  knowledge of

. ethica) standards that is more relisble than the
" independent decision-making of the members of -
the judicial- conduct organization. By relying on.

“their own expertise *S685 as Tepresentatives of the

publie md Jepat commnmty, rather than the

-judicial  econduet

opnmom of
official  public

‘eXperty,
commission _fulfills 1ts-

responsibility to formulate the appropriafe ethm! '

- Standards fortbeusm [FN17)

FNI7. Matla N Greenstem & Stevem :

--Scheckmsn, The -Judicial Eihics Fxpert
B'Imm, Jod. Conduct l“{up, Winter 2001

atl

Jndge Moaley argues that othe'r witnesses were -

nsed as-expents and asked hypothetical questions,
and therefore, he had a right-1o call hjs expett.
Considering that both sides bad elicited opinons on
ethics throughout the hearing from most witnesses,

* the testimony could well have been cumulative. We:
-con¢lude that the Commigsion did not sbuse its

- discretion in exc]udmg Judge - Mos)ey’s cxpcrt

wntness

* JUDICIAL COMMISSION » 916172489538

Page 11 .

ﬁtmhemlmmm

. During . the evxd;nnawhmm ﬂw Commi
mmbmasbdanmnberofhypo!hmmlmmm. .
of varjous wiinesses, Judge Mosley conténds that -

his. dite procesy rights ‘were vilated when the
commistioners and the special prosecutor asked |
mmahﬁedexpmmmesseshypoﬂwnmlqmdm

'Wedmgm.

- NRS 50265 provides thek Jay witaoss titimony ©
. sk ba *[riationslly bsed-on the perception of the _
Wil mm‘and'{h]elpﬁﬂmnclearmdemndingof -

bhwsﬁmonymlhodnmmmofamm

issna.” - Ths --hypothetical -questivris .that the .

Comvmman asked-of jndges and attorneys were all -

R qnbshomﬁmwouldbehelpﬁﬂtodmmhoaim
" in issue, siice most of 'the questions related 1o Judgs -

Mosley's -defenss . that_ his actions wers pare of 4 .
common ypractice in- the. Eighth -Judicial Distriet.

- _Themggesﬁonﬂmthejmleseudmmmwm -
. unqualified 1o give thelr obscivations and opiniens -
mthocommonpmﬂ

2o in the distriet i» w:thnut'
merit. Both sides asked hypothetical festions of -
witiesses, most - without  objecfion. Ths .
Commission was within jts. discretion to 25k the -
questions and did not violate Judga Mosloy's nght.
tod\mpmces& .

© The Commmlon!y public m:emmb |

[1] Finally, Judgs Mosley contends that the

- Commission mads an improper statement m' .

v:olahm ofCPR 7 Wo d:sagme -

CPR7 prowdes -
In any case'in which the subject matter becnmcs :
-public; through independent sources, or upon 4

finding of ressonsble probability -and filing of 2

forma) statement of charges, the commission may
jssue statements as it deems approprizie in’ order
to confinn the pendency of the investigation, to
clarify the procedural aspects of the disciplinary
proceadings, lo explain the right of the
respondent fo a fair bearing without prejudgment,

"~ and to state- that ‘the respondent donies the’

ancganons At all  tmes, however, the
- commission, 1ts oounsel and staff shall refram-

@ 2005 Thomson/West, No.Claim 0 Ong S, Govt. Works.
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*from any ‘iblv on.pivae. discusson sbout o
-medits of any pending- or

Copmmission beoauss directly
5 g Moy el i

'Wé'cémms_'m.maga Mosly's argument I . .
- withous merit, Gang's comment merely disousséd -
the law-ind did vot address the merits of Judgs - -

Mosleyhagase . L - UL
. %568 CONCLUSION -

* We' affim ths -Commistlon'sdotermination: that
* Jndge Mosley- violated NCIC Canons 1, 2, 2A, 28,

end 3B(7) in Counts |, 11, VI, VI sad VI and the ©

imposition of the discipline requiring Judge Mosley

" to attehd the next genera). othios course at the -
National Judicial College, 1o pay. » $5,000 fine to~ - -

the: Clak County libraty or a wlated lbrry .

" foundation; and jo receive censures for nnethical

-eonduet. We -reverse  the determination  of . .

violations itt Counts Il and IV. - .
- AGOSTLJ,eonows. . = o
MAUPIN, J. with whom BECKER, J, and

PUCCINELLI, D.J,, agree, -concurring in poct and ™

© dissenting in part,

"1 agres with our affirmation today-of the discipline-

~ imposed by the Nevada Commission on Judicial
Discipline in connection with Counts. I, 11, VI, VII
.and VIII.of the complaint against Judge Mosley. In

T Me. AN RISATENTY T TS ERTTIIO

) '.vn'... mm ) " " .

Page12 -

segard 1o the discipling under Counts T and 1V,
Robert D*Amors.

community , govemned by - the

Comty District s Qffico undsr-
this practics vwas general

generally - understond that sueh velief ‘would be

© . NL3BT B3,
Page 13 of 16 . '

 accondancy with e majosty, | would rovess the
 discipiie fmposed wader Count 1, Defartng fiom

with regard to Count IV, 1 wiite sepanately with .

-Count HE concerns Jidgs Mosley's discussions with :
. Dubsts Opeats; Count IV, concems the releaso. of-

"~ For.qany years, magiétrtes aod dstict jodges in - .
Clark -Cointy: have. releassd persons charped:- with
s bawed. vpon.-¢x. pats-. . -~

- k. Inrgs ' the
" pracice M conied pi O s, Thi
- practice - with. the tacit sgreement of. -
. the edministrations of Roy Woofier, Georgs Holt, .
.- Boh Miller, Rex Bel] and Stewart Bell. Howover,
ly sestricted to sibiations fn
which the aconsed had- 1ot been brought boftwo ».

‘magishate for an initia). and it was

.
. * @

b

< -
A

denied when another judgs bed been essignod tothe

case.. With the reservations noted by ths majotlly,” . -
- the prictics provided sssential compliance with our .- . -

judicial eanons, and vory few abuses of the practice
~ - bave been documented, In fact, the police-and the

- district attomoys have for many years frequently

.

wlied vpon ex-paite” appications for. veloass of -

access o the practice

" .. persons scquainted with municipal judges, -

Justices of the peace and district cowt

judges. This court, in its recent changes to -

the Rules of Piactice for the Ejghth

. nmales i 4id of law enforcement initiatives. [FN1} .-
FNL | am the ﬁv_s:?ao.-m_thnﬁiamej L
gonoral. -practics was in ‘pat flawed -
beeause the general public did not have -

Judiotal District, specifically. dekincated the

circumatences undér which

‘noted my preference for cregting.

judges may
reduce bail without contact with the state
pursuant 16 ADKT 340. In my dissent, I o

an "on-eall® system for judges and '&PW .

district attomoys and deputy city attorneys
o review informal applications for bail

©2005 Thomison/West. No Claim to Orig. .. Govt. Wotks,
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- custody
‘cmmmsmces, Tadgs  John ~

‘had every. appearane
‘without regand toits merits.

Becouss Judge- Mosley's rélnnso of D’Amore was
. mot in conformity with the tbsn-acceptod ‘practics of
* jssuing such releases *567 withouit initiating eontact’
- with the ‘district attorney's office, and because this
_ release clearly -implicates Canom 2 -of the Nevada -

. H2PR3dsss

102 P.3d 555
(Cite asz 103 P.3d 555)

.reducﬁons;mthswny,gmmlamto-
bail reductions-- pror to .an miﬂal.'

would be achieved.

- In -the Mater of the Proposed Eighth
. Judicial Distriesr Court Ruls {(EDCR 3.80)
“* " Regarding Releass From Cusiody or Bail
Reduction, ADKT 340 (Order Adopting

Ruls 3.80 of the Ruley of Practics for the

Eighth Judicia) Dismice Court of the State . '

'omeda, May 23, 2003).

A my yiew, ﬂxoa-wnmmnmhm bmvom Ms.'-

~ Orout and-Judgd-Mosiey did not violate 1he local’
' Thm.lagmwmlthempmymm_,

. reversal of the diseipling jmposed in conpection -

* “with ‘Connt - JII of the eoniplaint. However, Judge -
Mosley should have never procoededto ‘relegse -

: D‘Amm on his own recopnizance. D'Amors had - p
: , of McLanghlin's:.case wems discussed during the

communications 4t Lovell's office. To the contrary,:
© other than- WoolPs mention of ths procedural

posture of” MoLaughlin's case, it sppeties that Tadgs -
" Mosléy's - communications  with  MeLaughlin. and

. abseonded  Tollowing emtry .of 3

mgobated plea of guiky- to 2 felony smd was in

to a bench wamant, Under theso
MeGronrty, ~ the
Judgcinthecasa,wasnotmclmadlo

 relessa ‘D'Amore, and Judgs Mosley st have Co
known that.thé district aitorney would have.opposed:

the selease, Finally, the' evidemce before the

~ Commission $uggsts - that, while' Judge Mosley
- contasted Judge MeGroarty, he'did so only-as 3
formality, having determined to release D'Amore in

any event. fo shost, this exercise of Judicial power

Code of Judicial Conduct, we should affinm tho
Comimission’s imposition of d:scnplme under Count

- Wofthccomplmnt.

BECKER, J. and PUCCINELL, D.J., concur.

ROSE, J., concurring m pm and dissenting in part.

‘1 concur with the majosity's conclugion, éxcopt that

I do mot bekieve that there was clear and conwncmg

JUDICIAL COMMISSION » 916172489538 -

e of an act of favonhsm tnken_

Page 13

evidenco produced to support. the ellegations roads

in’ Comt . VI, contering ths -ex parts
communications in Lovel's office. “The recand:

indicates that during M- Pitaro's cfoss-examination

- of Woblf, he specnﬂmlly asked Woolf whethier lbe
. communication in Lovell's offica s alléged in

Count. VII. .was  an iroproper ex .pamts
commmnication. Woolf responded magatively.snd

explained that nothing abont the cass was discussed -
: omwﬁnnthaﬁath#MchghﬂnwadekM'
_ in-front of Judge Mosley, Tbusvtappanthat.-
- althongh, - Jodge---Mngley.
. comfiuniestions Wwith McLanghlin

and. Woolf'

T NO.3%8
Page 14 0f 16

f:'(.'

absent ﬂwwesenco of,.or notification to, the Stats,.

ths " communications at Lovells offies -dd not- -
. pertain -to the menits - of McLaughlin's pending -
crimine]  proceeding. - The - Commission was .-
remtodthhmteshmonyzoshawthatﬂncmniu..,

Woolf wers- limited to the " subject of Temy
-Figlinzzi's parenting of ‘Michael, - and- these
_communications dig not affect the substance or

méils of the State’s’ prosecution of McLaughlin. -

his position 23 a judge presiding over McLaughlin's
case to obtain favorable evidencs in his custody

-cage with Terry. Fighuzzi, that i3 not the charge -
-‘brought againgt him. Therefors, I conclude- that

thera was by definition no violation of the ban on ¢x

parts. cantacts. concerning 2 peniing or impending -

/ (FN1) While: Judge Mosley may have-been using

procedding, and Jadge Mosley. did ot violate -

_ NEJC Canon 3(B)(7) ag regards Count VIL. .
’ FN1. See Matter of Varain, 114 Nev.

1271, 1277, 969- P24 305, 309 {1998)

(observing that the judge's  brief
communication with the defendant did not

affect the substance or merits of the State's -

pmsecunon)
GIBBONS, J.,, d)ssentmg

T respectfully dissont from the mn;omy’: conchusion

that. we should afﬁxm the decision of the Nevada

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig, US. Govt. Works.
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. - Mosley's be
‘render an opamcm on the Judicial ethics questions i -

10234555
100 P34 555
| (csms:mmasss ‘

'_‘Camfssimmhdidalnmphm. -
Wchawpmv{wslyhddﬂntmduﬁngﬁw_.

admiﬁmdmmmmmmmﬁ

- opinion may constitute an abuse of diseretion. [FN1) -

'~smgeons'expemroteshfyutomdieal;

- imporsibiliy, [FNS).

962P.241221 (1996).

PN atsss-ss,muamm

N ‘ma.fd. ot 858, 962 PJdat ma-m
 FNG. 12,5t BS7-58, 962 P-2dat 1229.30
CPNSILm86L 962 2dat 131,

'Tbecasontbarxoesastepﬁuﬂterlef&ey‘

Stempel, 2 professot- of law and author of severa)

aticles on | ethm, pmposed to tcsnfy on Judge
Stampel atlenipted to

- this - case, “but the Connnission preclnded his
tuhmony ' .

" In Pineda . Smm.weheldthztadcfendamn

¢ntitled o call an expert witness *568 when ths

¢xpert’s testimony will be helpfol 1o the frier of fact

and corrobotates the theary of defonse. [FNG) We,

- held that * 'fhe due process’ elanses in. our -
constintions assure an accused the right © A

introdice - into  evidence any testimony  or

doclnnenmhon whmh would tnnd 10 prove the -

SRS ET T AR W ISWNISCAY T DEOR FENOTAID

U ohew

defmm theory of . the -casa.”- mm;.

'.Mn&ypmdmeﬂlm&smsmtomﬁfy' ‘

roparding whether Judgs Mosley violited the

. bfﬁﬁqﬂmmmw n
- wmmdedmadmwmdgomﬂw‘lﬂmryﬂgf. L
| 'hmme»m%mw o

FNG, 120 Nov. 204, —, ss P.3d a7, L

B30,
L mmn—-,asp.saas.m

Srats, 96 Nev. 592,595,l 514-';;‘.

-P.zdsaz.mam)(mphakmy

| The. oajoity cits 0 an axiclo'fom the Judilal -
Condmxepmarmmpponmdeemon W deny © -

Todge. Mosley's right o dup ; 'The authors

s~ pos m“.,a"“ms..&' g R
.o possesses unique . know! ethieal . -
-~ - -standards-that' i3 yere reliable than the 5 L
FN).: Bomp .’ Eimmmv_; 114 Nev 854

decisioh-meking ‘of the -members ofthajudlclal

- condiet oipaization” [FNS] I disagres.. .
R 'ﬂ
Masley's gbtmprmmml psmmwpc

| Apartfwm dus process conﬂdmhons, thmare. .

other valid. justifications -for
testimony . on - Judiclal  gthics. . West Virsmia
University College . of Law Profossor- Carl - M,

- Selinger has detailed three such justifications: (1)
. the inaceessibility ‘of legal -ethics liw, - (2 the - -
advantage -of objectivity, and (3) tbe advamge of =
;'cross-exammahon. [ENS} - :

-PNQSeeCarl Selbnc

Problematical Role oj'the Leeal Eihies -

- Expert Wimess, 13 Geo. J. Lega) Bihics
405, 409-18 (2000). - Though Professor
.'Sehngcr witimately concluded that other

. cihical  concerns outwelgh  thess
justificativns, he did nat suggest that the
- justifications ars mtbout ment. Rather, his -

@ 2005 Thomsonle No Claimto Ong. US. Gowt, Works,
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' (mrgas':‘mmdssa :

"mmmmamofmmm .

. advocates, as opposed 1o expert wiméss,
- 35 3 better means of dejermining Whether

‘particular  activities consntm eihical

wolamms. id.

P‘ust. ﬂarclaﬂvo hnmbﬂ)ty of lsgal edncs law
. Supports the admisslon of expert testimony.. "fA)s
- more ‘ethics Toles are drafied to cover -only Jawyers -

. In particular practice contexts, it i3-possible for such
.nﬂnbbcmuhmmam’blcm,mdmdﬂy

nderstood by. some: Tawyers. than others® [FN10) .
Such’ fnaceessibility may- support the admission™ o
even. where the decision maker is

MW familisr with the rles at Issve. This is
“trus -because the -decision -ta. condider -expest -
estimony, subjest to cross-examiniation, {5 *superior.
2 relying -only- on the judge’s, or a law clerks, -
research, - or. or .the -argumenis of'_
. non-scholar advocstes.” [FN11].1 suggest that this
" proposition i3 also spplicable to cases tried befors. -

. t}mCmmnisslononJudlcml Dlsmpbne.

FNlD. 1. a4 411,
FNH fd.

' l-‘nnhcr, ihe adm:ssnon of expert teshmtmy providcs
.the advantage of objectivity. "From the. point of

view of achieving justice, the main advamtage that

- ¢am be tited for the admission of legal ethics expent:

testimony ‘is that 3t provides decisfonmakers with
more objechvc analysis of ‘the -issuea than they

. would gain from advocasy alone™ (FN12) This is

true because - the - scholar expert- has no

- attomey-client relationship with the accused; thus,

he has no duty to3ailor his testimony regarding the

" alleged ethical violations to fit the defense’s theory

of the- case. Indeed, such - mlomg would yin the

. scholar’s réputation as an expert in the field whose

opinions could be trusted by courts and diselplinary
bodies. [FN13)

FN12, #. at414.
FN13. |

Finally, the admission of expert wstimony provides

ﬁnmofm-umaﬂmmmm

Sclinger  states, the  opporhmity . for

abss-mmimtionallmforammﬂwmugh

m!ymohhompen‘fopimonngardlnsahml_

violations:

- " an expent mnﬁnsbcfmmccoxm,'
msa—ammmahonumilablc.'l‘kus,thc*m

-basss of the expert’s- conchsmscanbomd.*;
However, if the court simply reads law review -

", articlés .or. books “wrien: by that same

T crods-txamination 8 not available and it is mors
'-dxfﬁmﬂttoaﬂackthamhabimyufmopmwm' e e
S mqmsscd.” [FNM] s

FNM. P/} at 417 (qnoﬂng Charles ’W.
Ebrhardt, The Confliét Cencerning Erpert
Witnexsey and- Legal Conclusions, 92 W.
Va. L.Rev. 643,672 (1990))

Thuis, - this tmimony allows the decision: maker o -
consider the experi's objective opinion regarding

the slleged ethical violations. ' Admission furher
subjocts the testimony o scruting from both ‘the

o li nd opposing ‘counsel. 1 submit -
- mhm&dy thoigh not universally endorsed, is

preferablo to'the decision to deny Judge Masley's

- vight 16 present expért tesﬂmony in support of his
- theory of the-case. '

In coriclosion, the . CoimmSSnon's amonal were -

Improper and constitute an “abuse of -discretion.

Judge Mosley had a due process right 1o presént
expent- tostimony in support of his theory .of the
. ¢ase. Furthermors, Professor Stempel's mshmnny

may ‘have been helpful to the Corvmission in

reaching its decision, Accoxdmgly. ! would reverse -

the decision “and. remand this case to the

Commission with instructions to consider Professor ’

Stempel's testimony.

' END OF DOCUMENT
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’ - STATEOFCALIFORNA =
- BEFORE THE COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL PERFORMANCE

IN THE MATTER CONCERNING | DECISION AND ORDER IMPOSING
JUDGE JOSEPH E. DI LORETO - R PUBLIC ADMONISHMEENT
This disciplinary matter concerns Judge J oéeph E. Di Loreto, a judge of the Los Angeles

County Superior Court since 1995, whose current term began in January 2003. - Judg’e DilLoreto .
and his attorney, Edward P. George, Jr.; Esq., appeared before the commission on May 10, 2006, .
pursuant to rule 116 of the Rules of the Commission on Judicial Performance, to contest the
imposition of a public admonishment. Having considered the written and oral objections and
argument submitted by Judge Di Loreto and his counsel, and good cause appearing, the
Commission on Judicial Performance issues this public admonishment pursuantto article VI,
_ section 18(d) of the California Constitution, based upon the following Statement of Facts and
Reasons: : : : ‘ :

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND REASONS

Judge Di Loreto owns a vacant lot in DoWney, California next to a commercial
professional building he also owns.- In November 2003, the City of Downey initiated a code . . ‘
enforcement action, based on an alleged violation of Downey Municipal Code sections 9144.08 )
and 9150.14 due to the presence of trailers and motor vehicles stored on the vacant property. In
March 2004, Judge Di Loreto attended ameeting at the Downey Police Department regarding the
alleged violations and agreed to remove the.vehicles to avoid legal action. The city was’
represented at the meeting by a code enforcement officer, Mark Detterich, as well as the assistant
director for community development/city planner, Ron Yoshiki, and the city prosecutor, John

Cotti. '

On December 29, 2004, Judge Di Loreto sent the following letter to the city planner, Ron
Yoshiki: ‘ :



" RECEIVEp
.
PLANNING

. YRLEPHONE -
- ~”x

. ‘CiyofDowiey .o ©
Attention: Ron Yoshiki

- P:0.Pax 7016
- Downey, CA 502417016

Dw:Rom PR

.. Atour meeting on March 3, 2004 With yourself and Mr..Cotd, 1°
. sm minwe,n:.);';aileg from thie vacant Iot next to my Law offices at -
.. 8 Imgesial Highway. Atthémeeting, Lanticipated my newbuilding.
hich will house my trailer would bo completed by the.cnd of this year. - -
Umuy.@cmﬂanyddmmmmwaphh,mmaw&t‘ o .

_ - " My contractor, Norra Wilson & Sons, auficipates tho consiincion.

" mwmmw)mmmmm,mmwxgmm.:

Iwill remavo my trailer when the building is ready fot occnpancy.
" Wtbankyon for your kind patienice in thls imaties,
' 3 "Veay truly yours,

".-. - JOSEPHB.DILORETO . -

E The judge’s letter, on “chambers” judicial statlonery, with “The Superior Court” printed :

- atthetop, and with the court’s address and official seal, expressly identified Judge Di Loreto as a
- judge; the letterhead bore the inscription “Joseph E. Di Loreto, Judge”. In the letter, Judge Di
Loreto sought an extension of time within which to remove his trailer and, implicitly, the
-+ forbearance of legal action. This Decernber 29; 2004 letter was referred to i subsequent
correspondence by another city employee and the City Attorney on behalf of the City of Downey
* regarding the dispute. ‘ . B o

. Judge Di Loreto’s prior use of chainbc_ers judicial stationery resulted in discipline. This.
- prior maiter, in 2001, involved the use of chambers judicial stationery in a personal dispute over

DOUE S

s ot gt ame b+




ownership of a racing car with a “long-time personal friend” of the judge, a Mr. Barton. The -
stationery used was identical to that used in the Deccmber 29; 2004 letter to Mr. Yoshiki in the
dispute with the City of Downey. _

The commission issued an advxsory letter to Judge Di Loreto in 2001 that stated in
pertinent part, as follows: :

The commission expressed disapproval of your sending a letter on
“chambers judicial stationery to Robert Barton concerning a dispute
between you and Mr. Barton_ with regard to ownership of a racing car. It
. was the commission’s view that this letter, asserting lawful ownership of
property that was the subject of a dispute and dictating your preferred
resolution, constituted a use of judicial stationery to advance a personal or
pecuniary interest. Accordmg]y, the commission concluded, your letter
was inconsistent with Canon 2B(2) of the Code of Judicial Ethics, which
states that a judge shall not lend the prestige of judicial office to advance
the pecuniary or personal intetests of the judge or others, and with Canon
2B(4), which states that a judge shall not use the judicial title in any _
writfen communication mtended to advance the judge’s personal or S o ,
pecuniary mterests

' Judge 'D1 Loreto’s use of chambers judicial stationery in‘the current matter concerning a
private dispute-as a property owner with the City of Downey, again violated canons 2B(2) and .
2B(4). The fact that the printed judicial letterhead included a parenthetical “personal” is

irrelevant, given that the court stationery was being used in the judge’s personal dispute with a-
governmental agency regarding his own property. Letters such as the one written by Judge Di .
Loreto regarding official governmental business typically are included in an official record that
may be reviewed by other government employees and ofﬂ01als and may be used as ev1dence in

- subsequent legal proceedings.

~ The propriety of using judicial stationery in personal disputes does not turn on whether or
. not the recipient already knows the author is a judge. Rather, the use of judicial stationery is
prohibited under the canons in question because, in such circumstances, such use involves
lending the prestige of office or the judicial title to advance personal or pecuniary interests.

In reaching its determination that public discipline was appropriate in this matter, the
commission noted that Judge Di Loreto’s use of chambers judicial stationery in his dispute with
the City of Downey was the same conduct that resulted in his 2001 advisory letter, and that the

- judge continues to advance the same justification for the i improper behavior — the addressee knew
the judge was a judge — that the commission rejected in 2001. In Judge Di Loreto’s opposition to
the commission’s preliminary investigation letter in this matter, he asserted that since Mr.
Yoshiki knew the judge was a judge, the use of the letterhead was appropriate. Indeed, in the



_ Judge’s Written objeetlons under nuje 11640 the proposed pnbhc admomshment, hepersrsted n
- making the same assertion, whlch herepeated durmghls oral presentatlonto the comm1sswnon‘
. May 10, 2006. _

o . Iudge D1 Loreto’s use of Jud;lcxal statronery for hls December 29, 2004 letter to Mr
; Yoshilqwas, atamlmmum, lmproperactlon. oL .

N " Commission members Mr. Marshall B, Grossman, Judge Frederick P. Hom, M. Mlchael-
Al Kahn, Justice Judith D. McConnell; Ms. Patricia Miller, Mr. Jose Miramorites, Mis. Pemny -

Perez, Judge Ris8 Jones Pichon, Ms. Barbara Schraeger and Mr. Lawrence Simi vated for 3

.publi¢: admomshment. %Mmon membef*Mrs Crystal Lm did not partncxpate

Dafed: June_13 ,2006 - - - - . - yg L
C o AR MarshallBGrossman
. Cositperson

o —am . e e
e o e - 4 PR e rres o e e e
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r.? Dlsplay Cross-Citations
427 Mass. 797 / 409 Mass. 530 / 388 Mass 619 / 384 Mass. 76 / 383 Mass. 350/ 380 Mass. 263717 Mass. App. Ct. 346 /6
Mass. App Ct. 584 : ’

Citation: ' 375 Mass. 680
Parties: IN THE MATTER OF ROBERT M. BONIN.
County: Suffolk

Hearing Date: June 5-7, 9, 12-14, 20, 1978
Decision Date: July 8, 1978
Judges_ : -QUIRICO, BRAUCHER,; KAPLAN,  WILKINS, & ABRAMS s JJ.

Receipt of a leased automobilé by . the wife of the Chief Justice of the
: " Superior Court from.a coxporation wh1ch had formerly been a legal client -
of the Chief Justice and payment by the corporation for.a reception. and
dinner for the Chief Justice after his appointment to that position did
S"not, standlng alone,icenstltute violations of the Code of Judicial -
Conduct or S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2) [695], however, the Chief Justice’s
subsequent tonduct in appointing a relative of the corporation's
president to a position in the office of the Chief Justice and his
appointment of two secretaries who had performed gratuitous secretarial
services for him and for the corporation while they and the Chief
Justice were employed by the Attorney General of the Commonwealth
constituted violations of Canon 3 (B) and Canon 2 of the Code of
Judicial Conduct and S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2) [696]. In the circumstances, neither the
requlrement that a judge- exercise a . ‘ . T
measure of self-restraint in engaging -in activities wh1ch may reflect .on
his 1mpart1a11ty nor a sanction for his failure to do so raised any
serious question under the First or Fourteenth Amendment to the Unlted
States Constitution or corresponding provisions of the Constitution of
the Commonwealth. [709 710] Following evidentiary hearings on charges against the
Chief Justice of the
Superior Court, a majorlty of this court concluded that it was not
proved that the Chief Justice knew before his attendance at a meeting
that the meeting was intended to raise funds in the interest of criminal
defendants in certain. cases pending before the Superior Court and that
it was likely that there would be partisan comment on the cases at the
. meeting. [705] QUIRICO, J., and BRAUCHER, J. concurring; WILKINS, J.,
joined by ABRAMS, J., concurring. .

Page 681

Following evidentiary hearings on charges against the Chief Justice of the
Superior Court, this court concluded that, before attending a meeting
that was intended at least in part as a partisan rally in the interest
of criminal deferndants in certain cases pending in the Superior Court,
the Chief Justice had good reason to infer that the meeting would touch
on matters pending in his court, that the Chief Justice was negligent
almost to the point of wilfulness in ignoring information brought to his
attention about the character of the meeting, and that in attending the
meeting in these circumstances he violated Canons 2 () and 5 (B) of the
Code of Judicial Conduct and §.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2). [705-707] In a proceeding against

the Chief Justice of the Superior Court, it was not
proved that the Chief Justice knowingly made false statements in a press
release or in testimony under oath on deposition or that he sought to
have an assistant make a statement which he knew would be false or



Sogial Law Library. . © . Page2ofa8 |

materially misleading.' [710-711] QUIRICO, ‘d., and BRAUCHER, dJ.,
_concurring; WILKINS, J., joined by ABRAMS, J., concurring.

VDR

INFORMATION filed in the Supreme Judicial Court on May 4, -1978.
Robert W. Meberve & Mark L. Wolf, Designated Counsel. .
Paul R. Sugarman & David J. Sargent for the respondent. T : .
_ Ernest Winsor, James C. Hamilton, John Reinstein, Harvey A. Silverglate, Jeanne ) !
" _ Baker & David Rosenberg, for Civil Liberties Union of Massachusetts, amicus curiae, - - - ! |
submitted a brief. ) . . g : I S

-' - BY THE COURT. Robert M. Bonin, now Chief Justice of the Superior Court (Chief

. Justice), was admitted to the bar of this cbmmonwealth-in‘1954¢'Be.spent the next year
as a teaching fellow and graduate student at a law school, followed by three years of |
active duty with the Judge Advocate General's. Corps of the United States Army. After -
completing his military.service he was employed in legal research, writing and editing '
for about one and one-half years, and thereafter he practiced law, first.as an.employee . -
in a law firm, and later as a partner in a.firm forméd by him and an associate. That o
continued until -January, 1975, . whén: he .was.appointed. First Assistant Attorney General ... . ;
for the Commonwealth. He occupied that position until March 2, 1977, when he was . . = |
appointed to his present position. Prior to his ‘ ) . o L
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appointment ag Chief Justice he was engaged on a part-time basis in teaching.at two law
‘schools in the Boston area. o ' R S
_ Some time in 1977 the Committee on Judicial Responsibility (Committee), established
" by 8.J.C. Rule 3:17, -as amended, 372 Mass. 925 (1977), commenced an investigation of
. ‘alleged misconduct by the Chief -Justice. _ L .
1 On December 21, 1977, this court, at the request of the Committee, appointed Robert .
T W, Meserve, Esquire, as counsel to the Committee for that investigation and Iater
authorized the Committee to engage Mark L. Wolf, Esquire, to agsist Mr. Meserve in. the - i
investigation. On March 13, 1978, counsel submitted to the Committee a ninety-three :
page preliminary report on a number of matters investigated, with .conclusions and ' 5
‘'recommendations of counsel thereon. The invegtigation by the,Committee and its counsel {
.continued after the filing of the prelimina ' report and was also extended to matters
not covered in that report. e T _ .
As .the Committee's investigation progressed, the fact of the investigation as well i
- as the nature and identity of some of the areas under investigation became’ the subject .. . i
of comment in the news media and elsewhere. This occurred, notwithstanding the _ i
‘provisiofis' 6f S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2), 372 Mass. 925 (1977), that "[alll Committee S
- proceedings shall be confidential and conditionally privileged except that, on request - i |
- of any judge against whom proceedings have been initiated, the Committee may conduct o
. such proceedings publicly." No.such request was filed with the Committee by the Chief
Justice. This court does not attribute the responsibility for the news media comments !
to any participants in the investigation, and recognizes that the public knowledge ‘

! Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17 (2), as amended, provides in part: "On its own
motion, or on complaint by any person, the Committee shall inquire into and investigate
the‘alleged'physical or mental incapacity of any judge; allegations of misconduct or
maladministration in office, wilful or persistent failure to perform duties, habitual
-intemperance or other conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice that brings
"the judicial office into disrepute; and any alleged act which may violate the Code of
Judicial Conduct (Rule 3:25).n : o '
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of the fact of the investigation made publlc speculation and comment inevitable in the
_circumstances. ‘

On April 11, 1978, following events of the preceding days to be described below,
this court wrote to the Chief Justice suggesting that he remove himself voluntarily
from all judicial and administrative duties until final resolution .of then existing
allegations, and implying no judgment on the merits of any of the allegations. On the
next day the Chief Justice wrote to this court respectfully declining to suspend
himself voluntarily and stating reasons therefor. He asked that this court.give him and
his attorneys an opportunity to be heard before proceeding further. On April 12, 1978,
this court informed him that it would hear him and his attornmeys on the following day,
and that the hearing would be limited to the questlon "whether without regard to the
merits of any matter which is now -under consideration by this Court's Committee on
Judicial Responsibility, the public interest, including the effective administration of

. the Superior Court and public confidence in the fair administration of justice requires
[your] suspension." The hearing was held as scheduled, and thereafter this c¢ourt, on
April 13, 1978, entered an order temporarily enjoining. the Chief Justice until further
order of. this court, from the performance of all judicial and administrative functions
.as_Chief Justice of the Superlor Court. The order has continued to this date.

As a result.of its 1nvest19at10n the Committee concluded that  formal proceedlngs
should be instituted against the Chief Justice, and on April 20, 1978, it caused a
written "Notice of Formal Proceedings" to be served on him advising him of the
institution of the proceedings to inquire into the charges, and setting forth the

hcharges agalnst him.?

e e e ——————— - —

2 This procedure was in accordance with the following provision of the Rules of the
‘Committee on Judicial Responsibility adopted by the Committee and approved by this’
court pursuant to S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2), as amended, 372 Mass. 925 (1977): "Rule 13.
Notice of Formal Proceedlngs. (a) After the prellmlnary investigation has been
completed, if the Committee concludes that formal proceedings should be instituted, the
Committee shall without delay issue a written notice to the judge advising of the
1nst1tutlon of formal proceedings to inquire into the charges. . . . (b) The Notice
shall state in concise language the charges against the judge including references to
any sections of the Code of Judicial Conduct which the judge is charged: w1th having
v1olated and the alleged facts upon which such charges are based."
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On April 21, 1978, the Committee filed a motion with a single justice of this court
asking that the following material be made public: (a) a portion of the preliminary
report filed with the Committee by its counsel on March 13, 1978, and (b) the "Notice
of Formal Proceedings" which had been served on the Chief Justice on April 20, 1978.
The only part of the preliminary report which the Committee asked be made public was
that relating "to matters which were investigated and not found by the Committee to
warrant further action." It thus did not seek disclosure of the part of the report
relating to the charges which were described in the "Notice of Formal Proceédings.” The
Committee also asked that it be authorized, at its discretion, to turn over to the
Attorney General certain material relating to one phase of its investigation. The
motion was.heard by a single justice on April 21, 1978, and allowed on April 27, 1978. .

_On May 3, 1978, a single justice reported to the full court for its consideration
and decision the question "[wlhether the formal charges returned by the Committee
" against Chief Justice Bonin on April 20, 1978, shall be entered in the office of the
Clerk of the Supreme Judicial Court for the Commonwealth, and there treated as. an
information to be heard, decided and disposed of by the Full Court." The question thus
reported was argued before the full court on May 4, 1978, and on that day the full
court entered an order answering the question in the affirmative. The order provided
further that the Chief Justice file his answer or other pleadings thereto on or before
May 12, 1978, and that hearings on the Information commence before the full court not
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_later than'June-5, 1978. The required answer was fileéd on May_lz, 1978. The Information
‘and answer are appended as Appendices A and B. Hearings before the full court started

on June 5, the presentation of evidence was completed .
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‘on June 14, and final arguments were heard on June 20,~ 1978. summary of Pleadings.
The pleadings in this proceeding consist of the Information and the respondent's
answer thereto. The Information is based on the "Notice of Formal Proceedings® which
~the Committee caused to be served on the respondent on April 20, 1978. It includes nine
separately numbered charges of alleged improper conduct by the respondent. Each charge

‘consists of several numberéd‘paragraphs of factual allegations followed by a.concluding

- paragraph charging that by reason of the facts alleged the respondent violated one or
. more of the provisions of $.J.C. Rule 3:17, as amended, 372 Mass. 925 (1977), or of -

- 8.J.C. Rule 3:25, 359 Mass. 841 (1972), which prescribed a "Code .of Judicial Conduct."
‘The respondent answered each numbered charge separately. We summarize the charges and
the answers thereto. R oL .

' * 'Fixst charge. It may be helpful to state at this point that- the first 8ix charges
stem from.the respondent's attendance at a 'gathering (meeting) at the Arlington Street

. Church in Boston on April 5, 1978. It is alleded in all six charges that the respondent
purchased tickets for' the meeting which was for the benefit of the Boston/Boise
cdmmittee,:that he in fact attended the meeting, and that the principal speaker was
-Gore Vidal whose subject was "Sex and Politics in Massachusetts.” The respondent admits
these allegations as to all six charges in which -they are contained, and he adds. that
the price of admission to the meeting was five dollars per person. - . - . -

. The first charge continued with the following allegations. Before attending the

.- meeting .the respondent was informed, and should have known and knew that the proceeds

- -of. the ticket sales were intended to be used in part for the benefit of the.defendants -

in a group of twenty-£four ‘criminal casés (the Revere caseés) which he -knew were then

" pending in the Superior Court, to assist the defendants in their defense of .
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such ‘cases éndtto assist witnesses and others involved in the cases.

The respondent denies these allegations. _ A ’ _
Second charge. Before attending the meeting the respondent knew or should have known

“that the Revere cases would be or were likely to be discussed. Those and other criminal .

cases which the respondent knew might be heard in the Superior Court were discussed in
his presence, and the discussion included statements concerning the merits of the
cases, criticism of the administration of justice in relation to those cases, and
expressions of doubt whether the defendants could receive a fair trial. _
- The respondent denies these allegations.. He admits the accuracy of the transcripts
of what was said at the meeting, but he adds that it is not alleged that he heard any
. "discussion" at’the meeting, and that his sole purpose in attending was to hear Gore
vidal. = : A ' : : : . 2
’ Third charge. Statements were made at the meeting in the respondent's presence
‘concerning the status and merits of the Revere cases, denouncing them as. improperly.
motivated, and indicating that it was unlikely that the defendants in the cases could -
or would receive a fair trial. It was stated that the proceeds . of the ticket sales
.would be.used largely for the benefit of the defendants and others involved in the
Revere cases. There were also statements on the status and merits of other criminal
matters which the respondent knew might be heard in the Superior Court. The respondent
did not leave the meeting at any time until its conclusion. , : :
The respondent admits the accuracy of the transcripts of the meeting and
acknowledges that he did not leave the meeting before its conclusion. He again notes
"-that it is not alleged "that the remarks and statements of all of the speakers were
heard and understood,® and specifically denies that he heard any remarks which imposed
.upon him any duty to leave the meeting. He states that "a reading of the entire '
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transcript of the event does mot reveal any material that would under the law have
imposed upon him any duty to leave.® -
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Fourth charge. After incorporating the first three charges, it is further alleged
that the respondent met with Gore Vidal at the end of the meeting and engaged in a
friendly conversation with him, knowing that this was likely to be photographed and -
knowing that this would give the appearance that he indorsed the criticism at the _
meeting of the administration of justice and that he indorsed the raising of fiunds for
the benefit of the defendants in the Reveré cases. The respondent's méeting and
conversation with Vvidal were photographed and publicized. - ) )

‘The respondent, in addition to his answer to the allegations in the first three
charges, admits his meeting and conversation with Vidal and that it was photographed
and publicized. He denies the additional allegations. He answers further that "this
charge is repugnant to the basic fundamental rights of any person.® B ’ '

- Fifth charge. On April 11, 1978, the respondent stated under oath that before going
‘to the meeting he made no inquiry about the nature of the Boston/Boise Committee and
was not advised that committee would use funds raised by the meeting for the benefit .of
the defendants or others involved in the Revere cases, that there was no reference at
the meeting about -the use of the funds derived therefrom, that there}Was'no reference

. to the Revere cases prior to the remarks by one Thomas Reeves, and that the only remark
by Reeves about the cases pertained to the age of the alleged victims. The above
statements by the respondent were material to the investigation then being conducted,
and he should have- known and, in fact, knew that they were false. On April 7, 1979, the .
respondent issued a press release stating that he did not learn of the intended use of
the funds derived from the meeting until the day after the meeting. The respondent
‘should have known and, in fact, knew that the statement was false. :

’ As to ‘the alleged false testimony the respondent denies that he made any statement
which he knew to be false and says that he testified in good faith to the best of his
.recollection. : : ' ’
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As to the press release he admits issuing it but denies that any statement in the
release was false. _ ’

Sixth charge. After incorporating the first three charges, it is further alleged
that the respondent knew before he attended the meeting on April 5, 1978, that his
administrative assistant, Francis X..Orfanello, had advised him in substance and effect
that. the proceeds of the meeting wotld be used for the defense of defendants in the

. Revere cases. On April 6, 1978, the respondent sought to have Mr. Orfanello make a
false and misleading statement to the effect that he had told the respondent only that
the meeting was "for gays or gay people." . .

The respondent, in addition to his answer to the first three charges, denies all of
the allegations of the sixth charge.

Seventh charge. We note that the seventh through ninth charges are unrelated to the
first six. They allege improper conduct by the respondent as Chief Justice of the
Superior Court in several matters relating to or involving the Richard J. Conboy
Insurance Agency, Inc. (Conboy), and several of its officers and directors.

The respondent became Chief Justice of the Superior Court on March 7, 1977.

- Thereafter Conboy paid $385 for a reception held for the respondent on March 7, 1977,
and $1,700 for a dinner given for the respondent on March 10, 1977. iIn 1377, Conboy
paid over $1,800 for the rental of an automobile leased in the name of the respondent's
wife and used by the respondent and his wife. Conboy’'s business includes the sale of
multiple employer group life insurance to attorneys in Massachusetts and elsewhere.

The respondent admits that  Conboy paid for the reception and dinner but denies that
Conboy or anyone connected with Conboy was listed as a host or sponsor for either
event. He admits the allegations about the automobile but states that "the cost was
charged to individual officials of Conboy . " o ’
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- BEighth charge. The allegations of ;heiseventh-chérge are ihbotporated,by refgrehce
" -and the following'are_added o - : o o
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‘thereto. The car rental payments by Conboy for the leased automobile were ultimately ‘
" .treated by Conboy as compensation to Martin J. Kelley and twofother'Conboy officials.
Kelley is an bfficer‘and-director of_Conboy..In‘Angust, 1977, the respondent appdinted
. Kelley's Stepsister (half sister) as a secretary in the office of the Chief Justice of
the Superior Court. - e S . ‘ :
- The respondent ‘admits these allegations and says that the appointment of the half
sister was made strictly on the basis of merit. _ - A :
Ninth charge. The allegations of. the seventh and eighth charges are incorporated by
‘reference?andvthe-following are added thereto. While the reépohdent was the First

,corppration'(the.chboy;matte;)‘fdr whiéhlgg_:gceiyed'szs,obb At the rate-of $1,000 per
month. Also diiring that ‘period Mastronardi “and Stanton performed-sécretarial'services~
:in connection.with the respondent's-representatioﬂ.of Conboy, -and an attorney‘working
in the office:of the Attorney General and under the respondent's'sdpervisibn,as his -

- assistant performed services in the Conboy matter. Neither the two secretaries nor -the
attgrney,Were_compénSated-for their services in the Conboy matter. In August, 1977, the
‘two' secretaries, Mastronardi and Stanton, were appointed as secretaries in the office
of the Chiéf'Justideipf'the'Superior'cQurt, T L I
- The respondent admits these allegations but states the work by the .three persons in
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Findings, Discussion and Conclusion.

Most of the objective»facts alleged are-admitteq or were proved by evidence. The
principal -facts in issue relate to such questions as what the Chief Justice knew
should have known at critical times, or what' connection there was between one admitted
fact ‘and another. -We state and discuss the facts as we find them under two separate °

" and (B) Charges Reléted:to the_gvents at the Arlington Street Church on April 5, 1978.
The facts so stated are established by a fair‘prepqnderance of the evidence, and are

. joined in by the entire court. ‘Some ‘Justices would make the additiona1'finding§

indicated by their separate opinions. a. Charges Concerning the Chief Justice's
Relationship with a Former Client'. o - S :

Findings of Fact.

: 1. While the respondent was sexrving as First Assistant Attorney General, he
performed legal services for the Richard J. Conboy Insurance Agency, Inc. (Conboy), its
affiliate Northeast Administrators, Inc., and two officers of-Conboy, in connection

- with an antitrust ecage pending in the United States District Court, District of
.Massachusetts. - o A .

 month for his services in the antitrust case, and $25, 000, totally, during the time he

. 3. Conboy's business includes selling group life insurance to attorneys in
Massachusetts and elsewhere. About 600 lawyers are persons insured through Conboy.

4. Martin J. Kelley is president and treasurer, a director, and one of the
stockholde;s of Conboy. Roberta Downey (Downey) is a half sister of .Kelley. They have a

' httn://.mcialéw avm nat/oMlmavs AL,
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close relationship. Kelley brought his half sister's interest in obtaining employment
“to the attention of the respondent while he was : ' .
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serving as First Assistant Attorney General. The respondent recommended that she be
hired, and Downey was hired to work in the torts division Of'the'Attorney General's
office. ’ ) ' S

5. Pauline Dionne Mastronardi (Mastronardi) and Mary Stanton ‘(Stanton) worked as
secretaries in the office of the Attorney General for and under the direction of the.

respondent. While so employed, Mastronardi and Stanton performed secretarial services
for the respondent in connection with the Conboy antitrust suit. Neither was -

" and Stanton were compensated by the Commonwealth. L .
. 6. During a portion of the time while he was First Assistant Attorney General, the
respondent used the services of an assistant attorney general, who was working ,
.specifically for him, in the preparation of part of a memorandum t5 be filed in the
Conboy antitrust case. The assistant attorney general performed some of these services
‘during normal working hours. She was not compensated or offered compensation by the
respondent or Conboy (or its affiliate). The Attorney General did not authorize the
~ Trespondent -to use the assistant on this private matter. The Attorney General had-a rule
against assistant attorneys géneral engaging in private practice, and the respondent as
First Assistant Attorney General was assigned the responsibility of enforcing that
rule. The Attorney General had made an exception to this rule in connection with the
respondent's representation of Comboy, its affiliate, and officers in the Federal
antitrust case. , ‘ » B o o :
7. On March 7, 1977, a reception was held at the- State House following the swearing
. in of the respondent as Chief Justice of the Superior Court. Conboy subsequently paid
3385, representing the cost of the reception, and treated the payment as a business
expense. -On March 10, 1977, a reception and dinner was given in honor of the Chief
Justice. The invitations were printed as if the Attorney General and his wife were the
host and hostess, but the Attorney General did not know who was paying for the
function. ' Conboy ‘ :
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paid the cost of the reception and dinner in an amount in excess of $1,700 and treated
that amount as a business expense. o

8. From March through September, 1977, Conboy paid in excess of $1,800 for the
rental of a Ford LTD automobile leased in the name of the Chief Justice's wife. The
Chief Justice and his wife used the vehicle. Initially, Conboy. treated the payments as
tax deductible, but later, on advice of its accountant, revised its records to show the
payments as income to Kelley and two other Conboy officers. The Chief Justice
considered the propriety of these payments under the Code of Judicial Conduct before
they were made. There is no indication that Comboy, its affiliate, or officers had any
cases pending in the Superior Court. The Chief Justice filed a report with the
Executive Secretary to the Justices of this court on or before April 15, 1978,
disclosing the rental payments as a gift. o

9. In August, 1977, the Chief Justice appointed Downey, Kelley's half sister, as a
secretary in the office of the Chief Justice of the Superior Court. She was hired at an
annual salary almost $2,000 higher than she had been paid as a secretary at the
Attorney General's office. _ :

10. In August, 1977, the Chief Justice.appointed Mastronardi and Stanton as
secretaries in the office of the Chief Justice of the Superior Court. Each was hired at
an annual salary approximately $1,000 higher than she had received in the Attorney - ‘
General's office. ‘

11. ‘Although other individuals employed at the Attorney General's office asked the
Chief Justice for employment in the Superior Court, the Chief Justice hired only
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~V:bowney, Mastronatdi, and- Stanton. There is no indication’that any of'thésg individuals

is not a. competent secretary. Discussion. . : . : o
Canon 5 (C) (4) of the Code of Judicial Conduct; 359 Mass. 848 .(1972), states that a

judge or member of his family residing in his household should not accept a gift except N

et a-
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certain stated circumstances. One such circumstance, set forth in Canon 5 (C) (4) (c),
permits the receipt of a gift by the judge or a member of his family residing in his
‘household "if the donor is not a party or other person whose interests have come or are
likely to come before.him, and, if its value exceeds £100, the judge reports it in the .

same. manner- as he reports compensation in Canon 6C."3 The Chief Justice made such a
report on or before April 15, 1978, with respect to the payments made by Conboy, or its
officers, on the motor vehicle lease. SRS : . o o .
, Thus a judge may receive a gift having a value of more than $100 but must report the
_gift. However, thaﬂpropriety,df*such@a_gift:ig_not.beyond scrutiny -and criticism simply .
because it is.not forbidden by Canon 5 (€) and is reported.” In all his activities, a
- - judge .should not only aveoid impropriety but also. he should avoid the appearance of .
impropriety. Canon 2, 359.Mass. 842 (1972) . The requirement of Canon 2 (A) that a judge
"should conduct himself at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the
. integrity and impartiality. of the judiciary® may make a gift inappropriate. .
In a procéeding concerning a gift made before the Code of Judicial Conduct was .o
effective in this Commonwealth, we censuréd a judge, and ordered him to. pay $5,000 to
the Commonwealth as_costs of the proceedings, where the judge received a gift of $4,000
+ from an individual after he made inquiry of a prosecuting officer concerning a case
-~ pending against that- individual. Matter of Morrissey, 366 Mass. 11 (1974) .- We concluded
: - that the judge's eonduct constituted "a careless disregard" of the requirement that a
judge's conduct avoid even the ‘appearance of impropriety. Id. at 16. o :

3 Canon 6 (C), 359 Mass. 852 (1972), requires a judge to "report on or before April 15
-of each year, with respect to the previous calenddr year, the date, place, and nature
‘of any activity for which he received compensation, and the name of the payor and the
amount of compensation so received." The report should be filed with the Executive
Secretary to the Justices of the Supreme Judicial Court as a public document.
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. The drafters of the Code of Judicial Conduct adopted by the American Bar -

- Association, on which our Code of Judicial Conduct is based, concluded that public
disclosure of gifts exceeding $100 in value would encourage adherence to the principle
of avoiding any appearance of impropriety. E. W. Thode, Reporter's Notes to the Code of

. Judicial Conduct 85 (1973). "If the judge and the donor are mot willing for the .- i

- transaction to be given the light of publicity, the judicial system is better served by
‘not having the -transaction consummated.”® Id. : . : :

‘As matters developed, the receipt of the gift of the leased automobile created the
appearance of impropriety. During the period when Kelley and two other Conboy officers

" were making monthly payments on the leased automobile, the Chief Justice appointed
Kelley's half sister to a position in the office of the Chief Justice at an annual
salary of $2,000 above that which she was receiving as a'secretary in the Attorney
General's office. This act created the possibility that the public would regard
judicial conduct of the Chief Justice (and by inference judicial conduct of other
judges) as subject to influence based on personal favoritism. It did not promote
"public confidence in.the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.” Canon.2 (a).
Moreover, the appointment of Downey in these circumstanceshreasonably could create the

.
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impression that the Chief Justice engaged in "favoritism" in the exercise of his power
to make appointments, acting contrary to the direction of Canon 3 (B) (4).%

The appointment of Mastronardi and Stanton as secretaries in the office of the Chief
Justice of the Superior Court was, by itself, not improper. There is no suggestion that
they were not competent to perform the duties of their positions. When, however, the
Chief Justice appointed.Mastronardi and Stanton, he knew that' they had performed-
gratuitous secretarial services for him and indirectly for -

.4 Canon 3 (B) (4); 359 Mass. 842 (1972), provides in part: "[The judge] should exercise
‘his power of appointment only on the basis of merit, avoiding nepotism and -
favoritism.” ’ '
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Conboy. Their appointments implied that the Chief Justice would favor persons who had
contributed their s8rvices to him and to His former clients over others who had not.
Only Mastronardi and Stanton, who worked on the Conboy antitrust case without

- compensation and Downey, who ‘'was related.to -the president of Conboy, weére hired from
-the Attorney General's office, although others had sought' to transfer from the Attorney
General's office to the office of the Chief Justice. The Chief.Justice's conduct in :
-appointing Downey, Mastronardi, and Stanton created the impression that employment
opportunities in the judicial branch of goverment were greater for persons and
relatives of persons who had made gifts to, and done favors for, the appointing
authority. : ; : L _

Conboy's payment o0f the cost of the State House reception and the cost of the dinner
for the Chief Justice may not have been gifts to the Chief Justice. Conboy itsgelf -
regarded the expenses as tax deductible expenditures. These expenditures were made in
sincere appreciation of the Chief Justice's services as counsel for Conboy. However,
the fact that Conboy made these payments, combined. with the Chief Justice's subsequent
reward of.employment at higher salaries to Kelley's half sister and two persons who had
worked gratuitously on the. Conboy antitrust case, .did not promote "public confidence in
the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary." Canon 2 (A). These appointments
created the impression that Conboy's officers were "in a pecial position to influence
{the Chief Justice]." Canon 2 (B) . ' : :

To deal with the particular charges: » :

-The seventh charge is based on the claim that the receipt of the gift of the leased
automobile and the payment by Conboy of the cost of the " 8tate House reception and of
the dinner were violations of Canon 2, Canon 2:(B), and S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2). These
events, standing alone, are not violations as alleged, but they must be viewed also in
relation to the eighth and ninth charges. i :
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The eighth charge concerns the appointment of Downey as a secretary in the office of
the Chief Justice of ‘the Superior Court. It cites Canon 3 (B), concerning the exercise
of a judge's appointing power solely on the basis of merit; Canon 2, concerning the
avoidance of impropriety or the appearance of impropriety; and S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2),
concerning misconduct in office and conduct prejudicial to the administration of
justice which brings the judicial office into disrepute. The appointment of Downey, in
light of the Conboy gift and the payments made by Conboy for events held in the Chief
Justice's honor, was a violation as alleged in the eighth charge. ' :

The ninth charge concerns the appointment of Mastronardi and étantqn as secretaries
in the office of the Chief Justice of the Superior Court. This ‘charge also rested on
alleged violations of Canon 3 (B), Canon 2, and S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2). In light of the
Conboy gift and Conboy's payments for events held in the Chief Justice's honor, in the
light of the rendering of uncompensated services on the Conboy antitrust matter by
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Findings of Fact.

1. In December, 1977,
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between men and boys in the Boston area." e'committee sponsored a funﬂ-raisingjevent.

at the Arlington Street Church on Wednesday, April 5, 1978, with Gore Vidal,.a noted

author, as the featured speaker. Before the event the committee had conferred with .~ .
" attorneys for some of the defendants in the criminal cases, sometimeg referred to as - i
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' #t@e'Reiere cases. " The. attorneys had budgeted $25,000 for a survey of attitudes of

_prospeq;ive~ju:prs Qg the Natignal_aurynproject. On.March 2771978, a'co-chairm;ﬁaof“
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had resulted from the indictments in Revere in Decémbér, the,discontinnagce'of the

hotline which was effective, hotline had been institu;eq by District'Attorney Mr

draft card burhingsﬁ and’éf'the'possibility‘thatuagme motorcycle riders might be.there. . .
In that conversation the Chief Justice referred to Gore Vidal as a "gay;"'apparently :
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3. On April 4, 1978, William P. Homans, counsel for one of the defendants in the ° '
Revere cases, received a telephone message - from the Boston/Boise Committee informing
- him that the Chief Justice would be at the Gore Vidal lecture on April 5, 1978. After
receiving that message, Mr. Homans called Mr. Brian McMenimen, counsel for another of
the defendants in the Revere cases, informed him of the message and said that'they owed
it to the Chief Justice to advise him that this was a fund raiser, the Proceeds of

which would be used to benefit: the defendants in the Revere cases. They then agreed

. Om April 5, 1978, Mr. McMenimen called Francis X. Orfanello, the administrative
‘assistant to the Chief Justice. Mr. McMenimen told Mr. Orfanello that he understood. the
Chief Justice was.planning to attend a lecture that night by Gore Vidal, sponsored by
the. Boston/Boise Committee. He reférred to the Revere cases and said that the committee
was formed for the benefit of those defendants, that the pProceeds of.the lecture were

a httn://snnialm‘n otrmi nat/all e aees 2117-121_0 . P -
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going to be used to defray some of the legal costs associated with the defense of those
cases. He said "that the Chief Justice couldn't possibly know that this is, in essence,
a defense fund raiser or else he'd never in'a million years go to it." There was
discussion of the committee and its connection with the. "gay rights movement." Mr.
Orfanello said he would give the Chief Justice the message.

The Chief Justice was in a committee meeting in his office, and Mr. Orfanello told
the -Chief Justice's secretary that he would like to see the Chief Justice as soon as
there was a break. He then told. Francis M. Masuret, Jr., the associate administrative
assistant, -about the telephone call. He testified that he told Mr. Masuret that the

~ lecture at the church was a fund raiser for criminal defendants, but Mr. Masuret.
testified that he did not remember mention of a@ fund raiser. Mr. Masuret did; however,
recall reference to Mr. McMenimen as attorney for one of the criminal defendants.
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4. Shortly theréafter, there was a break in the meeting and the Chief Justice came
‘out of his office and had a conversation with Mr. Orfanello lasting about thirty
seconds. Mr. Qrfanello -told the Chief Justice about the call from ‘Mr. McMemimen, -
including the fact that the Boston/Boise Committee was sponsoring the Gore Vidal
lecture and that the committee was a "gay rights" or "gay benefit group." The
conversation ended with the Chief Justice's asking how Mr. McMenimen knew that the

- Chief Justice was going to the lecture, and Mr. Orfanello saying that he did not know.
Mr. Orfanello testified that he told the Chief Justice the meeting was for the defense
.of the criminal defendants. The Chief Justice denied’ that anything was said about a
fund raiser or use of the funds for the benefit of any particular defendants.

After this conversation Mr. Orfanello said to Mr. Masuret that Mr. -Orfanello did not
think the Chief Justice would pay any attention to what he had been. told. Later, after’
Mr. Orfanello had left for the day,. the committee meeting in the Chief Justice's office
ended, and the Chief Justice and Mr. Masuret left the court house together. Mr. Masuret
did not think the Chief Justice should attend an affair sponsored by a "gay ,
organization," and he tried to bring up the subject, referring to the "very strange
call” from Mr. McMenimen and asking why people on the outside would be concerned enough
to call the office. The Chief Justice said he didn't know what the excitement was all

about, and asked, in substance, "What is this, a dictatorship or Nazi Germany?" Mr.
‘Masuret felt rebuffed, and did not pursue the subject. - ' B

5. At this time the Chief Justice knew from news media reports that the Révere cases
were pending in the Superior Court. He also knew that homosexual cases arising out of
arrests at the Boston Public Library were pending in the Boston Municipal Court and
might eventually be tried in the Superior Court. He was not scheduled to sit as a judge
in any of these cases, and would not 'in regular course be called on to assign a judge
to them unless there was a request or a special reason. ‘ ’
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The Chief Justice should have known that the meeting at the Arlington Street Church
would at 'least in part be a partisan rally in the interest of criminal defendants in
‘cases pending in the Superior Court, that the Revere cases were likely to be discussed,
and that the proceeds of ticket sales might be used in part for the benefit of the
defendants in those cases. The Chief Justice should also have known that his attendance
would not promote public confidence in the judiciary, and that it might reflect
adversely on his impartiality, interfere with the performance of his judicial duties, .
and bring the judicial office into disrepute. .

6. On the evening of April 5, the Chief Justice, his wife and another couple
attended the Gore Vidal lecture, arriving about 7:45 P.M. They were ushered to reserved
seats in the second or third row, and remained throughout the program. The Chief
Justice was asked whether he wanted to sit in the front row, and answered, "Why?" He
was asked whether he wanted to be introduced, and answered that he did not.

Before Gore Vidal spoke there were several other speakers. There was discussion of
the Revere cases and the Boston Public Library cases, of harassment of "gays" by the
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district attorney and the police, 'and of the current "witchhunt” and "show trials.™ One
of the speakers said that over 1,500 people were present and "most of this money will
be going to the defense of the witnesses themselves, the so-called victims, their -
parents, and to the National Jury Project which has entered these cases in order to see’

* that a fair trial can possibly exist." _ - B o - _

Before Gore Vidal spoke there was a high degree of disttactioh.and7confnsion, and

the Chief Justice engaged in conversations with the others in his party.. He and others
testified that the proceedings were boring and that they heard only portions of the |

_ pfoceedings, although they could hear -what was said from the pulpit when they listened.
But he admitted hearing references to police arrests at the Boston Public Library, to

. the ages of the alleged victims in the Revere cases, and to police harassment, and we_ -
infer that he -~ - T - : ' : : S ’
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. heard other statements about the Revere cases. He did hear what Gore Vidal said, and
Gore Vidal discussed "very sinister” happenings in Boston attributable to the fact that
1978 is an election year, "the Revere Beach capers;" a-"witchhunt,” and "enttrapment” in..

L‘;”the Boston Public Library arrests.

7. After the lecture the Chief Justice was taken into an anteroom and introduced to
Gore Vidal. He told Gore Vidal that he enjoyed the speech, and said it was "wrong to .
assume judges are-troglodytes”.(cave dwellers). The-Chief Justice knew-that his picture

. 'was being taken during the evening, but did not realize that a picture was being taken
when he was talking to Gore Vidal. Eitlier just before or just after he spoke to Gore
~-Vidal, the Chief Justice met Mr. McMenimen, who introduced himself. The Chief Justice

asked whether he was the man who called Mr. Orfanello, and Mr. McMenimen answered,
‘"Yes." . " e . o -7 ST R .

" 8. On the morning of Thursday, April 6, a Boston newspaper carried a picture of the -
Chief Justice othhe'frontApage and a news story with the headline, "Bonin at benefit
for sex defendants.v On page three of the. same newspaper was additional material and a

. picture of the Chief Justice chatting with Gore Vidal. Both the Chief Justice and Mr.
Orfanello read the story. Some time before 9.A.M. they had a brief conversation in
‘which there was reference to the story. Also before 9 A.M. Mr. Orfanello called the
senior associate justice of ‘the Superior Court and at least one other associate justice

;and called attention to the story. In both calls he -said 'he had told the Chief Justice

- before the lecture that. the proceeds were to be used for the defense of criminal )
defendants, He 'also talked on the telephone to Mr. McMenimen and said he had given the . -
Chief Justice the message. . } E e o
. Later the same day the Chief Justice told Mr. Orfanello that counsel for the Chief

~ Justice wanted to talk to Mr. Orfanello. After that. convesation, Mr. Orfanello had the
impression that the Chief Justice wanted him to say that-the Chief Justice only knew .
that the lecture was for a "gay"™ : S ) : .
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group and that the Chief Justice did not know it was for a defense fund. Subsequently
he talked on the telephone to counsel for the Chief Justice, and said he had told the
Chief Justice the lecture was for a "gay" group, but did not say that he had told the
Chief Justice it was a fund raisér. Indeed, he told counsel that Mr. McMenimen had not
told him anything about a fund raiser. 4 . o : :
9. Early on the morning of Friday, April 7, counsel for the Chief. Justice
interviewed Mr. Orfanello. For the first time Mr. Orfanello told counsel that Mr. )
McMenimen had told him that the lecture was a fund raiser. He also said to counsel that
he had omitted that fact in giving the Chief Justice the message, and had told the
Chief Justice only that it was a "gay benefit." At counsel's request Mr. Orfanello
wrote out and signed a statement of the events. The statement referred to Mr.
McMenimeri's statement that the talk was sponsored by a committee "which was raising
money for the defense of some people who were involved with children in East Boston or
Revere," but said only the following as to what Mr. Orfamello told the  Chief Justice:

’ 1‘44..;.//.-..-:-1.-., PRS- SRGIPY N, | I, TRUUINTRE | | K 1 2 S AP PA 2 amnn . - . -~ - - -
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"I told him I had received a call from an attorney who said he had heard he was going
to the Gore Vidal lécture that night and-that it was a gay group, or gay benefit, or
some other descriptive words implying gay people. I don't recall what description I
used. The Chief. asked me how the attorney kmew and I said I didn't know." After Mr.
Orfanello had written the statement, counsel said, "You could be accused of covering up
for the Chief Justice," and he responded, "That's the way it happened.™"

Later on the same day, the Chief Justice issued a press release, drafted with the
assistance of counsel, stating among other things, "Prior to my attending the lecture,
I did not know that any of the funds from the ticket sales would be used in any defense
fund, pending cases or, indeed, for any purpose other than as stated in the Globe or on
the ticket. In fact, I did not learn of the intended use of these funds until reading
1t in the press on April 6, 1978, the day follow1ng the lecture."
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_ On April 7 or 8 the Chief Justice received a letter from the District Attorney for
the Suffolk District, listing the twenty-four Revere cases, referring to the discussion
‘-of the cases at the Arllngten Street Church, and requesting "that you not sit yourself =
on the following cases, and take no part in assigning the trial justice to them." The
Chief Justice responded on April 10, pointing out that he would not ordinarily assign
‘the cases unless specifically requested, stating that he had not participated in trial
or assignment of any of the cases, referring to his public statement that he had no
prior knowledge of the fund raising, and adding, "However, in view of the media
-coverage and to allay any possible public misconception, I will not participate in or
assign any of these cases. Should any requests be forthcoming, they will be referred to
the sénior trial justice." The same day he wrote a similar letter to the chairman of
the Committee on Judicial Respon51b111ty, adding that he had in fact not been sitting
.on new cases for the past three weeks, had not assigned himself to sit for the month of
April, and would not assign himself to sit until the committee issued its flndlngs
relative to the investigation.

10. On Tuesday, "April 11, the Chief Justice testlfled under oath on deposition. The
follow1ng questions and answers were part of his testimony:

{a) Q. "pid you make any inquiry of any of these people with whom you talked as to
the nature of the Boston/Boise Committee?"

3 A-’"NO . X .

This testimony is contrary to our finding in paragraph 2 above.

" (b) Q. "Did you receive from any source [before the meeting] information that this
talk was being sponsored by a committee which was raising money for the defense of
people involved in Revere?" "

A. "I did not." : )
(c) Q. "In any of those prelimihary remarks that you heard and listened to, was
there any reference to the cases pending in the Suffolk Superlor Court?"
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A. "No, I don't believe so. I believe there was reference to the Boston Public
Library and police arrests at the Boston Public Library."

The Chief Justice then volunteered testlmony that the speaker immediately preceding
Mr. Vidal mentioned the Revere cases and the ages of the victims. In fact the speaker
who mentioned those facts was Thomas Reeves, and he was followed by one John Mitzel,
who introduced Mr. Vvidal.

Q. "In any event, you remember no reference to the Revere cases prior to the
introduction [by Reeves] of Mr. Vidal; is that correct?"

"Except as I have just mentioned.”

"I say, prior to the introduction of Mr. Vidal."

"Well, I would phrase it during the introduction of Mr. vidal."
"But before that, you had heard no mention of the Revere case?"

"That's true.”:

PO PO
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In fact, the Revere cases were mentioned before Mr. Reeves spoke. - » :
(@) Q. "Was anything said about the funds, the use of the funds, to be derived from
 the meeting?r S oo : L .
~ A. "No. To date, having read the media, T do not know the use of the funds ‘derived
from ‘the meeting since I have seen several conflicting media reports about it.n '
~ The answer, "No," is contrary to the fact. . _ _ . :
(e) Q. "Now let me ask You, I think we got to the description of the introductory

remarks by the gentleman who introduced Mr. Vidal, ‘and I think you said that you.

* . thought that.somewhere in those remarks there had been a reference to Revere.”
A. "The only remark I can remember -- and.I don't remember well because of not .
paying much attention -- was something about alleged victims being 22 or 20, and I
don't know if that meant now or at the time of alleged offenses or what." -
There were other relevant remarks. - ' :
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‘April 7. OnVSuhday, April 9, and thereafter Mr: Masuret urged him to inform the Chief

Justice or his counsel of the discrepancy, but he did not do so. On Tuesday, April 11, .

-after the deposition of the Chief Justice, 'a sworn statement was taken from Mr.

Orfanello. About- an hour before the statemént was. taken, Mr. orfanello said to coungel’

.for the chiéf»aﬁstice,;"Paul, if I testify to Mr. Meserve uhder-oath, I will bury ‘the
- ‘Chief.” Counsel responded, "Frank, why didn't you tell me this before?" Discussion.

First we state briefly what, in the opinion of a majority of the court, remains:

_ unproved. ‘It is not proved that the Chief Justice actually knew or understood before he
attended the meeting at the Arlington Street. Church on April 5, 1978, that the meeting’
would be a ‘fund raiser for, or would”doncern itself specifically with, the Revere: cases
pending in the Superior Court. Whatever Mr. Orfanello said to-Mr. Masuret or-the Chief
Justice on April 5, it is not ‘proved that he succeeded in making either of them aware

. that the meeting would be of that character. It is not proved that the-Chief_Justice on
April 6 sought to have Mr. Orfanello make a statenient which the Chief Justice knew
would be false or misleading if made. It is not proved that the Chief Justice knew the
press release of April 7 was false when issued. Nor is it proved that the Chief Justice
knew on April 11, 1978, when he gave the testimony quoted in paragraph 10 of the

' foregoing findings, that that testimony was falsé in any material particular: any
discrepancies between the testimony and the facts can be accounted for by the Chief
Justice's inattention or uncertain memory.- . ' ’ v .

It appears from the findings that the Chief Justice was negligent almost to the _

.point of wilfulness in ignoring or Co - : :
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-brusquely dismissing information brought to his attention as to the character of the
meeting -- that the Revere .cases would likely come in for partisan discussion, and that
part of the proceeds of the meeting would likely be destined for the benefit of the
defendants in those cases. Although the Chief Justice is not shown to have known these
" things as he entered the meeting, he had earlier been put on sufficient inquiry to try
to find out. In all events, he should have learned enough during the meeting, and in
fact did ‘learn enough the following morning, to realize that his attendance ‘at the
meeting might well be viewed as improper. He took some measures to moderate -the public
‘reqction, but they were not as prompt or'as effective as they should have been.

Upon the findings, it is the unanimous opinion of the court that the Chief Justice's
behavior was improper. The conclusion follows from traditional and accepted
principles. L . . . . : :

Clearly it would be improper for the Chief Justice to attend the meeting knowing

httne/lonnialowr morad matlall laned M2 oIt . Arressmnne . . .- .
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that the avails were to be used as a defense fund or knowing that the pending cases
would be then made the subject of partisan comment. Indeed the Chief Justice has
himself indicated his agreement that such knowing conduct would be improper. This
appears not only in his statement for the press.on April 7 and his letter of April 10
to the chairman of the Committee on Judicial Responsibility, but also in his cross-
‘examination in the proceedings before us. But if knowing conduct would be an
impropriety, then it seems to the court that it was likewise an impropriety, although a
lesser one, for the Chief Justice, in his impatience or -rashness, to fail to take heed
of information and warnings which would have brought more definite knowledge to him if’
he had considered or pursued them seriously. o O S i

What was put in jeopardy by this neglect was the impartiality demanded of judges, as
well as the appearance of impartiality, also demanded of them. A judge must distance
himself from pending and impending cases by taking reasonable precautions to avoid
extrajudicial contact with ' .
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Canons 2°(A), 3 (A) (4), 5, 359 Mass. 842, 848 (1972). The duty certainly falls with no
less force on a Chief Justice with extensive administrative responsibilities than on a
judge of the rank and file; and in the circumstances of the present case, and
considering the matter from the viewpoint of reasonable members of the public, it can
be no more than a quibble to contend that the Chief Justice .could claim indulgence
because hé might not be called on to assign or try the relevant cases himself.

Certain of the evils flowing from disregard of the obligation of impartiality were
realized comnspicuously in the situation at bar. By his attendance at the meeting the
Chief. Justice not only exposed himself to eg parte or one-sided statements and
argumentation on. matters before his court, but further compromised his position by
éeeming to favor or to have particular sympathy with the views of the partisan group
which sponsored the affair. Indeed, the Chief Justice shortly felt it necessary or
desirable to disengage himself at least temporarily from official participation in the
cases (see his letter of April 10 to the district ‘attorney) -- a self-induced )
disqualification which was itself to be avoided. Compare Canén 5 (C) (3) . There can be
little doubt that the episode had -- and, we think, could have been expected to have --
a negative effect on the confidence of the thinking public in the administration of
justice in the Commonwealth. _ . : .

- It was suggested during the proceedings that judges should not be deterred from
informing themselves about contentious issues. of social importance, and that judges are
helped in their professional thought 'and judgment by acquainting themselves with ideas
and feelings current in their communities. Hence, it was argued, the Chief Justice's
attendance at the meeting of April 5, which included the announced lecture by Gore
Vidal, was not only not exceptionable ‘but was commendable. The argument went so far as
to intimate that to discipline the Chief Justice in these circumstances would invade
his constitutional rights as a citizen --

them. That duty is at thq\heart‘oﬁ\the Code of Judicial, Conduct. See S.J.C. Rule 3:257‘
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which he did not renounce or forgo by becoming a judge -- to enjoy the benefits of free
speech and of association with his fellow citizens.

We agree emphatically that "[{c]omplete separation of a judge from extrajudicial
activities is neither possible nor wise; he should not become isolated from the society
in which he lives." ABA commentary® on Canon 5 -(A). We agree that it is well for a
judge's intelléctual interests to extend to ‘a comprehension of the attitudes and

beliefs of minority groups, not excepting minorities which are defined by their sexual
views or preferences or behavior. In ordinary circumstances the Chief Justice or any
judge would be entirely free to attend a public lecture about sex and politics whether
or not sponsored by a "gay" group. Nor is a judge under any duty in-ordinary situations
to inquire minutely into the sponsorship of public meetings before undertaking to
attend- them. Excessive caution, self-consciousness, or self-abnegation of this kind is

s 1% e s
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- meither required nor desirable. - S o R R
: The special'facto;-or'difficulty in the present case -- the stone of stumbling --
- which did call for caution was that the Chief Justice had.good reason to infer that the
. .particular meeting would trench on matters pending in his.court; and so it did in fact.
‘That called for a measure of abstention on his part. "a judge may participate in |
-eivie . [.. activities," but on condition that they "do not reflect upon his '
impartiality.” Canon 5 (B). Toward preserving evenhandedness, and the outward signs of
that quality, a-judge "mast . . . accept restrictions on his conduct that might be '
‘viewed as burdensome by the ordinary citizen and should do so freely and willingly."
ABA commentary on Canon 2 (B); and see the remarks of this court in In the Matter of
- - Troy, 364 Mass. 15, 71 (1973), quoted in the margin.® The circumstances existing

- - - - -——— - - - —— - -

5 The reference is to the commentary.publisﬁed by the American Bar Association when it
promulgated the Code of Judicial Conduct (1972), which was ‘lardgely adopted by this .
' court in rule 3:25. . o S : : .
. % We said: "Unquestionably. a judge is ‘entitled to lead his own private life free from
. unwarranted intrusion;'But-even:there, subjected as he is to constant public scrutiny
. in his community and beyond, he must’ adhere to standards df.probity_and.prqpriety
higher than those deemed acceptable for others. Moreuis.expected-o£~him_and, since he
.is a judge, rightfully so. A judge should weigh this before he accepts his office. He
'~ cannot thus erigagé rightfully in some commercial ventures, some - public expressions,’
, some pleasurable diversions, and in somé_social contacts which are open to others.*
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- on April 5 presented an occasion on which the Chief Justice was required to accept a
"restriction.” S ‘ S o o

" As already noted, the chief Justice like other judges is entitled to and can assert
constitutional rights of speech and association_(including{assembly).‘Still;it‘is.clear
~ that judges, in company with other public servants, must suffer fronm time to time such

. limits on these rights as are appropriate to the exercise in given situations of their
official duties or functions. See Broderick v. Police Comm'r of Boston, 368 Mass. 33,
37, 42-43 (1975); Boston Police Patroimen’s Ass'n v. Boston, 367 Mass. 368, 374-375.
(1975); United States.Civil Serv. Comm'n v. National Ass'n of Letter Carriers, 413 U.s.
548, 565, 567 (1973);. Morial v. Judiciary Comm'n of La., 565 F.2d 295 - (5th.cir. 1977):
.(en banc), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 1013 (1978).;7 Perry v. St. Pierre, 518 F.2d 184 (24
Cir. 1975); In re Gaulkin, 69 N.J. 185, 191 (1976). We acknowledge, ag recently stated
by the Supreme Court of the United States in In-re Primus, 436 U.S. 412, 426 (1978),
that' "“broad rules framed to protect the public and to preserve respect for the :
administration of justice' must not work a significant impairment of “the value of
associational freedoms.'" Any limits imposed must find affirmative justification in the
particular facts, having in view the weight and significance of the constitutional ’
values thus temporarily subordinated. Cf.  Landmark Communications, Inc. v. Virginia,
435 U.S. 829 (1978). After consideration of,the'full-factual background developed in

these proceedings, L

7 The Morial case considered in- some detail a problem that may be thought much more
difficul; than ours -- the constitutionality of a rule requiring that an elected State
judge resign in order to run. for €lection to a nonjudicial office. The Federal Court of

. Appeals upheld the rule, and review was refused by the Supreme Court of the United
States. ) - ’
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the court holds that there was ample justification for requiring of the Chief Justice
the exercise of a mild self-restraint, in which he failed. Neither the requirement nor
a sanction for the failure raises any serious question under the First or Fourteenth
Amendment to the United States Constitution or corresponding provisions of the

Constitution of the Commonwealth.®
To -deal with the particular charges:’ ' :
v The first four charges of the information relate to the Chief Justice's attendance
.at the meeting of April 5 and the essential accusation is that he "should have known
and. knew," in advance, that the meeting was intended as a fund raiser for the pending
cases at which it was likely there would be discussion of the cases, and as expected’
‘partisan discussion occurred. The assertion-that the Chief Justice "knew" is not proved
. in the opinion of a majority of the' court, but the rest is found in substance and
- effect. As the Chief Justice "should have known" the character of the meeting and its
bearing‘onAcases pending in his court, but nevertheless attended it, he violated Canons
2 (A) and 5 (B), in that he failed to conduct himself in a manner that promoted public
confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary and engaged in extra-
judic¢ial activities which feflected-adversely on his impartiality and interfered with
.. the performance of his judicial dutiés, thus alsd violating S.J.C. Rule 3:17 (2) by
‘engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice which brought the
judicial office into disrepute. In considering these charges we have attached no
additional significance or weight to the Ffact that, having chosen to attend the
meeting, the Chief Justice remained to its close and met with the principal speaker
thereafter. . : o 4 ‘
In the opinion of a majority of the court, it is not proved that the Chief Justice
knowingly made false statements in

5 We express thanks for a brief submitted by the Massachusetts Civil Liberties Union,

as a friend of the court, which_dealt with the constitutional issues.
. Page 711

.his press release of Aptil 7 or in his testimony on April 11 (fifth charge), or that he
sought to have his administrative assistant make a statement which he knew would be
false or materially misleading (sixth charge). Disposition. S

We conclude that the facts proved concerning the events surrounding the Chief
Justice's attendance at the meeting. at the Arlington Street Church and the facts -
established with respect to the eighth and ninth charges warrant a public censure of
Chief Justice Bonin. The Chief. Justice's conduct was improper and created the
‘appearance of impropriety, bias, and special influence. A judge, particularly a chief
justice, must be sensitive to the impression which his conduct creates in the minds of
the public. The Chief Justice has manifested an unacceptable degree of insensitivity to
those special obligations whic¢h are imposed on a person in his position. He has failed
to perceive that the public often does not’ distinguish between a chief justice as a
judge and a chief justice as a person. For example, to use his position as a chief
justice to justify obtaining reserved seats at the meeting at the Arlington Street
Church and then to expect that the public should view his presence there merely as that
of a private citizen, shows an inclination to accept the benefits of his office
unaccompanied by any of its burdens..

Robert M. Bonin is hereby publicly censured.

We recognize that the question whether the Chief Justice should continue to serve
and to receive compensation as such is one which is not assigned to the judicial
department under the Comnstitution of the Commonwealth. See Matter of Troy, 364 Mass.
15, 21-22 (1973); Matter of DeSaulnier (No. 4), 360 Mass. 787, 807-809. {1972) . But we
deem it appropriate, pursuant to our constitutional and statutory powers of supervision
over the courts of the Commonwealth, that the suspension of the Chief Justice should
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extend for a reasQnabie time to permit the'execu;ife-and legislétivé branches to -
consider, if they wish, the question of the o . -

- Page 712
continuagce_dethe Chief Justice in office}'oq_thg basis of ‘such factors as they tﬁink, !
appropriate,,includingf=perhapsr thenreqo:d,befqre-us and_the?qonclusions we have drawn

o oL o ‘So ordered.
e ' APPENDIX "A"
BEFORE THE chMImE ON JUDICIAL ﬁﬁspbnsiBILI_Tx INQUIRY .CONCERNING A JUDGE
. - ' ’ NOs. 77-67 and 77-108 :

NG «. . NOTICE OF FORMAL -PROCEEDINGS Lo .
“The Committee on Judicial Responsibility hereby gives notice to Robert M. Bonin,
Chief Justice of the Superidr Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the ' .
."Respondent”), that it has concluded that formal proceedings shall be and hereby are oy
instituted against him in connection with the charges set forth herein. o ' i

. . o ' First Charge S o

.~ " 1: on April 3, 1978, the_Respondent.purchased‘tickets for a meeting to be held.on
~April 5, 1978, at the Arlington Street'church,.Boston,'Maséachusetts, for the benefit .
of the Boston/Boise Committee at which the principal speaker was to be Gore Vidal B
" addressing the subject of "Sex and Politics in Massachusettg” (the;VMéeting").
'2. On April 5, 1978, the Respondent in fact attended the Meeting. S
3. Prior to attending the Meeting, the Respondent was informed, should have known
and knew that the proceeds of T _ : ' :
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others involved in the 0ases;' .- L . e -
THEREFORE, it is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent violated '

- Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 237, in that,he failed to conduct himself in a
manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the , -
"judiciary;_and Canon 5B, in that he engaged in-extra-judicial activities which reflect" i
adversely on his impartiality and interferé'with.the~per£ormance of his judicial -
duties. It is also charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent violated Supreme -

. 'Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he engaged in misconduct. in office and conduct
prejudicial to the administration of justice which brings the judicial office into

- disrepute. - ' ' . -

éecond Charge

4. Paragraphs 1.and 2 hereinabove are hereby incorporated by reference in this
Second Charge. : o _ '

‘5. Prior to attending the Meeting the Respondent should have known and knew that the
Cases would be or were likely to be disgussed._ ) )

:6. The Cases and other criminal matters which Respondent knew might be heard in -
Superior Court were discussed in Respondent's presence at the Meeting. Such discussion

- included, among other things, statements concerning the merits of the Cases and such

other criminal matters, criticism of the: administration of justice in connection with
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the Cases and expressions of doubt as to whether defendants in the Cases could receive
a fair trial. o 4 o ' . : '

THEREFORE, it is charged that, by the foregoing acts, .the. Respondent violated
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 23, in that he failed to conduct himself in a
manner that promotes public confidence in the_integrity.and impartiality
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of the judiciary; and Canon 5B, in -that he engaged in extra-judicial activities which
reflect adversely on his impartiality and interfere with the performance of his
judicial duties. Tt is also charged that, by the foregoing acts, Respondent violated -
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he “engaged in misconduct in office and
conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice which brings the judicial office
into disrepute. : S S ' :

" Third Charge

‘1. Paragraphs 1 and 2 hereinabove are hereby incorporated by reference in this Third.
Charge. a - ST : - : :
8. Remarks made at the Meeting in Respondent's presence included:
- a. Statements denouncing the Cases as improperly motivated;
b. Statements concerning the status of the Cases; '
C. Statements concerning the merits of the Cases; ' .
d. Statements indicating that it was unlikely-that defendants in the -
Cases could or would receive a fair trial;" ‘
e. A statemént_that the proceeds of the ticket saleé'would‘be used .
largely for the benefit of defendants in the Cases and of others
inVoived in the Cases; and c
f. Statements concerning the status and merits of other criminal
matters which Respondent knew might be heard in Superior Court. .
2. Respondent did not leave the Meeting after any and all of such statements and
prior to its conclusion. : ' : o _
THEREFORE, it is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent violated
Supreme Judicial Gourt Rule 3:25, Canon 2A, in that he failed to conduct himself in a
manner that promotes.publi¢ confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the
judiciary; and Canon 5B in that he engaged in '
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extra-judicial activities which reflect adversely on his impartiality and interfere
with the performance of his judicial duties. It is also charged that, by the foregoing
acts, Respondent violated Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he engaged in
misconduct in office and conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice which
brings the judicial office into disrepute.

Fourth Charge

10. Paragraphs 1 to 9 hereinabove are hereby incorporated by reference in this
Fourth Charge.

11. At the conclusion of the Meeting, the Respondent met with the pPrincipal speaker
.at the Meeting and engaged in friendly conversation with him. . :

12. Respondent should have known and knew that the foregoing meeting and
conversation were likely to be photographed and publicized and would give the
appearance that he endorsed the .criticism at the Meeting of the administration of
justice and endorsed the raising of funds for the benefit of defendants in the Cases.

13. The fact of the foregoing meeting and conversation was photographed and
publicized." _

THEREFORE, it is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent violated
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 2R, in that he failed to conduct himself in a
manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the
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judiqiary; Canonsz, in that he lent the prestige of his office to advance the private .

interests of others and permitted them to convey the impression.that they . are in a
special position to influence him; and Canon- 5B, in that he -engaged in extra-judicial.
activities which reflect- adversely on his'impartialityAand interfere with the

" performance of his judicial dities. It is also charged-that, by the foregoing acts, thg.

. Respondent violated Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he engaged in
misconduct in office. and. conduct prejudicial tb the administration of justice which’
brings thg judicial office into disrepute. S S :
Page 716
| Fifth Charge

14. Paragraphs 1 and g:heréinabove are hereby incorpbrated by reference in this
-Fifth Charge. - ‘ ' : : .

. .15. On April 11, 1978, the Réspondent, ﬁnder:oath, stated, in-substange and,effeth

that: : , .. . o
""a. He made no inquiry prior to the Meeting as to the nature of the
Boston/Boise Committee; .= .- o - oo
b. He was not advised prior to the Meeting that the Boston/Boise
Committee would use the funds raised by the Meeting for the benefit
-of - the defendants or others' involved in the Cases; o
c. There was no reference to the Cases at the Meeting prior to the
' remarks'of Thomas Reeves; o R
" d. There was no reference at the Meeting to the use of funds derived
. from.the Meeting; and = . - : _—
' e. The only remark by. Thomas Reeves, which related to the Cases,
_ . which Respondent recalled, pertained to the age of alleged victims. Each of
- the foregoing statements was material to .the investigation then being  conducted.
Respondent should have known and, in fact, knew that éach of the foregoing statements
. was falge. .- - S - C o e e S
~ 16.-On April 7, 1978, the Respondent issued a press release which, among other

N

use of the funds raised by the Meeting until'reading it in the press on April 6, 1978

’

the day following the Meeting. The Respondent should have known and, in fact, knew that

this statement was false. A : .

) THEREFORE, it is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent violated
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 2A; in that he failed to conduct himself in a
manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the: -

© Judiciary. It is also charged thaf, by the foregoing '
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- acts, the Respondent violated Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he engaged
in misconduct in office and ‘condict prejudicial to the administration of justice which
brings the judicial office into disrepute.. ' ; ' :
: Sixth Charge
o 17. Paragraphs 1 to 3 hereinabove are hereby incorporated by reference in this Sixth
Charge. . ' . - '
18. On or about April s, 1978, the Respondent, for his own benefit, sought to have
Francis X. Orfanello, Administrative Assistant to the Chief Justice of the Superior
Court, make a statement relating to the matters which are the subject of the five
charges previously set forth herein, which the Respondent knew would be false or
materially misleading if made, in that Respondent said to Mr. Orfamello, in substance
-and effect: "Frank, it's important that I did not know that the money was for the
defense of those defendants. It's important that I only knew it was for gays or gay
people.” At the time he made the foregoing statement, the Respondent should have known,
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and knew, that prior to attending the Meeting he was actually advised by Mr. Orfanello,
in substance and effect, that the proceeds of the Meeting would be .used for the defense
of defendants in the Cases. _ - B - '
 THEREFORE, it is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent violated
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 2A, in that he failed to conduct himself in a
manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the '
judiciary. It is also charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent violated
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he engaged in misconduct in office and
conduct. prejudicial to the administration of justice which brings the judicial office
into- disrepute. S : - ' :
Seventh Charge

'19, The Respondent has been Chief Justice of the Superior Court of the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts since March 7, 1977. -
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20. The Richard J. Conboy Insarance Agency, <Inc. ("Conboy") is a-corporation with -
its usudl place of business in Boston, Massachusetts. Its business includes selling
multiple employer group life insurance to attorneys in Massachusetts and elsewhere.

21. Subsequent to March 7, 1977, Conboy paid approximately $385 for .a reception for
Respondent held on March 7, 1977. o .

22. Subsequent to March 7, 1977, Conboy paid in excess of $1,700 for a dinner for
Respondent held on March 10, 1977. o : v '

©-23. In 1977, Conboy paid in;excéssAof $1,800 for the .rental of a Ford LTD automobile
leased in the name of Respondent's wife, Angela Bonin. Said automobile was used by the
Respondent and his wife. L : S s ' I

. THEREFORE, it .is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent has’ violated
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 2, in that he failed to avoid impropriety or
the appearance of impropriety; and Canon 2B, in that he lent the prestige of his office
to advance the interests of others or permitted others to convey the impression that
they are in a special position to influence him. It is also charged that, by the
foregoing acts, Respondent violated Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he
engaged in misconduct in office and conduct prejudicial to the administration of
justice which brings the judicial office into disrepute.

' Eighth Charge

24. Paragraphs 19 to 23 hereinabove are hereby incorporated by reference in this
Eighth Charge.- : : -
'~ 25. Martin J. Kelley of Plymouth, Massachusetts, is an officer and director of
Conboy. The car rental payments by Conboy described in paragraph 23 hereinabove were
ultimately treated by Conboy as compensation to Martin J. Kelley and two other Conboy
officials. ' ) '

26. Roberta Downey of Canton, Massachusetts, is Martin J. Kelley's step-sister.
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27. In August 1977, Réspondent appointed Roberta Downey as a secretary in the Office
of the Chief Justice of the Superior Court. _

) THEREFORE, it is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent has violated
Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 3B, in that he failed to exercise his power of
appointment only on the basis of merit; and Canon 2, in that he failed to avoid
impropriety or the appearance of impropriety. It is also charged that, by the foregoing
acts, the Respondent violated Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:17(2), in that he engaged
in misconduct in office ‘and conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice which
brings the judicial office into disrepute.

Ninth Charge

A Armn s s - -
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- Respondent rendered legal services for Conboy and itg affi

Administrators, Inc._("Northeast"). The'Respondent-was pa
to a total of $25,000 for such services. :

32. 'During ‘the period in which each worked for the Respondent in #
‘Attorney General of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts,.Ms. Mastronad
performed secretarial services in connection with the legal services

rendering to cOnboy and: :

- -

" Page 720
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7 General, the |
liate, Northeast

id $1,000 per month, amounting

'Respondgnt was

Nbfthéast; neither_was_gohpehsated by the Respondent, COhboy'qr'Nbrthéast for such

Secretarial services,

" 33. puring the period in which he gerveq ég First Assistant Attorney‘seﬁeral, the
Respondent caused'an-aﬁtorney employed by the Office of the‘Attorney General of the

~Commdnwea1th.Of_MasgaChuBetts, who was serving under hig

.to -render legal services on behalf of Conboy and Northeast;:

Mastronadi and Ms. Stanton alsq performed secretarial servic

supervis

don as his assistant,

said.assistant_was-not
.compensated by.the.RespondentL Conboy ox Northeast for such legal services. Ms.

in,conneqtion with such legal services; neither was compensated by the Respondent,

i -Conboy or Northeast for such Secretarial services.

34. In August 1977, Respondent appointeqd Ms. Mastronadj and Ms. Stanton ag
secretariés .in the Office of the Chief Justice of the Superior Court. : : _
‘THEREFORE, it .is charged that, by the foregoing acts, the Respondent has violateq

. Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:25, Canon 3B, in that he faileq to exercis

dppointment only on the basis of merit; and Canon 2; in that he:

failed t

e his power of
o avoid

‘impropriety or the appearance of imprdpriety. It is also charged that, by the foregoing
acts, the Respondent violated Supreme Judicial cQurt-Rule 3 i

brings the judicial office into disrepute,

In accordance with the Operating Rules of the Committee on

the Respondent.is’hereby advised that he:may file a written an

charges within twenty days hereof. )
: - COMMITTEE ON' JUDICIAL RESPONSIBILITY
' By its Chairman and Counsel
Allan G. Rodgers, Chairman
Robert W. Meserve, Counsel
Mark L. Wolf, Counsel April 20, 197g
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'CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

http://sbcié]éw.gvpi.net/sll/lpext.dl]/sl]/siczinn/simm-ns.cmmmu._-..' :

~

Jqdiciél’ﬁespoﬁsibiiity,
swer to -the foregoing

W e e,
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April 20, 1978
APPENDIX "B"
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACIIﬁSETT_S

SUFFOLK, SS. v ‘ T SUPREME JUDICIAL COURT
. e s . No. 1425

IN THE MATTER OF AN INFORMATION -- HONORABLE ROBERT M. BONIN
RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF 'FORMAL, PROCEEDINGS

Now comes the Respondent, Robert M. Bonin, Chief Justice of the Superior Court of
the Commonwealth o Massachusetts, and answers the- formal charges against him as
follows: : o ' ' o

- First Charge

believed that he was. attending a lectﬁre and not a meeting. Further, the Respondent
states that the article calling the "lecture" to his attention stated as
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follows (appearing in the April 2, 1978 edition of the Boston Sunday Globe): "Author
Gore Vidal will discuss “Sex and Politics in Massachusetts' Wednesday evening at the

. Arlington Street Church. Admission is $5 and the funds will be used to benefit the
Boston/Boise Committee." _ . ' o L
.- 3..Respondent denies the allegations in Paragraph 3. Further, the Respondent states
that subseguent to April 5, 1978, he was ihformédAand believes and therefore avers that
no funds of the Boston/Boise Committee have in fact or will in fact be used for the

- benefit of any individual defendants'and that the Boston/Boige Committee is not a
defense committee, but a civil liberties and educational group.

WHEREFORE, the Respondent demands that this charge be ‘dismissed.
‘ ' ' Second Charge '

4. No further answer required. .

5. Respondent .denies the allegations contained in Paragraph 5.

6. Respondent denies that he knew prior to attending the-lecture that any cases

- would be discussed. The transcripts of the speakers at the lecture is a matter of

record and the respondent.does not deny the accuracy of those transcripts as reflecting
what was actually said. ' ' : ' :

Since the Respondent admits the accuracy of the transcripts, they will speak for
themselves. There is no averment that Respondent heard any "discussion." Further, the
Respondent states that his sole ‘purpose in attending the event was to hear Author Gore
Vidal and that his attention was not fully directed to the remarks of other speakers
who preceded Mr. vidail. :

of more specific response.
WHEREFORE, the Respondent demands that this charge be dismissed.

Page 723
Third Charge

7. No further answer required. :
8. The Respondent has admitted the accuracy of the transcripts of the remarks of the

.
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several speakers at the lecture on April 5, 1978 in paragraph 6 of this answer and
again- asserts that -they correctly reflect what was actually said. The Respondent

.States, however, ‘that materials contained in sections a., b., c., d., e., and £., are

characterizations and conclusions as to what was said as interpreted by the drafters of
the charges. The true'éha:acterization.of-statements made at.the event are matters- for
the ‘court to determine. The Respondent. further points out that there is no allegation
" in the Third Charge that the remarks and statements of all of the speakers were heard
and understood. (ReferenceAis'made3to Respondent's answer -to Paragraph 6) Respondent
specifically denies that he heard and understood any matters requiring him to leave -
Prior to the conclusion of the event. : - e S
"9. Respondent admits that he did not leave the event prior to its conclusion and- .
‘“states that he did not hear any remarks which imposed upon him any duty to leave, In
aadition;.the.Respondentlétates that a reading.of the entire transcript of the event.
does not reveal any material that would under the law have imposed upon him any duty to
leave. o C o - ' . o :
" WHEREFORE, thé-respondent_demands that thischarge be dismissed.
. - T Fourth Charge . .

WO L vt 6% o et s et s e

'10. No further answer required.;i ' B o )
.~ 11. Respondent admits to being introduced to -author Gore Vidal at the conclusion of
. ‘the meeting and to having engaged in a very brief conversation lasting less than a
- minute. o - . , o g _ ' N '
12. Prior to meeting with Mr. Vidal, the Respondent did net know that such meeting
would likely be photographed DR ’ I D
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or publicized. The Respondent further states that  under the circumstances it was not
.improper for him to be introduced to and meet a noted ‘author and -lecturer. Under no
circumstances should such a'meeting be termed improper conduct or an endorsement of any
viéws of Mr. Vidal or other speakers. Further, the Respondent says that this ‘charge is
repugnant to basic fundamental rights of any person. ] e o :
' 13. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraph 13. h
WHEREFORE, 'the Respondent demands that this. charge be dismissed.
’ . . ' Fifth Charge :

' 14. No further answer requited. : . o o
15. Respondent admits ‘that on BApril 11, 1978 he testified under oath. . -
. Respondent states that the specifie language ig not set forth and
- " a fair reading of the transcript does not- justify the assertion and
conclusion of section a. S - : - :
‘b. Respondent admits the allegations of section b. and. states that
the statements are true. . . R
C. Respondent states that the specific language is not set forth and-
a fair reading of the transcript does not justify the assertion ang
~conclusion of section c. ™ . - - . o ' '
d. Respondent admits the allegation of section d. and states that he
 recalls hearing no such reference. ' :
- €. Respondent states that the specific language is not set forth and
‘a fair reading of the transcript does not justify the assertion and
: ‘conclusion of section e. - : ’ . ’

As to.the remaining allegations of Paragraph 15, the Respondent denies that he made
any statement which he knew.was false and states that he testified in good ‘faith to the
best of his recollection. L ' . -
~ 16. Respondent admits issuing the press release dated April 7, 1978 and admits that
Paragraph- 16 correctly summarizes ' N :

AY ) \
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a portion of the contents of such release but denies that any statement in such release
was false. o ' , _
WHEREFORE, the Respondént demands that this charge be dismissed.
' Sixth Charge o

17.  No further answer required.

18. Respondent denies the allegations in Paragraph 18.

- WHEREFORE, the Respondent. demands that this charge be dismissed.
' Seventh Charge

15. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraph 19.

20. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraph 20.

21, Respondent admits that the reception was held although the cost was not
personally known to the Respondent. The Respondent further states that neither the
‘Conboy Agency nor anyone affiliated with it was listed as a host or sponsor and
therefore no "prestige" attached thereto, nor was dny -impression of special influence
conveyed. - ‘- . ‘ _ R - o

22{‘Responden€aadmits that the dinner was held although the cost was not personally
known to the Respondent. The Respondent further states that neither the Conboy Agency
nor anyone affiliated with it was listed as a host or sponsor and therefore no
"prestige" attached thereto, nor was any impression of special influence conveyed.

- '23. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraph 23 but states that the cost was
‘charged to individual officials of Conboy as set forth in Paragraph 25. Respondent
further states that he reported this gift together with all other matters required by
‘him to be reported and that there was no impropriety in connection with the allegations
of the Seventh Charge. : A . -

WHEREFORE, the Resppndeﬁt demands that this charge be dismissed.

Page 726
Eighth Charge

'24. No Further answer required.
25. Respondent admits the allegation in Paragraph 25.
26. Respondent admits the allegation in-Paragraph 26. .
~ 27. Respondent admits the allegations in Paragraph 27 and Respondent further states
that when Ms..Downey was appointed there was a valid opening for the position and that
the appointment was made strictly upon the basis of merit and respondent's. <£amiliarity
~with the work and capabilities of Ms. Downey . '
WHEREFORE, the Respondent demands that this charge be dismissed.
Ninth Charge ' 4

28. No further answer required.

29. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraph 29.

30. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraph 30.

31. Respondent admits the allegétibns of Paragraph 31. - :

32. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraph 32 except that the Respondent
states that the work was done on a Voluntary basis. '

33. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragfaph 33 except that the Respondent
states that the work was done on a voluntary basis.

34. Respondent admits the allegation in Paragraph 34 and Respondent further states
that when Ms. Mastronadi and Ms. Stanton were appointed there were valid openings in
the positions and that the appointments were made strictly upon the basis of merit and
Respondent's familiarity with the work and capabilities of Ms. Mastronadi and Ms.
Stanton. :

Page 727
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- WHEREFORE, the Respondent demands that ‘this charge be dismissed. ROBERT 'M.- BONIN

Chief Justice, Superior-Court Commonwealth of Massachusetts Counsel: ‘PauL R. SUGARMAN
‘DAVID J. SARGENT - o ' .

~ QUIRICO, J. (concuf:ing). I concur with the opinion in so far as it-states.theAfactS'

found, - and with the discipline imposed on the basis of those facts. However, as
indicated below, on the basis of the entire evidence and the inferences drawn

therefrom, I would find facts in addition .to those found by the court in that part of

Justice's question about "what Boston/Boise was all about™ was heard‘and~understood‘byA

Finding 4. I 'would insert after the first tWwo sentences of the first paragraph of
this finding an additional finding that as part of the conversation described in the
first two Sentences: Mr. Orfanello told the Chief Justice that Mr%'McMenimen represented

" a‘defendant in the Revere cases ‘and that the meeting at the Arlington Street Church was=~

to be a fund raiser in connection with those cases. . e o
. Finding 5. Based on the two additional'findings suggested above, I would change the
first sentence in the second paragraph of this- finding to read as follows: "The Chief
~Justice knew before he went to the meeting at the Arlington Street Church that it would
at least in part be a partisan rally in the interest of criminal defendants in cases
. pending in S T - : : S o

- Page 728'

proceeds of ticket salés might be used in part for the benefit of the defendants in’
' those cases.r" o - o : o ' L
' Finding 8. I would insert after the first sentence in the second pParagraph of this
finding an additional finding that as a part of the same conversation described in the
first sentence the Chief Justice showed Mr. Orfanello one of the tickets to the Gore
Vidal lecture, said that it did not say it was for a defemse fund, and that it was
important to the Chief Justice that he knew only that the meeting was for a "gay" group
or a "gay" affair; whereupon Mr. Orfanello said that if that was what the Chief Justice
wanted him to say, he would say that. ‘ . : . e : '
Finding 9. I would add to theé second paragraph of this finding -an additional finding
that the two sentences quoted from the Chief Justice's press release_of April 7, 1978,
were false and misleading. - : : B - '

Finding 10. As to-éuestiqn (a) and the answer thereto, quoted from the transcript of

As to question (b) and the answer thereto quoted from the same transcript, I would
find that before attending the meeting at the Arlington Street Church the Chief Justice
had been informed by Mr. Orfanello in effect that the meeting was to be a- fund raiser
for the benefit of defendants in the Revere cases. I would therefore also find that his
answer of "I did not" to question (b) was false. = = : )

. as a finder of the facts in.this-proceeding. I respect the pPreliminary decision reached
by my fellow Justices, but I differ from them to the extent stated above. If the
additional findings which I propose were made, the - . '
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- disposition of this proceeding would, in my opinion, require that Chief. Justice Bonin
be suspended as a member of the bar of this Commonwealth, and. probably would warrant .
consideration of even mote severe discipline. ‘ ) ’
BRAUCHER, J. {concurring). In order to achieve consensus among views which
inevitably differ in detail, the court has omitted from its opinion facts that seem
important to me. Since others feel compelled, in good conscience, to record their
differences, I state mine. I join in the court's opinion, as far as it goes. A
Mr. Orfanello appeared before us as an honorable, loyal and reliable public servant,
but as a witness whose memory was not always accurate. He had been appointed
administrative assistant by the Chief Justice's predecessor in office, who had
vigorously opposed and publicly denounced the appointment of Chief Justice Bonin. The
Chief Justice did not have a high regard for the administrative assistant-he had
inherited, and Mr. Orfanello was aware of that fact and was concerned about his tenure.
The two did not communicate easily and freely. . v :
On the morning of Thursday, April 6, 1978, both men saw the front page news story
with the headline "Bonin at benefit for sex defendants.” The Chief Justice was under
" investigation on a variety of charges, most of which bave since been dropped, and he
had for several months been the subject of violent public criticism. He douhtless felt
wnfairly pursued .and persecuted. On Wednesday he had treated‘friendly attempts. to warn
him-as invasions of his privacy, reacting with the kind of stubborn resistance that
‘produces. self-inflicted. wounds. ‘ o .
_ In this situation the Chief Justice made an attempt, with the aid of counsel, to _
reconstruct the events of Wednesday and to issue a press release that would square .with
what he could remember and with what he could ascertain. His reconstructed memory,
based in part on Mr. Orfanello's written statement made on Friday morning, was more
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positive than it should have been, and some of his' failures of memory ‘seem too
‘convenient. But I cannot make a finding of deliberate falsehood on the basis of his own
testimony. ' _

Meanwhile, Mr. Orfanello had told at least three people on Thursday morning that he
had warned the Chief Justice on Wednesday that the Gore Vidal meeting was a fund raiser

- for Superior Court criminal ‘defendants. Later on Thursday and on Friday morning he gave
two quite different accounts to counsel for the Chief Justice. I have no doubt that his
'Thursday morning statements were honest, but there is little to corroborate them. He
now says his Thursday afternoon and Friday statements were false. By Sunday, contrary
to his testimony, he must have realized that he could be blamed if he had failed to
warn the Chief Justice adequately, and he consulted counsél. As counsel, he choge the
" former Chief Justice. Thereafter. he resolved his dilemma, and told counsel. for Chief
Justice Bonin that if he testified under oath he would "bury" the Chief Justice.

We must be careful to distinguish large sins from small ones. Particularly dangerous
is the escalation of misunderstanding, - difference of recollection, and public clamor
into charges of deliberate falsehood, false swearing and the like. On the record before
us, I cannot sustain such charges on the basis of Mr. Orfanello's testimony. Without
that testimony, such charges are baseless. ’

Apart from the charges that are not proved, there is sufficient proof of actual
impropriety, as distinguished from "appearance of impropriety," to warrant the court's
decision. The injunction of Canon 2 of the Code of Judicial Conduct against appearance
of impropriety must not be read to require that a judge cater to popular
misunderstanding or prejudice in his extrajudicial conduct: His duty "to the public
should never be subordinate merely because the full discharge of his obligation may be
misunderstood or may tend' to subject him or the legal profession to criticism.”
American Bar Association, Ethical Consideration 9-2, accompanying Canon 9 of the Code
of Professional Responsibility, S.J.C. Rule 3:22, 359 Mass. 829 (1972). I should be
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reluctant to join in censure based solely on appearance of impropriety, and do not read
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- Matter of Morrissey, 366 Mass. 11, 16 (1974), as’ so based. ST e
WILKINS, J. (concurring, with whom Abrams, J., joins). Although I agree with the g
disposition proposed in this matter and with most.of the factual conclusions -expressed il
 -in the opinion of the court, I believe that Gertain allegations were proved which some’
" Justices of this court have not found to have been established. Specifically, ‘I believe ﬁ

‘Church was intended to raigse funds to-aid in the defénse'of’certain;crimiﬁal- A .
defendants. I’ am satisfied that'the reference Lo the defense fund was brief and that '

how Mr. McMenimen learned that he was going to attend the meeting and about others

- advising him not to attend aﬁ event sponsored.by a "gay" group. I agree with Justice - 'i
. Braucher's characterization of the Chief Justice's reaction to these'friendly attempts |
~On thé follbwihg morning, Ehe-Chief Justice was apufelizaware of the~significance of

- what- Mr. Orfanello told him the previous afternoon eoncerning a "defense fund.n Iam '

question Mr. Orfanello about, or~challenge~him for, not telling him that a "defense
fund® was involved. -~ . - - BT - e N -
Wheén the Chief Justice answered certain questions under oath in .the .course of his

‘April ll.deposition,_his-testimony was incorrect. He had inquired what the Boston/Boise-
- Committee was and had been told. He had been told that the meeting was- intended to

‘raise funds to assist in the defense of certain criminal defendéptéf In this respect,-

. the chigf.Justice'wgs plainly mistaken. However,_considering oo

Page_732

‘the form and context of the. specific questions asked of the Chief Justice, and
considering the Chief Justice's very.literal approach to questions, I conclude that he
did not intentionally misrepresent facts when he testified under oath on April 11,
1978. He had heard something of the nature of the .Boston/Boige Committee before B
attending the meeting but may well not have remembered his inquiry concerning it at the .
Arlington Street Church when he purchased -the tickets. Although Mr. Orfanello told him
that the meeting was a fund raiser for eriminal defendants, I do not find that the
. Chief Justice received information concerning the use of the ticket proceeds of the
i précise_character described in the applicable question put to him on April 11. v
I believe that the press-releaséjof'April'7, 1978, although litérally true, was |
Aknowingly'misléadihg.'Pérhéps, as he said, the Chief Justice "did not learn of th
intended use of thésejfunds until reading it in the press on April s, 1978, the day
foliowingAthe'lecturérﬂ but he did hear one Trepresentative of the Boston/Boise
Committee say at the meeting "most of this money will be going ". . .- .to the National
Jury Project which has entered these cases in order to see that a fair trial can
possibly exist." The press release may have been, as the opinion of the court states, a
- measure. taken to mdderate the public reaction. It was, however, less than a frank and
complete statement of what the Chief Justice had been told and what he knew.
End Of Decision : C
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E Display Cross-Citations : ' i - ‘ :
- 411 Mass. 551 1 409 Mass. 590/ 390 Mass 5141 388 Mass. 619 / 384 Mass. 76/ 377 Mass 364/ 375 Mass 680 i 368 Mass |
87/ 3 Mass. App Ct. 347

-Citation: 366 Mass. 11 , S - :

'*Parties: IN THE MATTER OF FRANCIS X. MORRISSEY. ‘ §
County: Suffolk : : o .g

Hearing Date: June 24, 1974 ) :
Decision Date:. July 12, 1974 ' ' ' !
Judges: TAURO, C.J., REARDON, QUIRICO, BRAUCHER, KAPLAN, & WILKINS, JJ. f

The personal behav1or of a State Judge, who made 1nqu1ry of, without
attempting to influence, a Federal prosecutor concerning a case pending
‘against a friend and later accepted a $4,000 gift from that friend, was __—
not "heyond reproach” ‘and v1olated Canon Four, Canons of Judicial i

- Bthics. [14 171

INFORMATION filed in this court on September 10, 1973.
Evidence and arguments were heard by Hennessey, J., and a report of findings and
‘rulings was filed by him.
' Bdward J. Barshak & David A. Barry, Designated Counsel
Walter J. Hurley for the ‘respondent Morrissey.
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BY THE COURT. Francis X. Morrlssey has been a judge of the Mun1c1pal Court of the
City of Boston since 1958. On May 17, 1973, there appeared in a Boston newspaper a news
article containing allegations of possible 1mproper conduct by Judge Morrissey. Those
allegations arose principally from the fact that Judge Morrissey, in September of 1967,
received and deposited to his account a check in the amount of $4,000 drawn by the
Baltimore Paint and Chemical Corporation (Baltimore Paint); a corporation controlled by
one Edward Krock. Inscribed on that. check was the notation "Legal fees.” In a
subsequent, . separate legal proceeding an attorney for Krock conceded that the $4,000
check was not a proper charge against Baltimore Paint but instead should properly have
been charged to Krock's personal adcount. The newspaper article suggested the
possibilities, first, that the check constituted compensation for Judge Morrissey's
having intervened to influence a Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) complaint
against Krock which in 1967 was pending in a Federal ‘Court, and second, that the check
was compensation for legal services performed for Krock by Judge Morrissey.

On May 25, 1973, the Chief Justice of this court, on behalf of the full court, by
letter instructed Chief Justice Jacob Lewiton of the Municipal Court of the City of
Boston to conduct an investigation of the allegations contained in the artiecle and
thereafter to submit a report to this court. After conducting such an investigation
Chief Justice Lewiton, on August 1, 1973, submitted a detailed report of his findings.
Based on information obtained from interviews with seven individuals (including Judge
Morrissey but not including Krock) and from an examination of the records of the United -
States Attorney for the District of Massachusetts, Chief Justice Lewiton found that
Judge Morrissey had received a check in the amount of $4,000 drawn on the account of
Baltimore Paint, that Judge Morrissey believed such check was a gift from Krock
personally, and that such check was 1ndeed a gift and was not given to Judge Morrissey
as compensation for legal

Page 13
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services rendered to Krock or for intervention in Krock!s ‘behalf iﬁ-a-Féderai_crihih$l~-

investigation. Chief Justice-Lewiton'alsd'found,'hbwever; that Judge Morrissey in 1967

had in fact inquired of the United States Attorney if the SEC had filed a criminal

complaint_against Krock. Based on these findings, Chief Justice Lewiton'coﬁCIpdgd that
 Judge Morrissey had violated no statute -or applicable code of ethics.! He further

: conclu@ed,zhbwever,:that Judge Morrissey's conduct in accepting a- substantial gift'of:f

advised. - . o R o .
On' September 10, 1973, this court ordered that Chief Justice Lewiton's report be

. Yeceived by it as an. "Information.” On the same date the full court referred the matter

to a single justice for further proceedings. = . | . ‘

Between. September, 1973, and March, 1974, an extensive investigation of the
éllegations-agaihst Judge Morrissey was conduced by two attorneys who had been
designated as- counsel. and associate counsel .for the court. A report of that . :

~ investigation was filed with the court on March 25, 1974. After receiving that report
the full court ordered that evidence and arguments be heard by the single justice.?
~Such a hearing was held on May 16, 17 and 20, 1974,3 during:which.thg single justice

R ,heaxd_téstimopy-ﬁrom five witnesses {including JﬁdgéAMorfisber,'héérdTSumméries'of the

‘depositions of "eleven additional witnesses (including Krock), and received several
exhibits in evidence.t - S . . . .

—-—-----—---------'—.-----'—

1 The Code of Judicial cOnduct"(S;J;c. Rule 3}25, 359 Mass. 841), which-prohibits the

.becoming effective on January 1, 1973.

2 In addition to the matter investigated‘by Chief Justice Lewiton, the single justice
:. also heard evidence on i second mattér_involving the receipt by Judge Morrissey of

compensation for services performed for a New York corporation Up to and including the
_Year 1972. These services were not legal services. Judge Morrissey received no .such

4 The single justice aiso~received, for custody'purposes'only, the depositions of

certain other witnesses which had-been obtained by the court appointed counsel.  Coungel

. declined to offer those depositions as evidence because they contained hearsay
statéments of doubtful_reliability. We-concuruin the decision of theﬂsingle_justice not
to accept those depositions as evidence.

Page 14

Judge Morrissey was represented by counsel at this hearing. FolloWing the conclusion of

the hearing the single justice issued a comprehensive report of findings ‘and rulings.
We summarize his findings. : - S '
Judge‘Morrisseyvand his wife and Krock and his wife had been close friends for a

number of years Prior to and including 1967. In April of 1967, during a dinner'party,

- Krock informed Judge Morrissey of the .pending sgc investigation and . expressed concern

Boston. He made no request of Judge Morrissey that he take'any action or make any
request on his (Krock's) behalf. A few days later, however, Judge Morrissey did inquire
of .the United StateS"Attorney whether such a complaint against Krock had been filed. a

complaint had, in fact, been received in the United'States Attorney's office just a few -

days before Judge Morrissey's inquiry. Other than some possible comments on the _
respective characters of Krock and the complainant in the SEC matter, Judge Morrissey

htth:// SOCia]éW-ﬁVDi.net/sl]/lnexf AWel/cinann/ainmar nmancas

acceptance by judges of -substantial gifts( was_not'adqpted in Massachusetts until 1972;
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made no comment on the merits of the complaint and the United States Attorney did not
construe the inquiry as an attempt to ‘influence the handling of the case. Subsequent to
this inquiry, Judge Morrissey's sole involvement in the SEC matter was to recommend

. Several attorneys to Krock. In December of 1968, the United States Attorney in Boston

e e e . — e — et e — - e

substantial doubt as to the credibility of the principal complainant in ithe case. In
addition, more serious charges were then pending against Krock in the office of the

United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, and the Justice
Department decided to'pursue:those charges’ rather than}the‘Massachusetts\case.

“
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. The $4,000 check which Judge Morrissey received from Baltimore Paint was issued by
the corporation on orders from Krock. Krock's intent was to make a gift to the
Morrisseys for the ‘purpose of defraying the cost.of a wedding of one of the Morrisseys’
daughters which Krock had attended in July of 1967. Krock had previously made known to
Judge'Morrissey that he intended to make such a gift, and Judge Morrissey so construed
the purpose of the check when he received it.® Krock had also informed Judge Morrissey
that he controlled Baltimore Paint, that Baltimore Paint owed Krock the $4,000, and
that the check would be charged against ‘Krock's personal account.’ In addition, Judge
Morrissey knew that Krock was avvery wealthy man, reputed to have. an annual income of
$1,000,000. In 1968 Krock stated to his accountant that the 54,000 check was a gift to
help defray the Morrisseys' wedding expenses. At no time has Krock made any statement
inconsistent with the conclusion that the check was intended as a gift.

This matter is now before the full court for final disposition. The record before us
contains all the evidence heard by the single justice, including a transcript of the
testimony, the depositions, and the other exhibits.® In this setting we believe that
the proper standard of review is that which is applied in suits in equity where the

evidence is reported and there is a report of material facts. See All

6 The single justice found it more likely than not that the notation "Legal fees" was
on the check at the time Judge-Morrissey_received it. Judge Morrissey testified that he
did not notice any such notation. There was evidence that, rbutinely, checks in payment
for legal fees carried some explanation of the services rendered. There was no such
explanation on this check. ' .

7 Krock was, .in fact, involved in a scheme of improperly diverting corporate funds to
his personal use. Judge Morrissey had no knowledge of this scheme in 1967.

8 Counsel for the court and counsel for Judge Morrissey waived the opportunity for oral
argument to the full court.
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Stainless, Inc. v. Colby, 364 Mags. 773, 775-776 (1974) . Thus, we may examine the
evidence and find facts not expressly found by the single justice, but we may reverse
the single justice's findings of fact only if we are satisfied that they are plainly
wrong. Richmond Bros. Inc. v. Westinghouse Bdcst. Co. Inc. 357 Masgs. 106, 109 (1970).
Reed, Equity Pleading & Practice, Section 1160 (1952) (Supp. 1973).
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We have -examined the evidence and have found no reason to disturb the-fiﬂdings'bf !
fact of the single justice. They are certainly not "plainly wrong.".On the contrary we !
think they are plainly correct. Based on those findings we reach the following . .- : !
conclusions, which are sﬁbgtantiallyAidentical to the ‘single justice's "Tltimate H

-Findings.” We . conclude that: Judge Morrissey did not . influence and made no attempt to e
- influence thé handling of the SEC complaint against Krock; Judge Morrissey at no time .
-performed legal services for Krock; the $4,000 check was a gift'from‘Krogk to Judge o
. Morrisgey and was not payment for services rendered. But notwithstanding the foregoing .
conclusions, we -conclude that Judge Morrissey acted improperly in two respects in that :
as an active judge he made inquiry of a prosecuting officer concerning a pending case.
and he accepted a gift of a substantial sum of money from the person who was the
subject of the pending case. in these two respects we find that'Judge Morrissey )
demonstrated insensitivity to the then controlling?® canbns,ochudicialxEthics'which
required -that a judge's personal behavior "should be beyond reproach." Canon 4. It is
' clear, however, that we are not here dealing with illegal and corrupt ‘acts on the part
of a‘judge; rather, this is a case of careless disregard of the requirement. that a
judge's conduct be such as to avoid even -the .appearance of impropriety. . L
That the standards imposed on judges are high goes without saying. Because of the
" great power aﬁa.responaibilityAjudges,have'in pPassing judgment on their fellow
citizens, such standards are desirable and necessary and : : o

° See Matter of Troy, 364 Mass. .15, 69 (1973). - . N
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judicial misconduct. As an interim procedure, pending constitutional change, this court
has supportéd legislation having, within constitutional limits, .the same purpose and !
aim.” When all the facts are brought forward in any situation the court will act '
. decisively, with fairness and, when ‘the circumstances warrant, with compassion.
" By his unfortunate conduct as recited above, Judge Morrissey has shown a careless
" disregard of his obligation to the public and to. the great nunber of judges who, on a
daily basis, render dedicated and trustworthy service to the public. In doing so he has
brought much harm to the courts. ‘ . . ‘
. Judge Morrissey did not, we are satisfied, attempt improperly to influence the
outcome of a case in the Fedéral Court. Nor did he, with respect to that case, engage
in the practice of law after his appointment to the bench. . .
In the circumstances, we feel that suspension from office or from. the bar of the’
- Commonwealth, or disbarment, are

Page .18.
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penalties too severe to inflict. Judge Morrissey should be and is hereby censured.
Further, he is ordered to pay within ninety days the sum of $5,000, as costs in these.
proceedings, to the Treasurer of the Commonwealth. . -

In arriving at this determination, we have given due consideration to the fact that
the acts complained of occurred more than seven years ago and prior to-the
establishment of our Code of Judicial Conduct. B
. . ’ So ordered.

End Of Decision
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Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333 (Alaska, 1991)

" Page 1333
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mQUIny CONCERNING A JUDGE.

. . No.S-3675. .
Supreme Conrt of Alaska.
' Dec. 6,1991. '

George N Hayes, Delaney, Wiles, Hayes
'Reltman&Brubaker Inc for pentloner

Phlhp R.. Volland Rlce, Volland & .
Gleason for respondent .

. Before ) ‘CUTLER,
HODGES SCHULZ and TUNLEY *J3.°

’ OP]NION
CUTLER, Chief Jushce Pro Tem

Thls 154 petltlon to reject a detenmnatlon _

“made by the Judicial Conduct Commission on
" - December 7, 1989. The Comxmssmn found that
petmoner wolated several - : .

‘Page 1336

Judlclal canons and recommended that petltloner
‘be pubhcly admonished: Petitioner challenges
the Commission's. determination that there were
violations as well as the Commission's
recommendation for a public ‘admenition. The
petition is brought pursuant to Appellate Rule
406.  We . accept. the Commission's
recommendations in part and reject them in part.

1L FACTUAL AND
BACKGROUND

PROCEDURAL

Petitioner was an officer, director and
shareholder of ‘City Mortgage Corporation
(CMC). Petitioner also is a justice of the Alaska
Supreme Court. Petmoner held both of these
positions throughout 1987. Preceding and during
1987, CMC managed a portfolio of home and
‘mobile home loans made by a state public

fastcase

CARPENETI -
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" finance corporation, the Alaska Housing Fmance .

Corporatlon (AHFC). In 1987, AHFC sued

CMC -in state- court for money that CMC had

withheld from AHFC. The ¢ase was assigned to

. Superior Court Judge Peter -Michalski. CMC -
‘counterclaimed for breach: of contract, clanmng

the money withheld was for expenses incurred in
its management .of mobile homes -covered-by .
foreclosed AHFC morigages.. CMC sought

* reimbursement for the management expenses.

AHFC requested that CMC participate in a
settlement conference. Petitioner was asked to
be one of three members of a settlement panel.

" The proposed settlement, if one were reached,

would be put to the Boards of Directors- of -
AHFC and CMC. Petitioner- agreed to be on the
settlementpanel

On November 6, 1987, petitioner met with

' Charles Evans, counsel for AHFC. Petitioner

and Evans agreed.on the format-and procedures
for presenting evidence to the settlement panel.
They also agreed to filé a stipulation with Judge
Michalski to delay rulings on-certain motions
then pending in the case. Later that afternoon,
petitioner met Judge Michalski by chance in the
courthouse .parking lot and verbally related the .
stipulation to him. Judge Michalski requested
that petitioner put their discussion into writing
and send it to Evans.

On November 9 and 10, 1987, petitioner
sent three letters to Evans. These letters were
sent on petitioner's judicial "chambers”
stationery and were typed by his secretary at the
supreme. court. The first letter, dated November
9, confirmed the agreement between petitioner
and Evans regarding the procedures .to. be
followed by the three-member- settlement panel



T -petxhonerhadencounmd.'fudge
~ the courthouse parking lot. The third letter, dated -
November 10, conﬁlmedpehhoder's mailmg of -

B mmaaﬂge.azzﬁdmaweskwmA '.

for hearmg ewdence. The second Tetter; also

dated November - 9, informed Evans ~ that
Meichalski -in

., S asettlementpackagetoEvans.

On November 14, 1987 ﬂ:esettlement'l

I'panel negotiated- a settlement. The proposed

-_settlementreconnnendedﬂlatAHFCpayCMC :
$S73000mexchangeforCMC's release -of .
 claims - against - AHFC,  ‘The. scttlement - -
L subsequenﬂywasapprovedbymcsBoardof"

Dn‘ectors.Itwasdlsapptoved,however,by

~ AHFC's ‘executive director, Ron Lebr, and its
- ditomey, Evans, “Nonetheless, AHFC - “Wag. .7 .-
) reqmredtopresentthepmposedsettlementa’ta -
public hearing to decide whether to accept the
-setflement. - The. hearing was- scheduled for

v »'Decemberlo 1987.- _ -
Petnttoner leamed prior to the pubhc'

) hearmgthatLehrmlendedtouselnsmﬂuence'~ -

with the Governor to delay or cancel the ; public

. hearing. Petitioner called the Governor's offics - "
- ot December 7, 1987, t6-counterbalatice Lehr's -
*. anticipated action. Petitioher was a, long time"

" acquaintance and friend of the ‘Govemnor.

Petitioner asked the Govemor to meet w1th him

. onapersonalmatter

A mectmg was scheduled and fook place'

- the follqwmg evening at Anchorage

" International * Airport. Pefitioner - et with
- Govemor Cowper and Chmty Kadow, director -
C of the’ Anchiorage Governor's: office. At the ~
i meetmg, petmoner expressedhlsv:ew S

Page 1337 -
_that the pubhc heanng should go aheed as

.scheduled. The Govemor took no achon asa -

_ remltofthemeetmg 1

The pubhc heanng was conducwd as'.
scheduled on December 10, 1987. AHFC went -
" into execuhvesmonmthemxddleofthepubhc
hearing and then postponed the public hearing.
-TheboardofAHFCmetagam on December 21, -

| fbstcase

: 1987 at ‘which” time™ the settlement was
) approved.Reportsof petitioner's mvolvementm
’,'»-thecasesnbsequentlybecamepubhc. .

- Thé Judicial Conduct Comlmssxon ﬁled a-

fo:malcomplamtagamstpehhoner,aﬂuan

- _nnhalmvechgaﬁon,pmsuanttoASZZ.?A)Oll(a)" .
jananle9C(4)oftheComnnss10nmles.'Ihe
Commission found probable: cause to believe -
"_thatpehhonerhadengagedmnnsconduct'-l
. reqmrmgdlscnphne,'lhecomplamtallegedﬂ:at' ~

. petitioner had violated Canons 1, 2;3;and 4 of &

"-the Code of Judicial: Conduct as well as ..
" subsections (3)(C), (3)(D), and (3)(E) .of AS S

230011(s).

\A

_ e Peuhonerﬁledhl&answeronSeptunb& ’
28, 1989, denying. :the. “allegations.” The -
Comm:ssion appointed “William . Bankston a8 ¢
: 'specnalcbmlseltopresenttheformalchmgea -
J pmsuanttoComnnssxonhﬂesZCanleA.

) Bankstonmadeanoralmotlontodxsnnss_"
- the charges’ agamstpehtloneronNovanberZZ,,

1989; before the Commission- Chairman,” The
Chan-mandemedtbemohonthho\nprejudx

asking. that it be reprosented fo the full, . |
" Commission attheformald:scmlmaryhearmg“j

scheduled for November 27 1989,

Petmoner Jomed in spec1a1 counsel’

motion to dismiss before the full Commission, - .

Petxt:onerandspecmlcotmselalsqsﬁpulabdtoaf :

- set of facts for the Commission to consider on .

" ‘the motion. The Comimission “heard omal - .- .
. argmnent on the motlonto dlsnnss anddemed it. .

Pehtloner ﬁled a motion for reconsxderatlon

' mththeCommlssxon.Themotonwasbasedon_

- the fact that he and special counsel had

stipulated to dismiss the’ Sharges. The motion for

* -reconsideration " also was.- demed by the’
- Commission. - : .

T The Commxssmn adjudicated the eomplamt .
- on December 7, 1989, finding that petxhonet’s
‘use of court stationery, his manner 6f arranging.

a meeting with the’ Governor, and his actual

" meeting with the Govemor created an =

. -appearance. of impropriety in violation of
‘ Canonslandz of the Alaska Code ofJudmal
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" Conduct and AS 22.30. Oll(a)(3)(D) and (E)
The Commission dismissed -several other
charges, finding that the other acts alleged did

not result in a violation _of any of the Judicial - -

Canons or statutes. "~ The ' -Commmission
recommended to this court discipline in the form
-of a public admomshment. 2

“The Commlsswn thereafter ﬁled its
determination and. record pursuant. to
Commission Rule 12. On -January 7, 1990,

petitioner filed his "petition to reject the

‘recommendation of the Commission.
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- Ii 'PRELIMINARY'DISCUSSIONE

A THE ALASKA. CODE OF JUDICIAL_.

: CONDUC’I‘
. The - apphcable judicial canons from the
5.

-Cahon 1 states:

A Judge Shou]d Uphold the Integrity and'

Independence of the Jud:cxary

"An independent and honorable judiciary is
mdlspensable to justice in our society. A judge

- should participate in establishing, maintaining,
and enforcing, and should himself observe, high
standards of conduct so that the integrity. and

independence of the judiciary may be preserved.
The provisions of this Code should be construed
and applied to further that objective.

Canon 2 states:

A Judge Should Avoid Impropriety and the
“Appearance of Impropriety in all His Activities

A. A judge should respect and comply with
the law and should conduct himself at all times

in a manner that promotes public confidence in_

the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.

£
Tastcase

Code of Judlclal Conduct are Canons 1, 2 4 and-

B. A judge should not allow his family,
social, or other relationships . to influence his -

. judicial conduct or judgment. He should not lend

the prestige of his office to-advance the private .
interests of others; nor should he convey or
permit others to convey the impression: that they .
are in a special position to influence him. He

- should not testlfy vohmtan]y as a character :

witness..
. Canon 4 states: :

A.Judge May Engage in Acﬁvities to Improve
the Law, the Legal System, . and -the -

Admmlstrahon of Justice

A Judge, subject to.the proper performance '
of -his judicial duties, may engage in “the-
following quasi-judicial activities, if in doing so
he doés not cast doubt on his capacity to decide

: 1mpart1ally any 1ssue that may come before hnn

A, He may speak, write, lecture, teach, and.

‘participate in other activities concerning the law, . -

the legal system, and the admmlstratlon of .
Jushce .

B. He may appear at a public heanng.
before an executive or legislative body or
official on matters concerning the law, the legal
system, and the administration of justice, and he
may otherwise consult with an executive or .
legislative body or official, but only on matters . .
-concerning the administration of justice. -

(. He may serve as .a: member, officer, or
director of an organization or governmental
agency devoted to the improvement of the law,
the legal system, or the administration of justice.
He .may assist such an organization in raising-
funds.and may participate in their management
and investment, but should not personally
participate in pubhc fund raising activities. He
may make recommendations to public and
private fund granting agencies on projects and
programs concerning the law, the legal system,
and the administration of justice.

Canon 5 states in pertinent part:
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. A Judge Shou]d Regulate His Extra-Fadicial
; ActmhestobﬁmnnzeﬂxeR:skofConﬁctmﬁ~-

HisIudmalDutm .

. C F'mancxalActmtlec.

: (})AJﬁdge shouldreﬁmnﬁomﬁnanc:al.
andbusmess dealings - that fend. to reflect’
'adverselyonhxsnnpamahty interfere ‘with. the -
proper performance of his judicial duties, exploit -

hsm&malposxhon,ormvolvelnmmﬁ’equent

. transactnonsmﬂzlawymorpmmslikelyto'.
- eomebefoﬂeﬂxecotntonwhchhesm'ves. U

(Z)Subjecttomereqmrementofsnbsechon
. (1), ajudgemayholdandmanagemmunents,,, )
-intluding. real estate, and engage ‘in other"."f _
rermnerative acnvxtymchxdmgtheopemhonof o
-.abusmess, i ) '

(3) A Judge should manage hns mvestments

- and otheér financjalinterests to minimize- the
’ mnnbe;ofcasesmwhachhelsdlsquallﬁed.As

somashecandosomthoutsmousﬁnancm

" detriment, he - -should ' divest himself of
“investments and other ﬁnancxalmwrestsﬂ:at

) mlght reqmre ﬁ'equent dlsquahﬁcatlon.
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'B 'I'HE STANDARD OF REV]BW

- This: court has tbe ﬁnal authonty m' '
proceedmgs Telatéd to .judicial . conduct - m
: Alaska.AlaskaConst.m't.IV §§ 1, 10; In re’
- Inquiry Coneemmg a Judge, 762 P.2d 1292 -
(Alaska 1988) (hereinafter Judge I ); - In re

Hanson, 532- P.2d- 303 (Alaska 1975). I

exerclsmg this power, the court is required to -
‘conduct an indepéndent evaluation of the - ;
Concerning a Judge, 788 -
P.2d 716 (Alaska 1990). (hereinafter Judge ). -

Independent review is required to ensure that

' proceduraldueprocesshasbeenaccordedthe".

judicial officer proceeded against and - that the -
" requisite findings of fact havé beén made, and
"aresupportedbysubstantlalevxdence. JudgeI,

' 762P2d at 1294. ) '

fastcase

. Beforeweoonductadenovorewewofthe'
' Commmxon's determination  that pehhoner .
created “-an appearance of. impropriety: m

molahonofﬂxeCodeoqudma]Cmduct,we

- first address a ‘procedural. issué raised by
. _-pehhomermregardtoﬂ:eMohontoDlm

_ C. THE COMMISSION-DID NOT ERR IN.
DENYING SPECIAL ‘COUNSELS MOTION.

TO DISMISS

. 'Ihemohontod:sxmsswasbasedonspecxal'
counsel's v:ewﬂxatpehhonerhadnot vielated .. .

. ;any. of the judicial canons.. This motion was .

. denied by -the ‘Commission, even though. .-+ . -

petltlonerjomedmthemotlon. A

** Petitioner contends that the Comnnss:on ‘
_* emed- in denying ‘the- motion - to dismiss,
. “Petitioner argues o
should have been treated asan Alaska'CivilRule. - .
.~ 41e) dismissal that the Commission was .’
- .obliged to accept. He contends- that ..the . -
* Commissjon's discretion in regird to. the . -.-- -
.shplﬂatedmouonlsanalogoustoﬂlatofatnalf :
"com'tﬁcedmﬂlashpulateddmmssal. o

that .the motion to dismiss:

- The Commission dlsagreec and responds by

nohng that" the rules of civil and criminal
,»procedm'edonotapplymthelrenhretyto -
_judicial conduct procéédings. The Commiission =
atgues that these proceedings‘are neither civil -
. norcnnnnalbutarespecnalproceedmgs.'l‘he-,
- Commission further ‘argues that the. role of
* special ¢ounsel is merely to collect #nd present-

evidence and doés not iniclude the authority to'

- dismiss “charges. The Commission -drgues ‘that .- -
only it is authorized to dismiss cases after a-.

_finding of probable cause. The Commission

contends it fulfilled its duty by conducting an

independent review of the motion to dismiss.

" The - Commission disagreed” with * special =

: _colmsel's findings after reviewing them upon . .

consideration of the - -motion, and therefore '
demedthemohonto d13mlss o '

: We agree ‘with the Comnnssxons posmon
regarding its discretion to deny the motion o
 dismiss. The’ Commission appropriately heard

oral argument on the motion to- dismiss and

- reviewed: fhe ‘record independently before B

R

-
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| 'denymg the motion. Under Alaska law, the

" Commission is the only entity authorized to -

make judicial conduct recommendations to the -

supreme_court or to decide not to make any
recommendation. AS 22.30.011(d) A contrary
~ finding would undermine the purpose .and

integrity of the Commission by permitting a sole -
" individual to make an - ultimate -decision .

- regardmg judicial dlsclphne _ _
T INDEPENDENT REVIEW ON THE

*'A. PETITIONER'S CONDUCT CREATED AN
"APPEARANCE. OF IMPROPRIETY . IN

VIOLATION OF. JUDICIAL. CAN OI\LZ\

5 .The Connmsslon determmed
petitioner’s conduct violated Canon 2 by creating
an appearance of nnpropnety in three instances:

‘petitioner's use of chambers

requesting’ a.meeting with the Governor, and

petitioner's meeting with the Goverrior. 3 The -

'Commission decliried to find that any of the

conduct- was actually improper, although the
basis for that detenmnatlon is not ﬁJlly

: explamed

. Page 1340

Petitioner challenges all three of the

Commission's determinations of appearance of.

impropriety. Moreover, petitioner argues that the
Commission applied the wrong test in evaluating
his conduct :

1'. The ApprOpriate'Telst-

Both petitioner and.the Commission have
argued extensively over the test to be used to
evaluate petitioner's conduct. They both. argue
that the test should be objective, but they
propose " different objective tests. The Alaska
Supreme Court decided Judge II since the date
the parties completed their briefing. Judge II is
controlling as to the appropriate test. The fest is

~ whether a judge fails "to use reasonable care to
prevent objectively reasonable persons from

fastcase

stationery,.
petitioner's phone call to ‘the Governor's office

" that -

a

behevmg an impropriety. was afoot.” 788 P2dat
723. The Judge II court stated that "[t]he duty to

avoid creating an appearance of impropriety is

- onie’ of taking ‘reasonable precautions' to avoid
‘having a 'negative effect on the confidence of
~.the thinking public in the -administration. of -

justice.’ " 1d. (quoting In the Matter.of Bonin,

‘375 Mass. 680, 378 N E2d 669 682-83 (1978))

We reject both parties’ arguments about'
how petitioner's conduct should be judged, and

~also reject the test actually used by the

Commission. Instéad, we employ the Judge I
test. We decide whether petitioner failed to use
reasonable care” to ‘prevent a reasonably

---ob]éctlve individual “from believing ‘that an

impropriety was afoot. This hypothetical
objecttvely reasonable person-forms his or her

- belief upon learmng that - petltloner had used. -

chambers stationery -in private’ litigation - in

‘writing lettets to opposing counsel, had called -

the Governor to meet with him personally
regarding a pnvate business matter, and had met
with: the Governor on this private matter, with
the matter ending in a settlement apparently

" favorable to petitioner's ‘private business‘interest.

“The- obJectlvely reasonable person is not a

-well trained lawyer or a highly sophlst]cated'.

observer of public affairs. Neither is this person
a cynic skeptical of the. government and the
courts. Moreover; ‘an “objectively reasonable -
person is not necessarily one who is informed of "
every conceivably relevant fact. Hé or she-is the -
average person encountered in soctety.

We now proceed to evaluate each instance
of petitioner's disputed conduct through the eyes -
of this objectively reasonable person. -

2. Petitioner's Use of Chambers Stationery
Created an Appearance of Impropriety.

We agree with the Commission that
petitioner's use of chambers stationery for the
three private letters created an appearance of
impropriety. We find by clear and convincing
evidence 5 that a reasonably objective: person
would believe that the stationery was an-attempt



« 1. '6- Moreovpr, ndividual judges : havé ‘an’
# .- -obligation- to follow  ethical ::constraints

__ Inuify Conobiming a Juxige, 622 P.20 1333 (Alaska, 1691

- to, infhuencé opposing counsel and othe viewers

* of the letiers or that it had this effect. .

77" Peitioner defends his vse of ihe stationery..
by claiming he-used chambers stationcry, not
. official stationery; and by pointing ot that'the .

the'use of chambers stationery. These argiuments-

-~ -ate weak. An objectively reasonable " person “ -
L .'.wblﬂdnqtknpwﬂae_diﬂ'e:ence-bm&etwo' e
" ;- ypes of. stationery -or whether any policy-

- {mé e

-

-. -concerning: the use of judivial . ‘stationery,

" of policy. .- - _

-notwithstanding any court system policy or fack -

- - Defitiorier next claims that the. intended -
~.- - .recipients of the letters were not influenced in -
" . dact by the chambers stationery.. We find, this .
* . fact imeleyant to the opinions of the thinking -
. public who might :see the letters in the public -

" gecords. We find the stationery as used likély-to

‘cause members of the thinking public to believe .

- “that petitionet was unable to distinguish his.

§udicial activities from his personal ones, This
- dailyre tomamtamseparate interests.could leada -
-reaspnable; person o believe that spetitioner's .

LS

 beflawed. | Y
. Peﬁt'io.ﬁeteasﬂyc;duldhavéavoi.degl’ﬁsidng

. . amegative effect on the confidence of the public -~
+ in the administration of justice. Petitioner could - -

have used CMC's own .stationery or plain
* stationery. Either would have avoided creating
' ‘an appearance of impropriety, = ’

3. The Wording of Petitionei’s Request to

Meet with the Governor Did Not Create an

- 'Appearance of Impropriety. _
. We reject the Commission's finding that
- petitioner’s manner of arranging-a meeting with

the Governor violated the judicial canons. We

- fast;_:ase-

" ogicial deision-maing abilty smilaly might

.~ do not agres that pefitioner violated Canon 2 by -
.. - the way he worded his- phone call " to- the .
- Govemor's office. - o e

~ .- The Commission found that petitioner -
violated the. Canon by identifying himself as-a
- justice when calling the Governor's office and -
by failing to clearly identify as personal the -
nature of his requested mecting with ‘the . -
- - Governor: Petitioner agrees that he identified -
- hifnself a3 a justice when- calliiig; but clajnis he -

-

By ﬂ:eGov_emoronabersonalmaﬁ:er."Bgfdre'the »
. Commission, the parties stipulated to a-set of -
. .. facts supporiing petitioner’s assertion on this -
s *latter point; even thoughr the Cofumiission now ™~ © . -
- to personally meet with the-Governor” failed to °
- specify that the meeting itself would be on a -

S 'we.donot_-'ﬁgd'that'aréasoiably’&bjégﬁ%.’ '

person would believe that an' itmpropricty was
1f

- afoot from-petitioner’s idéntification of hi .
+. 8 @ "justice!” when calling the'Governor in the - -
" same conversation in which petitionér stated he
. was calling on a personal matfer. The thinking
* public would know that-many persons of title ..
* such as doctors and judges identify themselves
~! orare identified by others, by ‘their title, by
- habit."There is no evidence::that pefitioner .
- intentionally used his title to get quick atfention . -

‘or failed to_follow ‘the use of his title with a

statement that -he' was calling on a personal. = : i °
- matter. We therefore find that the identification -
: of petitioner by his title in the circumstances did -

not create the appearance-of impropriety. B

: We have reviewed the stipulation . entered .
~ into by petitioner -and the commission as to
‘petitioner stating he wanted to speak with the . -
Governor on a personal matter. We find that the

stipulation in petitioner's favor is supported by

- the record. We therefore accept the stipulation - . -

and find petitioner requested to meet on a

‘personal matter ' creating. no _impropriety or - .

appearance thereof.

4, Petitioner's Meeting with the Govemor "

Created the Appearance of Tmpropriety. - -
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, - We agree- with the Commission that
petitioner’s meeting with-the Governor created -

the appearance of impropriety. Petitioner

“challenges this determination, arguing that the

Commission's ~decision means any private

business meeting betwéen. 2 judge and. the.

.Govemor * violates the judicial- canons. - He

- contends such a result is at odds w1th Canon 5,
whlch permits a judge
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‘ .~to conduct busmess actmtles Petitioner also

. -argues there was no appearance of impropriety - :

- in the meeting- because he never asked the
-Governor- directly to do him-any favors, but
merely reported Lehr's antlclpated actlons to the
.Governor. :

’We use. fhe AJuc_,ige‘ IO test in.réjécting

petitioner’s arguments. The reasonably objective . -

person would conclude . that .impropriety was
-afoot because: petitioner had -substantial private
business interests that were involved in litigation
‘against the state, petitioner was a justice of the
state “supreme court, and _petitioner met
personally with the Governor to discuss’ this

1litigation in an attempt to.persuade the Governor.

" to intervene in a manner favorable to petitioner's
interests. We make this finding after careful
review of the text and context-of Canons 1, 2, 4
and 5. '

~ Our analysis must start and end with the
relevant canons. Canon 1 sets out the importance
“of an independent and honorable judiciary. This
canon requires judges to participate in
establishing and maintaining high standards of
conduct to preserve the integrity and
independence of the judiciary. Canon 1 also
tequires the other canons to be read and
construed in such a manner as to further this
objective.

Canon 2 echoes this emphasis on the
integrity of the judiciary by requiring judges to
avoid impropriety and ‘the appearance of
i propriety'at all times. Canon 4 permits judges
mvolved in quasi-judicial activities to consult

fastcase

Wlth merhbers of the executive or legislative -

branches "but only on matters concermng the
administration of j Justlce

Fmally, Canon 5 requires a Judge tov
regulate his or her extrajudicial activities to
minimize the risk of conflict- with his or her -

' Judmal duties. .Section -C focuses on finaneial

activities. Subséction C(1) clearly requires a-
judge to refrain from financial and business

. dealings that ‘tend to reflect adversely .on his .

impartiality, -interfere =~ with the proper -

performance of his judicial duties or exploit his
judicial position. Subsection C(2) limits a judge
to holding and managing investments only if . "

.they do not tonflict with the: reqmrements of ..

subsection m.7

- “Tt-is evident in reading all of these canons
together and‘in focusing on the specific language
the drafters employed that petitioner should have
conducted his business activities only if they

“ would not create the appearance .of impropriety.

Here, the creation. of the appearance of
impropriety is obvious. The reasonably obj ective
person would be justified in believing that an

- impropriety was afoot upon leaming of. a

personal meeting between 2 justice. of the state-
supreme ‘court .and the Governor involving the
justice's private business matters that were then
in litigation with the state, ‘notwithstanding the .
fact that the Governor . took no actlon after the
meetmg : .

There were reasonable steps that petitionér
could have taken to "avoid creating the
appearance of impropriety. Petitioner could have |
foregone any meeting with the Govemor.

- Petitioner could have asked someone from CMC

to seek a.meéﬁng with and to actually meet with -
the Governor to argue CMC's position, although

‘not on petitioner's behalf. Either -action would

have avoided petitioner's direct involvement on
this issue and would have avoided the
appearance of impropriety. '

Petitioner's -conduct .created -precisely the
appearance of impropriety that the canons guard
against. The reasonably objective person could

- easily conclude that petitioner was using the
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._,preshge of his office to encourage the Governor

. fo intercede on his- behalf. Petitioner stood to

@mpmonallyﬁ'omﬂteproposedsetﬂement,
_ﬁ'omallappmrances.'llnsappmwlfmterest
- " distinguishes this' case from -one with 1o

. appeuanceofmlpmpnety 'Ihetlnnhngpubho
: -msﬂy-eozﬂdeoneludethatﬂlejushcemght

‘'someday retum, tlie favor- to -the . Governor. -

= " Precisely this sort ofeonductjeopard;m and-
erodes public confidénce “in"the mtegnty and

lmmrhalrtyof Judiclary

3 .Pagel343 ST
"andxspxohmtedsythemmmicanm

© L The:  udicial. candns reflect the drafters’
. mtenttohnntjudgeo activities in‘a fashion that

PO .

i8 -not-required -of “other . citizens, even -other .

'_rcrﬁbensofpubhcnote.AJudgemayparhcnpate
- mexh'aﬂ\ldmalactlvmesonlyxftheseactmhw
" donotcompronnsethemtegntyofthejudwxal

- gystem. A judge carries restrictions on his or her -

personalhfeﬂ:atarenotnnpowdonmembersof :

the general public, on ofher public officials, on
:  members.of bar associations, or on anyone élse, . .
. A New “York. court appropriately stated that

: "[m]embers of the judiciary should be acutely.
- awareﬂlatanyachontheymke whetheronor

“-off the “benth, .must' be measured . -against’

. .exactmg standards_ of sctutiny to the end that

‘public perception of the integrity of the Judmary

* . will be preserved.” Lonschein v. State Commhn- . -
. on Judicial Conduct, 50 N.Y.2d 569, 430 - -
: NY 8.2d 571, 572 408 N.E.2d901 902 (1980) -

CWe therefore aceept the Commlss:ons.
determmatxon with respect -to. -petitioner's-

" meeting with the Governor that the meeting .

e created the appearanee ofnnpropnety 8

" B.PETITIONER'S CONDUCT WARRAN’I‘SA )
. PRIVATE REPRIMAND. -

.. Wenext review the sanction’ recommended
by the: Commission, The Commission requested

this court’ to . publicly admonish - - petitioner. .

Alaska -Statute 22.30,011. does not expressly-

. anthorize publlc admomshment as a sanctlon, S

tcase

: state?

:however 9 Moreover, apubhcadmomshment

appéars. inconsistent ‘with the ' Commission's .

- ‘expressed view that "the léast severe sancfion is -

appromatebecwseﬂ:erewasonlyﬂxe

'-:appemnce -of impropriety. The - Commhissionr - -

gave*tworeasomsforoptmgforapnbhe

- admonition.” The- Commiission- felt-there ‘was ‘a
- need to emphasize to the public and othet

ﬂ:atajudgehasanobhgahontoavoidthe

appearance of impropriety. The Commission ..'.
‘also found that petitioner should -be’ publicly”
'-clenredofanyaccusatronofacmalnnpmmety -

due to publicity.about his role in the setflement,

- Petitioner opposes ‘any. public admonition-based

onmchreasonsandrequwtsamvate

'._-‘admomtngn 1fan admomtlon lsstb.be. )

-
. NS

The appropnate rules for Judrcial sanchons

'maybemawnﬁomthemtforemm

appropriate sanctions- against lawyers’ developed
- by the American Bar Association, even though. - -

o Judgesareheldtoahlgherstandardofeonduct
. than lawyers: Judge II, 788 P.2d at 793 & 1. ll° )"

. Disciplinary Matter Involving Buckalew, 731 =

"P2d 48, 51-52. (Alaska 1986). This court-has

usedﬂaeABAStandardsbeforetoorganmanﬁ
analyze the relevant. factors to be considered in

The ABA ﬁ'amework for detemnnmg

: .appropnate sanctrons 13 a four pronged test: -

1 ‘What ethical duty d1d the lawyer (1udge)
wolate? o

2, What was the Iawyer's (]udge s) mental

. S’Whatwastheextentoftheacmalor

- potential injury cansed by the lawyer's ()udge s)

mlsconduct?
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4, Are there any aggravahng or: nntlgatmg

cncmnstancec?

-

both Judtcml and lawyer dlselplme sanchon .
. - cases. .'-. _ SRR

.
B T N
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Judgc 1, 788 P.2d at 724; Buckalew 731

P:2d at 52 (quoting ABA Standards, Theoretical - |

Framework, reprinted in ABA/BNA Lawyers'
" Manual on Professional Conduct, 01:805-01: 806

(1986)): |
"The disciplining body first examines prong§~

* 1.through-3 to. determine the baseline sanctien. -
Subsequently, the disciplining body determines .-

whether - any aggravating - or - mitigating
“circumstances justify a departure from the
baseline sanctlon N ,

: The duty vmlated here was the duty of the :
: Judlclal officer to avoid-creating an appearance

of mpropnety This- duty - is. only -indirectly._-
addressed in the. ABA Standards.because the

appearance of impropriety is forbidden to

lawyers in only limited ways whereas it very

broadly applies to judges. "This is onie area in’

which: the Code of Judicial Conduct deman_ds
- more of judges than the Disciplinary Rules do of

lawyers." Judge 0, 788 P2d at 724. We~

_ therefore must decide for ourselves the

" seriousness of the violation. We do so in
" conjunction with addressing the third prong of

: 'the test the amount of harm caused

We thus turn to a determmation of
petitioner's mental state, Specifically, we must
decide whether petitioner's mental :state was
. negligent, or purposeful. and knowing. Id.

Negligence is a failure "to be aware of a
substantial risk that circumstances.exist or that a
result will follow, which failure is.a deviation
from the-standard of care that a reasonable
‘lawyer would exercise in the situation.” Id.
~(quoting  ABA Standards, . Definitions,
ABA/BNA 1:807). Here the record. fails to
clearly and convincingly prove a knowing or
purposeful state of mind. It does reflect a
negligent ‘one, however. Petitioner failed to be
aware of a substantial risk that his actions could
tesult in a reasonably objective person believing
that an impropriety was afoot. '

Next we address the actual or potential
harm caused by the violation. Judge I

~ performed a lengthy analysis of these two types -

~of harm. We give the Judge II-analysis great

lli;ast;case

deference. In Judge I, the court found no actual

' harm evén - though the judge had mmde an
“unreasonable attempt to issue himself a reduced

fare airplane ticket through a defimet airline.
The. court found no actual or significant harm
because the potential difference in ticket price

“was only $20.60. The court recognized, . -
" however, that other- harm was foreseeable from .

the judge's continued possession of a validating
plate and blank stock. 1d. at 724-25: Accepting

the - analysis ‘of Judge II, we do not find. any

actual harm here because the Governar did not’
do petitioner any favors after the meeti_ng.jWe

clearly find that potential harm could result from

the undermining of the public's confidence in the

. judiciary, however. We find: therefore .that the
violation is moderately serious-even though no

actual harm resulted '

Accordmgly, we ﬁnd usmg the ﬁrst three |
parts of the test above- that -the appropriate
baseline sanction here is a private reprimand.

-Our conclusion is supported. by the ABA.

sanction philosophy that has been commented:

_on by this court before. Id. at 726. This sanction

philosophy suggests that*"[w]here the -violation,
whatever its ‘nature, involves only negligent
.conduct which occasions little injury, the
recommended sanction is admonition, or:private

“reprimand.” Id. at 725.. We follow the Judge I

application of the baseline. sanction of private
reprimand for a violation involving the same

~ mental state and degree of injury. -

We - note that public: admonishments
generally. are administeréd only-. in - cases
involving .blatant violations of the .Code of -
Judicial Canons, according to cases from other
jurisdictions. See Gubler v. ‘Commission on
Judicial Performance, 37 Cal3d 27, 207
Cal.Rptr. 171, 688 P.2d 551 (1984) (wrongful:
attorney fee collecting practices against criminal
defendants, doubling attorney fees imposed on
defendant represented by public defender,
authorizing release of confiscated guns for sale
by defendants); In re Hayes, 541 So.2d 105
(Fla.1989) (judge's discussions with journalist of
progress of murder trial on multiple occasions
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o _knong Joumahst would use. matmal), In 18
- .-Ford, 404 Mass. 347, 535 N.E.2d 225 (1989)
- (iudgesm'vmgasCEOofnon-proﬁtcorporahon._
. 'wlﬁlese:vmgasajudge);hrexﬂey,%N.Y.Zd- :

.~ -364,547 N.Y.S.2d 623, 546-N.B.2d 916 (1989)

-‘(lendmg and appearing to. lend the prestige of
ofﬁeetoadvanoepuvatemterectsofcmmnal ;
. * defendants); In re Derrick, 301 S.C.’ 367, 392

-S.B.2d 180.(1990)-(conviction of crime of mofal.
turpitode  based on . breacli of. trust with

‘fraviiulent intent); In're Pearson, 299-S.C, 499,

- .386 SB.2d-249 (1989) (reforring. to another
" - person’as a-"nigger lovet"). Petitioner's conduct

" . -doesenot fise to the level of severity -of the*.. ...
.~ . conduct™: in

. these oflier cases. The "ABA
'Standardswedemgnedtopromoteconsnstency

in- discipline. ABA Standards -for Tmposing. -
Lawyer Sanctions, ABA/BNA -01:801-01:804. -
T 'Wcﬁndﬂ:atﬂxereasomngofludgellapphec ’

* . - well o the-case before the court, and therefore -

' wq*concludethatapmaterepmnandmﬂ:e
aPPI‘OPmtebaselmesancuon. =

Fmallyweconadetwhether tlnspm'ate-.

'repnmand should . be ‘subject to increase “or

" P2d "at 725, ‘We: use the aggravating. and

10

We ﬁnd ﬁ{'e mxtlgatlné factors m this case,
There :is. an absenceé : of prior disciplinary

’ . proceedings, petitioner has cooperated with the . -
- disciplinary process although he does not admit
wrongdoing, petitioner -has. asserted he.

subsequently divested himself of -his business

.mterestbeforethepressreportedthe ‘matter and '
in fact took 4 loss in so doing, the petitioner has .

an excellent reputation, and there was a delay'in

the initiation. of disciplinary proceedings. We

find two aggravating factors. There was selfish-

motive on petitioner's part at the time;:and he
has had substantlal expenence in the practlce of

- law.

. Weﬁndthereshouldbenodepartureﬁ’om .
. the baselme sanchon, after - balancmg the

fastcase

. nntlgatmg faetors set outby the ABA Standards .

: dissenﬁng.

'1ssues

- applicable . nntlgatmg and aggravatmg factors
-and upon review of the. sanctions-imposed by

other courts. We have. _weighed' most heavily- -
among’ ‘the - aggravating --factors petitionier's -
substantial experience in the practice of law. We -

-take particular note with respect to the thrée

lettetssenttoBvans.Pebhonershouldhave

- ‘realized that these materials conld come to the
. attenhmofthepubheandtherefomhmmthe
. Jodiciary, evenlfhemeantmohatmbyﬁaem.
_'ﬂnsaggmvahngfactorlaometby&e
. mitigating factors. of timely - effoit to rectify .

consequences,thelackofactualhannﬁ'omme

~conduct and petitioner's continned excellent . - .

reputation. Additionally, there- was nearly a two- -

-yearc‘Ielaylmi:weentf:.eacom.‘mtmquestionml~

ﬂlehrmgngofchargesbytheComm:ssxon,mﬂ: ’
pehhoner’sconductremammgabove : EERA

' Page 1346

g reptoachﬂu'oughout.Apnvatex‘epmnandbest;,-
' _..~servesthepammomteoneemof”prowctimof -'
h thepubhc,ﬂleomms,andthelegalprofessim"' .
Buckalew, 731! P.2&at56., . .-

decrease depending - ypon the ‘presence of . .’

; . aggravating or mmgatmg factors. Judge II, 788° ‘IV CONCLUSION

We acceptinpart andrqectmpartme R

- :i'ecommendatlon of - the - Judicial Conduct . -~ .

Commission that petntxoner be-found in viojation

" of several judicial canons. We- .Teject the-.
© recommendation of .the . Judlenal Conduct - -

Commission for a oubhc admomshment. The

: vrepnmandmllbepnvate

. HODGES, SCHULZ and TUNLEY I,
concur in part and dlssentm part. : :

HODGBS_, . Judge, .concumng md '
1 concur with the majonty on the followmg ..

l 'I'hestandardofrewewtobeapphedls -
mdependentrever' '

T



Inquiry Concemning a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333 (Alaska, 1991)

2. ’I'he Connmssmn did not err in denymg
special counsel's motion to dismiss;

3. The test artic'u]ated in. In 're_ Inquiry.
- Concerning a Judge, 788 P.2d 716 - (Alaska
1990) (Judge I ), is the test to be applied; 1

4 The use of chambers stationefy created -

the appearance of impropriety; and
' sanctlon

lSSlleS

>, .
A S —n

_ ﬁndmg that calling the Governor's office was the
' appearance of i mpropnety; and .

" 2. Their finding that xneeting w1th the
appearance  of

‘Governor ~ was- only an
_impropriety.

* APPENDIX

NOTE: OPINION. CONTAINS  TABLE OR

OTHER DATA THAT 18 NOT VIEWABLE
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The: ‘Commission determined that calling
the Governor's office to arrange a meeting,
identifying himself as a justice but not clearly

indicating it was on a purely pnvate matter

created the appearance of impropriety. I agree
that this creates an appearance of impropriety.
. An objectively =reasonable person would
conclude that petitioner was using his position as
a supreme court justicethat is, his judicial
position--to arrange a meeting with the
Governor on a purely private business matter.

In the factual context of the call to the

Govemor's office, I find that a reasonably
objective person would believe that an

impropriety was afoot. The ‘majority views the

f’astcase

5.A pnvate repnmand is the- appropnate :
1 dlssent ﬁom the maJonty on the followmg

1. Then* reversal of the Comrmssmns-

“cal-to-the. Govemofs oﬂice mn 1s01at10n Under

the facts of this case, that view is unrealistic—the
call must be viewed in light of all the
surrounding circumstances. When this is done, a -
reasonably objective person would believe that
-petitioner was. attemptmg to use: his judicial
position for -private gain-using his judicial
position to-influence the-Govemor regardmg the:' o
sctﬂement _ ‘

- Inlsolation;'fhe mere call to the Governor’s
office is not 1mproper, ‘but “when v1ewed m )
context--which you must do—it 1s' o

The Commlssmn-- - -determ_ined“ that

-,;pehtloner's meeting with the Governer did not = -
- constitute an actual lmproprlety, but ‘only the . -

appearance of impropriety. It is not entirely clear
how the Commission reached-this conclusion. It -

- appears ‘that the -Commission based its-
: determmatlon -on the relatlonshlp of Canons; 2,4
~and'S. : .

- Petitioner challenges the determination that
the ‘meeting . created: even the appearance .of
impropriety. He contends that the Conmnssmn s
decision means any private business meeting. -
between a judicial officer and the Governor
violates the judicial canons. He argues that this
result is 4t odds with Canon 5, which permits a
judge to engage in business activities. He further
contends that since the Governor took no action- |
-was not influenced by the meetmg——there was
no apparent or -actual impropriety. Apparently "
petitioner feels that you can _attempt to
improperly influence someone, but if they are
not influenced, there is no improper conduct.
This argument is patently without merit.

Canon 5 permits judicial officers to engage
in private business matters. It does not grant
carte blanche to permit engaging in private
business.and violate the Canons. Extreme care’
must be exercised by judges in their private.
business affairs.

Upon * independent evaluation of - the
evidence, I find that the meeting with the
Governor was actually improper. Therefore, I
disagree with the Commission's finding that the
meeting - with the Governor was only an

-11-
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= appearanceofnnpropnety In miaking _this.
- determination, the .judge’s conduct must ‘be

-analyzed i relation to the Judicial Camons. . :

. Canonl emphasizes the

. .fage 1348

. “need ‘for ai independent and homorable .

~ judiciaiy; judges must maintain high standards -
of conduct - to- -preserve .the integrity and -

indepéndence of fhe courts, The ‘other judicial

- - -objective, - .. .

"-canons mmst be construed to " forther this..

T T e e \.; .-.:~-......:.. .'....: . "_.
. That judges shiould.avoid inpropticty and.. -

L theappearaneeofnnpropnetynsm-emphas:zed -

iigation against a stafe. public . fnanve

corporation was an actual impropriety, Petitioner
is a member -of the: state's highest court, He

amranged 'a meeting with the Govemor, the

- highest member of the éxecutive branch; to

atteript to have the Governor intercedé for him
preeisely the kihd of activity ‘that the Judicial

Canons _prohibit. An : objectively. redsoriable:
- person-would conclude that petitioner was using - -
his judicial position for tis-own direct financial

. interests.

 Petitioner apparently had a large’ personal .~ -

 finanivial stake in the proposed settlement. 2 An .
“:.- objectively reasonable person would coticlude
that petitioner would vse his judicial position to-

on . a purely private ‘financial matter, This is-" R

-

. and the* Adrhinistiation of Justice .Canon'5

" 'in_Canon'2..-Canon -3 dictates that a judge's . S
. Jjudicial duties take precedence over-all of his - . o

 other avtivities. Canon 4 permits, subject.tothe | -
proper performance of his duties, engaging in
-activifies to improve the "Law, Legal System -

- doubt on petitioner's judiotal integrity.

- It is this’ apparent ‘large financial “self-
interest tliat distingirishes the facts- of this case
- from .other judicial conduct cases where the = -
court has . foind only an’- appearance . of ..
mmpropriety. .. G .
. Tnixe Hanson, 532 P.2d 303 (Aliska 1975),

is an example. In. the Hanson casé, the sole

. Tequires that a judge should rogulato his extra-
 judicial activities to minintize the risk of conflict -
- with his judigial duties. Specifically, Canion 5

- "provides:

* C(l) A juidge shouid yefiain from financial and
* business dealings that tend to reflect adversely

-on. his impartiality, interfere with the proper

- performance ,of his judicial duties, exploit his -
judicial position, or. involve him .in frequent °

transactions with lawyers or persons likély, to
- come before the court on which he serves. - . .

" Subsection C(2) provides that a judgs may

‘manage investments, “but only if it does not
conflict with subsection C(1). Thus it is clear
that a judge must refrain from -financial or

‘business dealings ‘that tend to reflect adversely -

“on his impartiality, interfere with the proper
performance of his judicial duties or exploit his

judicial position. If -there is any conflict or

- . potential conflict the judge must refrain from
- acting in furtherance of his business activi_ty.' :

n evaluating petitioner's conduct in light of
_ “the Canons, I find that petitioner’s meeting with .-
" the Govemor on a private business. matter in

Thstcase

>~

- objeetive standards, any signal emanating from_

" . ‘resident judge of Kenai had dinner in a public =

restaurant with the Mayor, who was an "0ld ~ =

friend,” - for. the purpose “of encouraging. the

- public' to support the Mayor's troubled grocery
business. The Commission concluded that the

judge's conduct constituted use of his- judicial
office "to promote -private business interests, in

© - . violation of Canon 25 of thé-Canons of Judicial -
Ethics ... and ... conduct prejudicial to the -
administration of justice that brings the judicial -

) disrepute, in “violation of AS "

office - into d :
22:30.070(c)(2)." 532 P-2d at 309. We held that
the, Commission was in- error in concliding that,
there ‘was ‘a violation of Canon 25 or AS
22.30.070(c)(2). In so holding we stated:

The instant case presénts a’ single "isolated”
" occasion of a judge having dinner with a family -
friend, who has not been indicted. This is afar .
- cry from the type of improper conduct which -

Canon 25 was designed to prohibit. Judged by

L2



Inquiry Conceming a Judgs, 822 P2d 1333 (Alaska, 1991)

this public repast was rather weak and
ambiguous and one that we cannot charactenzc
as involving improper persuasion or coercion, or

- the appearance thereof, employed to promote the
© grocery business of Mayor Steinbeck.

1d. at311.

Page 1349

The present case is readlly distinguished

from the Hanson case. A justice -of the highest -
.. court of the state met with the Govemor, the _

* statels highest. execiitive officer, to persuade him
to intercede on petitioner's behalf in a matter
mvolvmg lltlgatlon between  petitioner’s
: company and a state public finance corporation.
" If the proposed settlement went forward,

petitioner apparently stood to gain financially -
- from the settlement. An objectively reasonable -

- person could easily believe that any involvement

- by the Governor favorable to petitioner would:
--.reSIﬂt in-a quid-pro quo—that the justice would-

someday return the favor to the Govemnor; It-is

“precisely this type of conduct that jeopardizes
and erodes public confidence in the integrity and _

_impartiality of the Jud1c1ary This is clearly
prohibited by the Code of Judxclal Conduct. ‘

The Code of Judlclal Conduct hmlts Judges ,

extra-Judlclal activities more so than the
ordinary citizen or other public figures. A judge
may participate in extra-judicial activities only if
they do not compromise the integrity of the
judicial system. In some. situations it may be
acceptable for a private person to act, but not a

judge. There may be some instances where the -

judge has to decline to participate.

~ Petitioner had a range of choices in his
involvement with CMC. Although a director and
shareholder it was not necessary for him to
become actively mvolved in the settlement
negotiations. If he did, as he did here, he had to

act cautiously to make sure that what occurred-

here did not happen. Clearly he should not have
used court stationery--there was a reasonable
alternative--blank or CMC stationery; he should
.not have called or met with the Governor--there

fastca 5e

was -a Teasonable »al_te'mative—he- could have -
ignored the possibility that the public hearing -
‘might be delayed or canceled, or he could have

" requested another member or employee of CMC

to meet with the Governor. A -better approach

* would have been to decline participation in the .~

settlement panel, since a.reasonable alternative

* would- have been. to havé anothér member of ~

CMC participate. A judge may have' business

" dealings -but must do so cautiously; passive
_rather. than active participation is the watch-
-word. Here petitioner became actively involved,

casting a shadow on his ability to be nnpartlal in °

~ his Judlclal duties.

A Jndges responsibility” and- obhgatlon to
maintain’ the public's confidénce in the judicial
system is clearly set out.in the Code of Judicial
Conduct. These restrictions apply to “both
judicial and non-judicial activities. The Code

.pldces restrictions on‘a judge's personal life that
.are not imposed on members of the- general

public, pubhc figures, or members of the bar. As -
pointed out in Lonschein v. State Comm'n on

‘Judicial Conduct, 50 N.Y.2d 569, 430 N.Y.S.2d

571,572; 408 N.E:2d 901, 902 (1980)

Members of the judiciary should be acutely
aware that any action they take, whether on or
off the bench, must be measured .against
exacting standards of scrutiny to the end that

- public perception of the integrity of the judiciary

will be preserved. There must also be - a
recognition that any actions undertaken in the.

_ public sphere reflect, whether. designedly or nét,
~upon the prestige of tirz judiciary. Thus, any

communication from a Judge to an outside
agency on behalf of another, may be perceived
as one backed by the power and prestige of
judicial office.... Judges must assiduously avoid
those contacts which might create even the
appearance of impropriety.

(Citation omitted).

I find that the Commission erred in
concluding that petitioner's conduct created only
the appearance of impropriety. 1 find that the
meeting between petitioner, a justice of the
state's highest court and the Governor, the

-13-
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iy Goncaning.a e, 2220 1333 sk, io01) .-

| .high&stexecuﬁwéoﬁbeiﬂinﬂwst'aie,'_onpﬁ_sonal' -

~, business of the’ justice Telating to a financial -
~ dispute” with a state agency constitutes actual

..--> i. .;_.I._g:in.-Pa_rt.' -_

Page 1350 .

* SCHULZ, Judge, concurring in'-part and~

+"-, violated Canon 2 of the Code of Judicial - .

.  finding: that petitioner's-conduct ’olawid-‘Canonv _

'1Zand AS 22.30.011()(3)(D) and (B): 3 - -

. Based” on ‘an -incompleto . recifation of
"facts" -and ‘an’ érroneops application of the - -

objeotively reasonable person test enunciated by

this court in In're Inquiry ‘Concerniing a Judge,

Comiission's findings in two respocts. .~
o hJudgeII,tb:scomtsmd. L

I 'Ihedutytoavmdcreahnganappearanoeof B

impropriety is. one of taking "reasonable

.- precantions" 1o. avoid having "a negative effect

- on-the confidenve of the thinking publicy in the
- administration. of justice.” Otheriise stated; did— "

 appellant fail t6 use reasonable care to' prevent

impropriety was afoot?

* ‘Bonin, 375 Mass. 680, 378 N.E.2d 669, 682-83

- That is the test which the court applies _:
today. Unfortunately, the court has become very
~selective in determining what it is that the-

either totally ignores;-or gives far. too little’

fastcase

X . ission on Ju&cxal 8
- Conduct.(the €ommission) found the peﬁtionér L

7788 P2d 716 (Alasks 1990y (Fudge It ), 2~ -
- majority * of ‘this court today affifms the

B . objectively reasonable persons from believing an_ -

N "thinking public” or "objectively msonable .
- persons” -think about. For instance, theé court

weight, to"the fact that while petitioner usod
- coutt Sstationery in. a private atter, the .
- ﬂleju'sticewantédtous'eit.AAsﬂzecomfpofnis ;

out, the petitioner used the chambers stationery

to memorialize agreenients between him and )

opposingcbmselin]iﬁgaﬁoginwhich]iequ
directly involved, and in which he * was

- participating at the opposing -parties’ request. -
Why it is that "objectively reasonable persons”
_.havetoigporethosefacts_igbeYOndmy!;en.s S

M. e e
et TN 2

-

" While T agree willi: the premise that an

objectively reasonable person is not

. fully informed, (Maj.Op. at:1340-1341), 1t does

scem that the -obj ly _reasonable person

should be aware. of at. least some of the: -
Surrounding circumstances dnd at least a litile of
. the'content of the letters before jumping to the
conclusion, -as the majority - does, that an ..
~-¢oncludes: hiat- petitioner's: ‘meeting with .the -
Governior . created “the - appearance of an .. -
- impropriety because "petitioner had substantial
' private business interests that were involved in-
. * litigation against the siate, ppetitioner was a
-justice of the state supreme court, and petitioner -
met personally with the Governor to-discuss this- - -
litigation in an attemipt to persiiade the Governor  °

to intervene in a manner favorable'to petitioner's

" intefests.” (Msj.Op. at 1342),

- First, the ‘coutt is simply wrong when it
says ‘that petitioner met with_ the-Governor to

' discuss the petitioner’s business interests, That * - -

L _-,conclusionis.notsuppo_rted'b'ytherecordinthe .
e . Neither th ture of petitioner's busi

788 P2d at 723 (quoting In the Matter of© oo o the nature of petitioner's business

interests ‘rior the terms of the seiflement

‘agreement were ever mentioned in the-meeting - -
. with the Governor. Pefitioner met with the
Governor because the petitioner had information o
. that Evans, who- represented” AHFC in the- -
- litigation, and the. Executive Director of AHFC

were trying to torpedo a.settlement process that

- CMC had entered into in good faith. Petitioher -
never asked the Govemor to change anybody's -

-14-
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Inquiry Conceming a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333 (Alaska, 1991)

" 'mind or to attempt to influence the AHFC board
to-accept or reject the settlement. Second, the
~ court’s conclusion that the litigation concluded

-with a favorable settlement for petitioner is not
supported. by the .record. According to the
record, the settlement proposal was reached after
the- use of a well recognized -"mini-trial"
procedure and was ultimately approved by both

parties. The record contains no information and = -

the Commission made no findings oni whether or.

not the settlement was favorable to CMC, to.

- petitioner, or to AHFC. The record in this case

would not support a ﬁndmg on that point n any

event.

Third, the court cavalierly suggests’ tﬁét

petitioner could have avoided the appearance of
impropriety . by. foregoing the meeting with the

Govemor entirely. (Maj.Op. at 1342). The court -
cites no authority for the proposition that :the

petitioner.should roll over and play dead samp]y
because he happens to be a justice, when
confronted * with at least delay, .and quite

probably deliberate obstruction, by executive-
branch -officials.. Until . today, there was no_

authonty for that proposmon

Next the court suggests that petitioner
could have -done indirectly what he should not
. “do directly by having someone on the CMC staff
arrange a meeting and actually meet with the
Governor. (Maj.Op. at 1342-1343). To- suggest
that such a manipulative course of action would
avoid the appearance of impropriety only
recognizes that it would be more difficult for the
objectively reasonable person to find out about
it. More troublesome, however, is the question
of what test we apply in the case of a-sole
proprietorship without executive type staff. 7
The court also considers it significant that the
litigation concluded with a favorable settlement
for petitioner. (Maj.Op. at 1343). What this has
to do with the meeting with the Governor is not
divulged by the majority probably because there
is no evidence that the terms of the settlement
- were discussed at the meeting. In fact, the record
discloses that the terms of the settlement and
who it was favorable or unfavorable to were
never discussed at the meeting.

f;astcase

Finally, since the comt has correctly »

concluded that there:" was ‘nothing ‘wrong in - - -

asking for the meeting in the first place, it seems
a strange leap in logic to conclude that the

~ meeting itself somehow created an appearance -

of 1mpropnety

Pagel352' )

1 have absolutely no quarrel w1th the-'

: pfoposmon that judges, because of the nature of

their office, must maintain the highest standards -

_of conduct in both their judicial and extra-.

judicial aﬁ'aus, and, further, it must appear that-
judges maintain those standards. Until today, I

- - had thought that Judge II provided a reasonably . -
. objective standard by which to -measure that

conduct in appearance of impropriety cases.
Unfortunately, for the. pubhc and the bench, Tam:

. apparently wrong

1 agree .w1th‘ the"majority that the“-~
Commission did .nhot err.in denying special
counsel's motion -to . dismiss. Otherwise, I

" dissent.

TUNLEY, Judge, concurrmg in part and
dlssentmgmpart

I concur w1th the dissent of Judge Schulz, -
respectfully addmg a few further. comments

Petltloner was requested by all pames to sit, .
on the settlement panel. While serving thereon

he used his judicial chambers court stationery to . .

memorialize agreements and meetlngs These

writings were ‘only distributed among the other

members of the settlement panel. There was at

that time no court rule or policy against justices
using their chambers stationery for such
purposes nor is there presently. Any objectively

reasonable person who was reasonably informed

could only conclude no impropriety was afoot
when reviewing the files containing these letters

as that person would understand the background

of these letters and such was only pnvate

chambers stationery.

-15-



Inqity Concemning & Joge, 222102 1333 (Alaka, 1691).

- - . Conceming the meeting with the Governor,, - -. - -

;" "petitioner was only making sure the agreement .
-,agréeduponbyﬂlesetﬂ_emént-panelwou]dsge .

‘the light of day at a public hearing. It was not for -

a’private purpose. Any objectively reasonable -

- person who was reasonably informed could only -

coichide no impropriety was afoot. Petitioner, -

as a‘member of the settleiment panel, met with -

* the Governor 50 as to prevent Lelir from using

his. influence with the. Govemor to delay or
~ cancel the public hearing taking place whereat

the Board of AHFC would decide whether to - -
. -.accept the seitlement agreement approvéd by the -~ .-
patiel. No discussion’ was had concerning the -
. 7 . setflement “agieement itsclf Ms. Kadow,
- "~ Direttof"of: theGoveriior's Anchorage office, -
attended thé meeting so it cantiot b Tabeled 2 .

privatémeeting. - .
.. Cettainly the tést of Tn-re Inquiry

 Conceiming 2 Judge, 788 P2d 716 (Alaska -
" "1990) (Fudge H.), must include the'requirement .

that - objectively - ‘Teasonable -persops. be
‘reasonably informed. " Tn' mhy - opinion, the

majority fdls to “acknowledge that  the
- réasonable person must . also be reasomably::

informed.of the surrounding ¢ircumstances. The

" test of Judge II certainly is not a "hindsight” test.
I ‘believe the* majority employ - a. test of .

"hindsight” in determining the -appearance of

" impropriety in this case while professing they do -
not: Based upon such "hindsight,” the majority -

today’ condemn business activity  of a ‘most

. respected member of the highest court of this .
. state, 'a " state - that allows members of the
" judiciaty " to "engage in’ other remunerative. - .

 activity including the operation of a business."
- Judicial Canon 5C(2). Also, pefjtioner was asked
 byall fnvolved to partake therein. Further, based
.on information now before this court, petitioner

- divested himself of his interest in the business -
long before this matter was publicly reported, -

petitioner- losing a considérable amount of
money in such divestment. Pursuarit to the test

of Judge I, the complaints against petitioner just ‘
do not establish ani appearance of impropriety,

N (1) exonerate the judge of the charges; - |
(2) informally and pnvatelyadmomsh the judge

and the majority opinion is just completely

Cfostcase

P

- wﬂlﬁ:rﬁxer:solateomjudmary ﬂ'om thcreal Ll
world.. My brethren and I both at bench and bar,
must have fuith that today's inferpretation of - -

SR whatis an . '_()f-" . 'ety h .

temperarient and to enhasice a judge’s ability fo.. -
.. make- difficult decisions.-1 T am fearful the : -
| majoritysdegision . - o

N Fallers on e

washed with the sands of time; will not lastlong.

. -1.concur with thé majority in conchiding .

- that the petitioner's request to meet” with the ‘
‘Governor- did not. create ‘the “sppearance of
impropriety. Lastly, Iconcur with the majority -

in concluding that the Commission did not efr in =

~+ denying special counsel's motion to dismiss,

I 'am-authoriéed' to. éay that 'J_udge. Schulz -

. joins in the above commests.’

.-}- .

*Slttmg by 'assignmentmadé‘ﬁmsuantfq'. article -
-1V, 'section: 16 of the Alaska Constitution and . .-
- AppellateRule4060). .. .. .

1 No wntten recordemsts hWhéf n'ansplred at- -

the meeting.

'2AttheﬁineAszz.3o.o11(d)provide¢ |

(@) The Commission fnay, after-a hearing held
under (b) of this section, ‘ -

* or.recommend counseling; - B

-16- -

~ -As 1 pén my.thoughis herein, a wave of . - -
. "deep’ concemn for the. judiciaty of this state

washes across my spirit. Judges must live in the -
. real world, and I"don't beliéve they- should be _
- expected to sever all ties witlrit uport taking the - . -
- besich. They would thius isolate thémsélves from
the rest of society. Involverhent. in the outside - -
" world is necessary 1o ‘emrich- judicial




Inquiry Conceming a Judge, 822 P20 1333 (Alaska, 1981)

(3) reprimand ihe judge publicly or privately;”

(4) refer the matter to-the supreme court, witha -

recommendation that the judge be suspended,
removed, or retired from the office or publicly or
privately-censured by the supreme court.

In In re Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 762 P.2d

1292 (Alaska 1988) (hereinafter Judge 1.), the-

Alaska Supreme Court-ruled that subsection (3)
-of this statute was in conflict with article IV,

section 10 of the Alaska Constitution: The court -

~ found the Commission was without power to

_ impose sanctions itself and" coild only
: recommend sanctxons to the supreme court.

_Here, the Com1is10n was aware of. Judge I V

_when it made -its determination. The
Commission recommended a public admonition
without citing” either AS 22.30.011(d)(2) or
" (d@)(3). The Commission ' noted that public

.admomtlons ex1st in many states. Determination

: at12

.

We reJect the ‘Commission's recommendatlon for
. the.reasons expressed in-this opinion. We elect

to impose a private reprtmand under former AS -
-22.30.011(d)(3). This dmclplme is the same '

dlsmphne chosen in Judge I

3 The _Comn:nssmn found that petitioner's.

- parking lot encounter ‘with Judge Michalski did

not violate any of the judicial canons beeause "it-

was apparent at the time of the contact that no

further legal proceedings were contcmplated "

We accept this finding by the Comrmssmn

4 ThlS descnptlon of the basis of the obJecnvely

reasonable person's belief is not changed by -

petitioner's assertions on rehearing. Petitioner
asserts on rehearing that the objectively
reasonable person should find no appearance of
impropriety because petitioner ultimately
received no actual cash return due to the fact that

later he divested himself of his interest in CMC -

subsequent to the settlement being paid. We find
this later conduct irrelevant to the opinions of
the thinking public at the time of the original
acts. Later attempts to undo the harm may be
. considered in mitigation but they are not

properly a part of the determination of whether

fastca Se

an actual impropriety or the appearance  of

impropriety - occurred. -(We have . considered

 petitioner’s assertions about divesting himself of
his interest, even though. these assertlons are _

outside the stipulated facts.)

: '-5 The "clear and convincing” standard is
. required by In re Hanson, 532 P.2d 303, 308 .-

(Alaska 1975).
6 The appendlx contams sample "official”

“stationery  and - "chambers” - stationery. In
. conformity with the mules. of confidentiality. that
. govern these proceedings, the petitioner's name, .

which appears on the "chambers" stationery, has

" been deleted .from_the. copy. appearmg in the

appendlx
7 The formal complaint of the Cdmmission» does
5.

8 We have. considered whether pet:moner's.
conduct amounted to an-actual impropriety, in

'violation of Canon 4, because he consulted with .

an executive official other thah regarding the
administration of justice. We find that Canon 4,
by its -title, -applies only to quasi-judicial

activities. The proscription in Canon 4 is not

applicable Because petitioner was not involved
in.quasi-judicial activities. -

We. note that Canon 4C of the ABA’s new .

proposed Model Code of Judicial Cenduct
(1990), addressed in Judge Tun]ey's dissent,
provides:

: Govem'mental, Civic, or Charitable Activities

n A judge shall not appear at a public hearing
before, or otherwise consult with, an executive
or nglSlatIVC body or official except on matters

_concerning the law, the legal system or the

administration of justice or except when acting
pro se in a matter involving the judge or the
judge's interests.

We conclude from the title of this section that it
also would not apply to petitioner's activities
because they were not "governmental," "civic,"
or "charitable." Moreover, we note that even

T

not chargé petitioner with. a violation of Canon -
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o ~wmﬂ1eabovecodeadopwdforAlaska,aJudge
- could-only do what is.permitted by that section if -

ﬁenﬂgecoulddosomﬂloutcreatmgan'

. appmnceofmpropuety
9Seefoolnote2.
IOIhennhgaungfactorssetoutbyﬂleABA

.o ares

'."(a)absenceofapnordnsmphnaryrecord, N
‘ f'(b)absenceofadlshonestorselﬁshmohve;
' _.(c)pasonalo:emotlonalproblems, -

itorechfyconsequencesofnnsconduet;

: ~(e)ﬁﬂlandﬁ'eedlsclosuretodlsciplmaryboard
: 'orcoopemﬁveathmdetowardprocwdmgs, A

. (i) mexpenenee in. thepracﬁce of law'

. . (g)characterorreputauon, _
;(h)physncalormentald:sabmtyornnpmrment; .:_ :

" ) delaym disciplinary proceedmgs
(1) mtenm rehabihtauon, T .
' (k) nnposmon of other penaltles or sanchons, .

. (l)remorse, o

. (m) remoteness of pnor oﬁ‘enses

' Judge ]I, 788 P2d at 725 (quotmg ABA
.-Standard 9.32, reprmtedmABA/BNA Lawyers
Maial. on - Professwnal Conduct 01 1842

(1986)).

: The aggravatmg factors set out by the ABA are:

(a) pnor d15c1p1mary offenses o
(b) dlshonest or selfishmotive; .

(c) a pattem of mlsconduct;

" fhstcase

(d)nmltlpleoffensee; o .
- (9) bad fith obstrustion -of the dlscxphnary' .
: prooeedmgbymtentionallyfailmgtoeomply-

. mﬂuulesm'ordelsofthedrsclp]maryagencg .
| ® subnnssxon of - false - evidence, ﬁ]sg
_ statements,orotha'deceptxvepmcncecdlmg. o

o (g)lefhsalto adknoudedgc‘uqongﬁﬂ‘naunc o£ K

(h)w]nmbﬂuyofmnm, Tae

: .'.;:.T(’)substanhalexpmencemthepraehceoflaw' N
" (d)nmelygoodﬁaﬂtefforttomakemhhmonor T T
. (i)mdxﬁerencetomalnngreshumon.

I (quotmg ABA Standard 92, ABAIBNA '
onsaay. R

l'lhemajontydlscussestheteetmthecontm. ’

of an objectively reasonable person and | goes on

’ 'todeﬁnemsomedetailwhatthat”pmon is. I
’ donotfeelthatxtlsnececsarytodeﬁne'an -
objectively. reasonable person”. other than itis - .

" " "an-objectively reasonable person.” Further, in
~ the majority's opinion’ (at 1340,-1340'n. 4, 1341),

they nse the "thinking pubhe" in applying the

'test.Imsagreew:ﬂathema]onty'suseofﬂxe
- "thinking public.” The:majority either equates - .

the -"thinking public” with “the "objecttvely o
+ reasonable public" or changes the test m 1ts :

appllcatlon. ,

2. Although not mcluded in the record before the

Commission evidence has been received that

_shortly - after the settlement- was reached

Petitioner divested hiimself of any interest .in
CMC, did not Teceive any monies as a result of

. the settlement, and transferred his stock to the .
- corporatlonataﬁnanclalloss : -

ICanonZ

A Judge Should Avoid. Impropnety and the -

Appearance of Impropnetym all His Aetmt:es

- A: A judge should recpect and comply thh the

lawandshould conducthmselfatallttmesma

-18- .



- Inquiry Conceming a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333 (Alaska, 1991)

manner that promotes public confidence in the -

" integrity and nnpartlallty of the Judlclary

B. A judge should not allow his famlly, social or .

other relationships to influence his -judicial

conduct or judgment. He should ‘rot’ lend the. -
prestige -of ‘his office to advance the private
interest -of others;. nor should he convey or .
- permit others to convey the impression that they -

are in-a special position to influence him. He

should not “testify voluntanly as"a. character-

WltllCS&

2 Canon 1:

i An mdegendent and honorable judiciary is

mdlspensable fo. Justlce in our society. A judge
. -should participate in establishing, maintaining,

- and enforcing, and should himself observe, high

- standards of conduct so that the integrity and

- independence of the judiciary may be preserved.

~ The provisions of this Code should be construed
and applied to further that objective.’ ,

3 AS 22,30.011(2)(3)(D) and E):

(a) The Commission shall-onits' own-motion or
~ on receipt of a written complaint inquire into an
allegation that a judge

(3) ‘within a period of not more than six years
‘before the start of the current term, committed
an act or acts that constitute

(D) conduct that brings the Jud1c1a1 ofﬁce into
disrepute; or :

(E) conduct in violation of the code of judicial
conduct;

4 ] express no opinion as to whether or not that
1s a good or a bad rule. If the rule is bad,
however, the rule should be changed before we
sanction someone for violating what I can only
characterize as a highly Sub_]CCtIVC expectation
for Jud1c1al conduct.

FN
I’astcase

5 It is interesting that -the thinking publie--or- -
objectively (emphasis added) reasonable persons

* of Judge II have become so selective. For 3

instance, the record in this case.makes it clear .

' - that petitioner took part in the'settlement process

in 1987 because he was -asked by the other

. parties. They knew who he was, and apparently -
were not terrified by his position. Further, -
- petitioner tendered all of his stock in the

corporation at no cost ‘to the corporation on
December 29, 1987, well before this ‘matter -

‘became a subject of public discussion. In short, -

whether the settlement was favorable or

_ unfavorable to"CMC or petitioner is irrelevant
' b‘ecquse petitioner took no part of the settlement’
in any:event. The record is also:clear that the
_ merits_of the settlement ‘were never discussed
. “between the Governor and petitioner at their
* meeting. The majority never addresses a central

issue in thiscase and that issue-is simply why all

of the facts are not relevant and if all of the facts -
are not relevant, what is the test for determining
what is relevant and what is not. So much for the-

| ‘ obJectlve test

6 The majonty’s ‘conclusion on the use of
chambers stationery cannot rest on a violation of
some rtule against using the stationery for the
simple reason that there is no rule.

7 This, of course, assumies that CMC had "staff"
that could arrange a meeting with. the Governer’
and discuss the AHFC board meeting. The
record seems quite silent on what sort of "staff*
options petitioner actually had.

=

1 Acknowledgement for my statements on the
role of the judiciary is given to the authors of
Judicial Conduct and Ethics, J. Shaman, S.
Lubet & J. Alfini, at 2 (1990).

2'1 refer also to the final proposed 1990 Model
Code of Judicial Conduct of the American Bar
Association (ABA) which was recommended by
the Standing Committee on Ethics and
Professional Responsibility of the ABA for
consideration by the House of Delegates of the
ABA in 1990. I can find nowhere in this Model
Code of Judicial Conduct any transgression
thereof in the conduct of petitioner condemned .

-19-
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